

BOARD OF EDUCATION AGENDA

SPECIAL MEETING
February 4, 2026 - 4:00 PM

Board Policy Subcommittee Meeting

Ballena Conference Room - Niel Tam Educational Center - 2060 Challenger Drive

Adjournment will be no later than 10:30 PM for all regular and special meetings, unless extended by a majority vote of the Board. Writings relating to a board meeting agenda item that are distributed to at least a majority of the Board members less than 72 hours before the noticed meeting, and that are public records not otherwise exempt from disclosure, will be available for inspection at the District administrative offices, 2060 Challenger Drive, Alameda, CA. Such writings may also be available on the District's website. (Govt Code 54957.5b).

Individuals who require special accommodations (American Sign Language interpreter, accessible seating, documentation in accessible format, etc.) should contact Kerri Lonergan, Assistant to the Superintendent, at 337-7101 as soon as possible preceding the meeting.

IF YOU WISH TO ADDRESS THE BOARD OF EDUCATION

Please submit a "Request to Address the Board" slip to Kerri Lonergan, Assistant to the Superintendent, prior to the introduction of the item. For meeting facilitation, please submit the slip at your earliest possible convenience. Upon recognition by the President of the Board, please come to the podium and identify yourself prior to speaking. The Board of Education reserves the right to limit speaking time to three (3) minutes or fewer per individual. Speakers are permitted to yield their time to one other speaker, however no one speaker shall have more than four (4) minutes. The public may comment on each item listed as the item is taken up. The Board reserves the right to limit public comment on agenda items to ten (10) minutes per item. The Board may, with the consent of persons representing both sides of an issue, allocate a block of time to each side to present their issue.

A. CALL TO ORDER

1. Call to Order - 4:00pm - Ballena Conference Room, Niel Tam Educational Center
2. Introduction of Board Members and Staff

B. MODIFICATION(S) OF THE AGENDA - The Board may change the order of business including, but not limited to, an announcement that an agenda item will be considered out of order, withdrawn, postponed, or rescheduled.

C. APPROVAL OF MINUTES

1. Minutes from the October 8, 2025 Board Policy Subcommittee Meeting will be Considered (5 Mins/Action)

D. BUSINESS – Informational reports and action items are presented under this section.

1. CSBA Recommended Updates to Board Policies Reflecting Changes Made to Legislative Laws (10 Mins/Action)
2. Staff Recommended Update to Exhibit 9150: Student Board Members (10 Mins/Action)

3. Review Existing Board Policy and Administrative Regulation 6144: Controversial Issues (30 Mins/Action)

E. ADJOURNMENT

ALAMEDA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT
SPECIAL AGENDA ITEM

Item Title: Minutes from the October 8, 2025 Board Policy Subcommittee Meeting will be Considered (5 Mins/Action)

Item Type: Action

Background: Staff has prepared minutes following Board Bylaw 9324 – Minutes and Recordings:
In order to ensure that the minutes are focused on Board action, the minutes shall include only a brief summary of the Board's discussion, but shall not include a verbatim record of the Board's discussion on each agenda topic or the names of Board members who made specific points during the discussion.

- October 8, 2025 Board Policy Subcommittee Meeting Minutes

AUSD LCAP Goals:

Fiscal Analysis

Amount (Savings) (Cost):

Recommendation: Approve as submitted.

AUSD Guiding Principle:

Submitted By: Meira Nalamothu, Executive Assistant, Educational Services

ATTACHMENTS:

Description	Upload Date	Type
UNADOPTED Minutes_10.8.25 BP Subcommittee Meeting	1/22/2026	Backup Material

BOARD POLICY SUBCOMMITTEE MEETING

October 8, 2025

Ballena Conference Room
2060 Challenger Drive, Alameda

UNADOPTED MINUTES

SPECIAL MEETING: A Special Meeting of the Board of Education was held on the date and place mentioned above.

A. CALL TO ORDER: The meeting was called to order at 4:02 PM.

1. Introduction of Board Members and Staff: Board of Education Members present: Gary Lym, Ryan LaLonde

Student Board Members present: Ruth Woldesemayat (Alameda HS)

Executive Cabinet present: Superintendent Pasquale Scuderi, Asst. Superintendent of Educational Services Kirsten Zazo, Senior Manager of Community Affairs Susan Davis, and Senior Executive Assistant Kerri Lonergan

Additional AUSD staff present: Executive Assistant Meira Nalamothu

B. MODIFICATION(S) OF THE AGENDA: There was one modification to the Agenda.

Since there were community members present who showed an interest in making public comments on Agenda Item D3: CSBA Recommended Update to BP 5131.8 Mobile Communication Devices, the committee felt it would be best to move that item up on the agenda.

Motion to move Business item no. D3 to D1 so community members present may make public comments.

MOTION: Gary Lym

SECONDED: Ruth Woldesemayat

STUDENT BOARD MEMBER (PREFERENTIAL) VOTES

AYES: 1

NOES:

ABSTAINING:

BOARD MEMBER VOTES:

AYES: 2

NOES:

ABSTAINING:

MOTION APPROVED

C. APPROVAL OF MINUTES:

1. Approval of Minutes:

Minutes from the Subcommittee Meeting held on May 22, 2025, were considered.

Motion to approve the Minutes from the Board Policy Subcommittee Meeting held on May 22, 2025.

MOTION: Ruth Woldesemayat

SECONDED: Gary Lym

STUDENT BOARD MEMBER (PREFERENTIAL) VOTES

AYES: 1

NOES:

ABSTAINING:

BOARD MEMBER VOTES:

AYES: 2

NOES:

ABSTAINING:

MOTION APPROVED

D. BUSINESS:

1. CSBA Recommended Update BP 5145.13 5131.8: Mobile Communication Devices (Action):

Temporary language was added to the policy at the August 26th BOE meeting pending full review of the policy at this meeting.

- BP 5131.8 Mobile Communication Devices

Public Comments: There were two members of the community who wished to make public comments on this agenda item. They were Gina Rossi-Rehal and Alex Yakubov.

Gina Rossi-Rehal: Ms. Rossi-Rehal is the mother of a 4th grader at Earhart Elementary School. She mentioned that the survey conducted did not include elementary school parents and students. She talked about how students are more vulnerable as they approach middle school, and she would definitely support the no-phone policy in middle school. Students locking their phones in pouches during instruction seemed like a viable solution.

Alex Yakubov: Ms. Yakubov introduced herself as a parent of a 1st grader at Love Elementary. She wanted to spread the word about a parent movement called Alameda Unplugged that was being formed in Alameda. Their website

(alamedaunplugged.org) offers support and resources to Alameda families looking to raising resilient kids through real world experiences and responsible tech use. With several other school districts adopting this policy, the hope is that we can avoid making the same mistakes that have already been identified.

Committee Discussion: Board Member Ryan LaLonde spoke to the fact that our existing policy was rated as the best common sense and in compliance policy at a recent conference that he attended on this topic. Member LaLonde also mentioned that while the survey was sent out to only middle and high school students, parents and staff, all elementary school principals had been consulted. There have not been any major issues at the elementary level.

Member LaLonde pointed out that the CSBA policy update had two options to select from. One was more in line with what our current policy has been, which is limited use with some exceptions. The other option is a no cellphone us policy.

Assistant Superintendent Kirsten Zazo pointed out that both traditional high school campuses were open during lunch. Parents feel strongly about their students having access to their phones during lunch time.

After further discussion, the committee selected Option 1 from the CSBA update while still incorporating the language added at the August 26th Board of Education meeting.

Next steps would be for staff to develop the Administrative Regulation (AR) for review by the committee at a meeting early next year and prior to June 2026.

Motion to move BP 5131.8 Mobile Communication Devices to the consent calendar for approval at the next regularly scheduled Board of Education meeting.

MOTION: Ryan LaLonde

SECONDED: Gary Lym

STUDENT BOARD MEMBER (PREFERENTIAL) VOTES

AYES: 1

NOES:

BOARD MEMBER VOTES:

AYES: 2

NOES:

ABSTAINING:

MOTION APPROVED

2. CSBA Recommended Updates to Board Policies Reflecting Changes made to Legislative Laws (Action):

The following policies only reflect changes made to legislative laws and are in keeping with education codes. They were reviewed by members of the Executive Cabinet. No substantive changes were made to these policies. These policies were recommended by staff for direct approval to the consent calendar at a subsequent regular Board meeting.

- BP 0420.4 Charter School Authorization
- BP 0420.41 Charter School Oversight
- BP 0450 Comprehensive Safety Plan
- BP 1113 District and School Websites
- BP 3311 Bids
- BP 3311.1 Uniform Public Construction Cost Accounting Procedures
- BP 3312 Contracts
- BP 3320 Claims and Actions Against the District
- BP 3515.5 Sex Offender Notification
- BP 3580 District Records
- BP 4033 Lactation Accommodation
- BP 5146 Married/Pregnant Parenting Students
- BP 6142.91 Reading/Language Arts Instruction

Public Comments: There were no public comments.

Committee Discussion: There was no committee discussion.

Motion to move all the policies and bylaws listed under this item to the consent calendar for approval at the next regularly scheduled Board of Education meeting.

MOTION: Ruth Woldesemayat

SECONDED: Gary Lym

STUDENT BOARD MEMBER (PREFERENTIAL) VOTES

AYES: 1

NOES:

BOARD MEMBER VOTES:

AYES: 2

NOES:

ABSTAINING:

MOTION APPROVED

3. CSBA Recommended Policy Updates Reflecting New Court Decision in Mahmoud v. Taylor (Action):

The following policies were received in a special release by CSBA in August 2025. The Policies were updated to reflect a new court decision in the Mahmoud

v. Taylor case. Additionally, AR 6142.1 and AR 6142.8 were updated to reflect changes that come into effect with the introduction of AB 2429 and AB 2024.

- BP/AR 6141.2 Recognition of Religious Beliefs and Customs
- BP/AR 6142.1 Sexual Health and HIV_AIDS Prevention Instruction
- BP/AR 6142.8 Comprehensive Health Education

Public Comments: There were no public comments.

Committee Discussion: Assistant Superintendent Kirsten Zazo pointed out that Administrative Regulations are typically not brought to the Board Policy Subcommittee meeting, however these were a special release and staff felt they needed to be shared with the committee members. Board Member Ryan LaLonde informed the committee that he had previously met with staff to discuss the revisions to these policies.

The following changes were made:

BP 6142.1, para 2 to read as: The district shall address the rights of parent/guardians to determine their students' participation in comprehensive Sexual Health and HIV/AIDS prevention instruction.

AR 6142.8: Remove #5 under Parent/guardian Notification and Opt-Out.

Motion to move the above-mentioned Board Policies and Administrative Regulations to the consent calendar for approval at the next regularly scheduled Board of Education meeting.

MOTION: Gary Lym

SECONDED: Ruth

STUDENT BOARD MEMBER (PREFERENTIAL) VOTES

AYES: 1

NOES:

BOARD MEMBER VOTES:

AYES: 2

NOES:

ABSTAINING:

MOTION APPROVED

4. CSBA Recommended Update to BB 9150 and Staff Recommendation to E 9150 Student Board Members (Action):

Temporary language was added to the policy and exhibit at the September 9th BOE meeting pending full review of the Board Bylaw at this meeting.

- BB 9150 Student Board Members
- E 9150 Student Board Members

Public Comments: There were no public comments.

Committee Discussion: The update to Board Bylaw 9150 received from CSBA suggested, aside from other changes, monthly compensation to student board members. Student board members already earn community service hours for their time attending Board meetings, being on committees, and other assignments taken on by them. This accounts for 100 or more service hours. The Board can decide to offer elective credits toward graduation by developing specific courses, but this would not be equitable as they would only benefit the 3 Student Board members and requires a lot of time and effort on the part of staff creating those courses.

Board President Lym said that he would like to have more feedback from past student board members, in the form of a survey or some other format and bring this item back to another Board Policy meeting when current student board members could be present so they would have a voice as well.

Exhibit 9150: Assistant Superintendent Kirsten Zazo presented some edits to the Exhibit around standards for student board member code of conduct similar to the expectations for student athletes.

Once again, Board President Lym expressed his desire to get feedback on the Exhibit as well and perhaps even allow some time for research to see what other districts have in place. It was mutually agreed that both the Bylaw and the Exhibit would be reviewed, worked on, and presented at the next Board Policy meeting in December (rescheduled from November) with feedback from past student members and input from present student board members.

Motion to bring back Board Bylaw and Exhibit 9150 Student Board Members to the December Board Policy Subcommittee Meeting for further review and discussion.

MOTION: Ryan LaLonde

SECONDED: Gary Lym

STUDENT BOARD MEMBER (PREFERENTIAL) VOTES

AYES: 1

NOES:

BOARD MEMBER VOTES:

AYES: 2

NOES:

ABSTAINING:

MOTION APPROVED

5. Review of Existing Board Bylaws 9000 Role of the Board, BB 9005 Governance Standards, and BB 9223 Vacancies (Action):

In light of the recent vacancy created on the Board of Education, these Board Bylaws were added to this agenda for review and discussion.

Public Comments: There were no public comments.

Committee Discussion: Board Vice President Ryan LaLonde noted that the current Board Bylaws had no language or clear procedures for censorship of the lack of accountability displayed by its Board Members. Member LaLonde had drafted two options that provided disciplinary tools and steps to be taken when any Board Member was found to be in violation of Board Policies or displayed unacceptable conduct. He also presented a sample Resolution for review by the Committee.

The following were considered:

- Since Board Bylaws do not typically have Administrative Regulations tied to them, would it be better if these guidelines were added to the Governance Handbook?
- How would these be approved/adopted? Would it be at a Special Board Meeting or a regularly scheduled Board Meeting?

Since these documents had only just been presented to the committee, it was agreed that there needs to be time allowed for review and discussion before any decisions were made.

Motion to bring back BB 9000, 9005, and 9223 with recommendations to the December Board Policy Subcommittee Meeting for further review and discussion.

MOTION: Ryan LaLonde

SECONDED: Gary Lym

STUDENT BOARD MEMBER (PREFERENTIAL) VOTES

AYES: 1

NOES:

BOARD MEMBER VOTES:

AYES: 2

NOES:

ABSTAINING:

MOTION APPROVED

- E. ADJOURNMENT:** The meeting was adjourned at 5:10 pm with appreciation for those in attendance.

ALAMEDA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT
SPECIAL AGENDA ITEM

Item Title: CSBA Recommended Updates to Board Policies Reflecting Changes Made to Legislative Laws (10 Mins/Action)

Item Type: Action

Background: The following policies only reflect changes made to legislative laws and are in keeping with education codes. They have been reviewed by members of the Executive Cabinet. No substantive changes have been made to these policies. These policies are being recommended by staff for direct approval to the consent calendar at a subsequent regular Board meeting.

- BP 0440 District Technology Plan (NEW to replace current AR)
- BP/AR 0450 Comprehensive School Safety Plan
- BP 0441 Artificial Intelligence (NEW)
- BP 1114 District Sponsored Social Media
- BP/AR 1340 Access to District Records
- BP/AR 1445 Response to Immigration Enforcement (NEW - replacing BP/AR 5145.3)
- BP 2120 Superintendent Recruitment and Selection
- BP 4000 Concepts and Roles
- BP 5000 Concepts and Roles
- BP 5020 Parent Rights and Responsibilities
- BP/AR 5113.12 District School Attendance Review Board (NEW)
- BP 5113.2 Work Permits
- BP 5117 Interdistrict Attendance
- BP/AR 5125 Student Records
- BP/AR/E 5125.1 Release of Directory Information
- BP 5138 Conflict Resolution/Peer Mediation
- BP 5141 Health Care and Emergencies
- BP 5142 Safety
- BP/AR 5145.3 Response to Immigration Enforcement (DELETE - being replaced with NEW BP/AR 1445)
- BP 6020 Parent Involvement

AUSD LCAP Goals: 1. Eliminate barriers to student success and maximize learning time.| 2a. Support all students in becoming college and career ready.| 2b. Support all English Learners (ELs) in becoming college and career ready.| 3. Support parent/guardian development as knowledgeable partners and effective advocates for student success.| 4. Ensure that all students have access to basic services.

Fiscal Analysis

Amount (Savings) (Cost): N/A

Recommendation: Approve as submitted.

AUSD Guiding Principle: #1 - All students have the ability to achieve academic and personal success.| #2 - Teachers must challenge and support all students to reach their highest academic and personal potential.| #3 - Administrators must have the knowledge, leadership skills and ability to ensure student success.| #4 - Parental involvement and community engagement are integral to student success.| #5 - Accountability, transparency, and trust are necessary at all levels of the organization.| #6 -

Allocation of funds must support our vision, mission, and guiding principles.| #7 - All employees must receive respectful treatment and professional support to achieve district goals.

Submitted By: Kirsten Zazo, Assistant Superintendent of Educational Services

ATTACHMENTS:

	Description	Upload Date	Type
▢	BP 0440_District Technology Plan	1/23/2026	Cover Memo
▢	BP 0441_Artificial Intelligence_NEW	1/23/2026	Cover Memo
▢	BP/AR 0450_Comprehensive School Safety Plan	1/30/2026	Backup Material
▢	BP 1114_District Sponsored Social Media	1/29/2026	Backup Material
▢	BP/AR 1340_Access to District Records	1/30/2026	Backup Material
▢	BP/AR 1445_Response to Immigration Enforcement_NEW	1/30/2026	Backup Material
▢	BP 2120_Superintendent Recruitment and Selection	1/22/2026	Backup Material
▢	BP 4000_Concepts and Roles	1/22/2026	Backup Material
▢	BP 5000_Concepts and Roles	1/22/2026	Backup Material
▢	BP 5020_Parent Rights and Responsibilities	1/22/2026	Backup Material
▢	BP/AR 5113.12_District School Attendance Review Board_NEW	1/22/2026	Backup Material
▢	BP 5113.2_Work Permits	1/22/2026	Backup Material
▢	BP 5117_Interdistrict Attendance	1/22/2026	Backup Material
▢	BP/AR 5125_Student Records	1/30/2026	Backup Material
▢	BP/AR/E 5125.1_Release of Directory Information	1/30/2026	Backup Material
▢	BP 5138_Conflict Resolution_Peer Mediation	1/22/2026	Backup Material
▢	BP 5141_Health Care and Emergencies	1/22/2026	Backup Material
▢	BP 5142_Safety	1/22/2026	Backup Material
▢	BP 5145.13_Response to Immigration Enforcement_DELETE	1/29/2026	Backup Material
▢	BP 6020_Parent Involvement	1/22/2026	Backup Material

Policy 0440: District Technology Plan

Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: 06/01/1995 | **Last Revised Date:** 06/01/2025 | **Last Reviewed Date:** 06/01/2025

The Governing Board recognizes that technological resources, including resources that utilize artificial intelligence (AI), can enhance student achievement by increasing student access to information, supporting teacher effectiveness, and facilitating the administration of student assessments. Effective use of technology can also increase the efficiency of the district's non-instructional operations and governance. However, the Board also recognizes the potential for technological resources to undermine student achievement, health, and well-being.

The Superintendent shall ensure that technological resources provided to students and staff be aligned to district goals, objectives, and academic standards and shall be used in a safe and responsible manner. Students and staff shall be allowed to use such technology in accordance with district policies, including, but not limited to, policies on AI, academic honesty, data privacy, nondiscrimination, copyright protections, student use of technology, and employee use of technology.

The Superintendent or designee shall develop, and regularly propose revisions to, a comprehensive technology plan based on an assessment of current uses of technology in the district and an identification of future needs, which shall be submitted to the Board for consideration and approval. The Superintendent or designee may appoint an advisory committee consisting of a variety of staff and community stakeholders to assist with the development of the technology plan.

The district's technology plan shall include, but not be limited to, the following:

1. What technological resources will be utilized by the district
2. How these technological resources will be equitably accessible to all students and staff and to all schools
3. How these technological resources will be used to improve educational services
4. What professional development opportunities or materials regarding these technological resources will be made available to staff
5. How AI may be used by students and staff in accordance with Board Policy 0441 - Artificial Intelligence, Board Policy/Exhibit (1) 4040 - Employee Use Of Technology, Board Policy 5131.9 - Academic Honesty, and Board Policy/Exhibit (1) 6163.4 - Student Use Of Technology
6. How students will acquire the knowledge and skills sufficient for digital citizenship, social media and AI literacy, and identifying online misinformation

7. How the district will prevent and respond to cyberattacks, address other cybersecurity concerns, and what steps students and staff can take to enhance security of the systems they use

The district's technology plan shall be integrated into the district's vision and goals for student learning and shall contain research-based strategies and methods for the effective use of technology. When required for state or federal grant programs in which the district participates, the plan shall also address all components required for receipt of such grants.

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that any use of technological resources in the district protects the private and confidential information of students and employees in accordance with law.

Policy Reference Disclaimer:

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the Governing Board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject matter of the policy.

State

Bus. and Prof. Code 22584-22585

Civ. Code 3120-3123

Ed. Code 10550-10555

Ed. Code 11800

Ed. Code 35266

Ed. Code 48901.8

Ed. Code 48985.5

Ed. Code 49060-49085

Ed. Code 51006

Ed. Code 51007

Ed. Code 51865

Ed. Code 60010

Gov. Code 11549.3

Gov. Code 8586.5

Pen. Code 502

Federal

16 CFR Part 312

Description

[Student Online Personal Information Protection Act](#)

[Digital Bill of Rights](#)

[Telecommunications standards](#)

[K-12 High Speed Network grant program](#)

Cybersecurity

Social media; limitations or prohibitions

Fentanyl and synthetic drugs danger notification

[Student records](#)

[Computer education and resources](#)

[Programs to strengthen technological skills](#)

[California distance learning policy](#)

[Instructional materials; definition](#)

[Office of Information Security](#)

Office of Emergency Services; California Cybersecurity Information Center

[Computer crimes; remedies](#)

Description

[Children's Online Privacy Protection Rule](#)

20 USC 1232g	Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) of 1974
20 USC 1232h	Privacy rights
20 USC 7101-7122	Student Support and Academic Enrichment Grants
34 CFR Part 99	Family Educational Rights and Privacy
47 CFR 54.500-54.523	Universal service support for schools
47 USC 223	Use of technology in obscene or harassing manner
47 USC 254	Universal service discounts (E-rate)
Management Resources	Description
California Department of Education Publication	Empowering Learning: A Blueprint for California Education Technology 2014-2017, April 2014
California Department of Education Publication	California K-12 Education Technology Plan Template, Criteria, and Guiding Questions, November 2015
Court Decision	McMahon v. Albany Unified School District (2002) 104 Cal.App.4th 1275
Website	California Cybersecurity Integration Center
Website	California Office of Emergency Services
Website	CSBA District and County Office of Education Legal Services
Website	Technology Information Center for Administrative Leadership
Website	California Department of Education, Education Technology Office
Website	California Educational Technology Professionals Association
Website	Computer-Using Educators
Website	Federal Communications Commission
Website	CSBA

Cross References

Code	Description
0000	Vision
0200	Goals For The School District

0400	Comprehensive Plans
0415	Equity
0441	Artificial Intelligence
0460	Local Control And Accountability Plan
0460	Local Control And Accountability Plan
0500	Accountability
1113	District And School Websites
1113	District And School Websites
1113	District And School Websites
1114	District-Sponsored Social Media
1114	District-Sponsored Social Media
1220	Citizen Advisory Committees
1220	Citizen Advisory Committees
1340	Access To District Records
1340	Access To District Records
3100	Budget
3100	Budget
3260	Fees And Charges
3260	Fees And Charges
3270	Sale And Disposal Of Books, Equipment And Supplies
3270	Sale And Disposal Of Books, Equipment And Supplies
3311.4	Procurement Of Technological Equipment
3312	Contracts
3512	Equipment
3512	Equipment
3580	District Records
3580	District Records
4040	Employee Use Of Technology
4040	Employee Use Of Technology
4112.6	Personnel Files

4131	Staff Development
4212.6	Personnel Files
4222	Teacher Aides/Paraprofessionals
4222	Teacher Aides/Paraprofessionals
4231	Staff Development
4312.6	Personnel Files
4331	Staff Development
5125	Student Records
5125	Student Records
5131	Conduct
5131.2	Bullying
5131.2	Bullying
5131.9	Academic Honesty
6141	Curriculum Development And Evaluation
6141	Curriculum Development And Evaluation
6142.6	Visual And Performing Arts Education
6142.92	Mathematics Instruction
6142.93	Science Instruction
6161.1	Selection And Evaluation Of Instructional Materials
6161.1	Selection And Evaluation Of Instructional Materials
6161.1	Selection And Evaluation Of Instructional Materials
6162.51	State Academic Achievement Tests
6162.51	State Academic Achievement Tests
6162.54	Test Integrity/Test Preparation
6162.6	Use Of Copyrighted Materials
6162.6	Use Of Copyrighted Materials
6163.1	Library Media Centers
6163.4	Student Use Of Technology
6163.4	Student Use Of Technology
6178	Career Technical Education

6178	Career Technical Education
6200	Adult Education
6200	Adult Education
7000	Concepts And Roles
7214	General Obligation Bonds
7214	General Obligation Bonds
9140	Board Representatives

Policy 0441: Artificial Intelligence

Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: 06/01/2025 | **Last Reviewed Date:** 06/01/2025

The Governing Board recognizes the transformative potential of artificial intelligence (AI) to increase student access to information, support teacher effectiveness, and facilitate the administration of student assessments, as well as the potential for AI to undermine student achievement, health, and well-being. Therefore, the Board is committed to supporting the use of AI by students and staff in accordance with the following principles:

1. **Student-Centered:** AI should be used to personalize and enhance the learning experience for each student and to support digital citizenship and literacy
2. **Staff-Centered:** AI should be used as a tool to augment and support, rather than replace, staff in the performance of their duties and responsibilities
3. **Ethical Use and Transparency:** AI should be used ethically and transparently by all staff and students, with careful consideration of potential biases, and in compliance with all applicable intellectual property and copyright laws
4. **Accountability and Responsibility:** AI should be used in a manner that ensures accountability by those who use it and that those who use it are responsible for such use, including when and how it is used
5. **Equity and Access:** AI should be implemented in a manner that ensures equitable access and opportunity for all students, regardless of background or ability, and for all schools across the district
6. **Secure and Private:** The district should prioritize security and privacy when changing existing practices or adopting new practices regarding AI
7. **Professional Development:** The district should provide ongoing professional development for staff in all aspects of AI, with a particular focus on the ethical and responsible use of AI
8. **Stakeholder Engagement:** The district should engage with the community to share these principles, to educate the community on AI, and to discuss the permitted and prohibited uses of AI in the district
9. **Continuous Improvement:** The district should regularly evaluate the use of AI by students and staff, and adapt its policies, procedures, and professional development to align with best practices and evolving technologies

The Superintendent shall ensure that the use of AI in the district is consistent with this policy, Board Policy 0440 - District Technology Plan, Board Policy/Exhibit (1) 4040 - Employee Use of Technology, Board Policy 5131.9 - Academic Honesty, Board Policy 6154 - Homework/Makeup Work, Board Policy 6162.5 - Student Assessment, and Board Policy/Exhibit (1) 6163.4 - Student Use of Technology.

Artificial intelligence means an engineered or machine-based system that varies in its level of autonomy and that can, for explicit or implicit objectives, infer, from the input it receives, how to generate outputs that can influence physical or virtual environments. (Education Code 33328.5)

Policy Reference Disclaimer:

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the Governing Board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject matter of the policy.

State

Bus. and Prof. Code 22584-22585

Ed. Code 10550-10555

Ed. Code 11800

Ed. Code 33328.5

Ed. Code 49060-49085

Ed. Code 51006

Ed. Code 51007

Ed. Code 51865

Ed. Code 60010

Pen. Code 502

Federal

16 CFR Part 312

20 USC 1232g

20 USC 1232h

20 USC 7101-7122

34 CFR Part 99

47 CFR 54.500-54.523

47 USC 254

Management Resources

Website

Website

Description

[Student Online Personal Information Protection Act](#)

[Telecommunications standards](#)

[K-12 High Speed Network grant program](#)

Statewide AI Task Force

[Student records](#)

[Computer education and resources](#)

[Programs to strengthen technological skills](#)

[California distance learning policy](#)

[Instructional materials; definition](#)

[Computer crimes; remedies](#)

Description

[Children's Online Privacy Protection Rule](#)

[Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act \(FERPA\) of 1974](#)

[Privacy rights](#)

Student Support and Academic Enrichment Grants

[Family Educational Rights and Privacy](#)

[Universal service support for schools](#)

[Universal service discounts \(E-rate\)](#)

Description

CSBA AI Task Force

U.S. Congress Bipartisan House Task Force Report on Artificial Intelligence

Website	Federal Communications Commission Cybersecurity Resource Recommendations
Website	Computer-Using Educators (CUE)
Website	California IT in Education (CITE)
Website	California Department of Education, Learning With IA, Learning About AI
Website	CSBA District and County Office of Education Legal Services
Website	Technology Information Center for Administrative Leadership
Website	California Department of Education, Education Technology Office
Website	CSBA

Cross References

Code	Description
0000	Vision
0200	Goals For The School District
0400	Comprehensive Plans
0415	Equity
0440	District Technology Plan
0460	Local Control And Accountability Plan
0460	Local Control And Accountability Plan
0500	Accountability
1113	District And School Websites
1113	District And School Websites
1113	District And School Websites
1114	District-Sponsored Social Media
1114	District-Sponsored Social Media
1340	Access To District Records
1340	Access To District Records
3100	Budget

3100	Budget
3260	Fees And Charges
3260	Fees And Charges
3311.4	Procurement Of Technological Equipment
3312	Contracts
3512	Equipment
3512	Equipment
3580	District Records
3580	District Records
4040	Employee Use Of Technology
4040	Employee Use Of Technology
4112.6	Personnel Files
4131	Staff Development
4212.6	Personnel Files
4222	Teacher Aides/Paraprofessionals
4222	Teacher Aides/Paraprofessionals
4231	Staff Development
4312.6	Personnel Files
4331	Staff Development
5125	Student Records
5125	Student Records
5131	Conduct
5131.2	Bullying
5131.2	Bullying
6141	Curriculum Development And Evaluation
6141	Curriculum Development And Evaluation
6142.6	Visual And Performing Arts Education
6142.92	Mathematics Instruction
6142.93	Science Instruction
6161.1	Selection And Evaluation Of Instructional Materials

6161.1	Selection And Evaluation Of Instructional Materials
6161.1	Selection And Evaluation Of Instructional Materials
6162.51	State Academic Achievement Tests
6162.51	State Academic Achievement Tests
6162.54	Test Integrity/Test Preparation
6162.6	Use Of Copyrighted Materials
6162.6	Use Of Copyrighted Materials
6163.1	Library Media Centers
6163.4	Student Use Of Technology
6163.4	Student Use Of Technology
6178	Career Technical Education
6178	Career Technical Education
6200	Adult Education
6200	Adult Education

Policy 0450: Comprehensive Safety Plan

Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: 11/~~15/2016~~01/2011 | Last Revised Date: ~~10/28/2025~~01/01/2026 |
Last Reviewed Date: ~~10/28/2025~~01/01/2026

The Governing Board recognizes that students and staff have the right to a safe and secure campus where they are free from physical and psychological harm. The Board is fully committed to maximizing school safety and to creating a positive learning environment that includes strategies for violence prevention and high expectations for staff and student conduct, responsible behavior, and respect for others.

OPTION 1: (Districts with more than 2,500 ADA, and districts with 2,500 or less ADA that choose to develop school site plans)

The school site council at each district school shall develop a comprehensive school safety plan (CSSP) relevant to the needs and resources of that particular school. New school campuses shall develop a CSSP within one year of initiating operations. (Education Code 32281, 32286)

The CSSP shall take into account the school's staffing, available resources, and building design, as well as other factors unique to the school site.

OPTION 1 ENDS HERE

OPTION 2: (Districts with 2,500 or less ADA that choose to develop a districtwide plan)

The Superintendent or designee shall be responsible for the development of a districtwide comprehensive safety plan that is applicable to each school site. (Education Code 32281)

OPTION 2 ENDS HERE

The CSSP(s) shall be reviewed and updated by March 1 of each year and forwarded to the Board for approval. (Education Code 32286, 32288)

The Board shall review the comprehensive safety plan(s) in order to ensure compliance with state law, Board policy, and administrative regulation and shall approve the plan(s) at a regularly scheduled meeting.

As necessary, the Superintendent or designee shall provide ~~CSSP~~ training on the CSSP to all school

staff.

By October 15 of each year, the Superintendent or designee shall notify the California Department of Education (CDE) of any schools that have not complied with the requirements of Education Code 32281. (Education Code 32288)

Tactical Response Plan

Notwithstanding the process described above, any portion of a CSSP that addresses tactical responses to criminal incidents that may result in death or serious bodily injury at the school site, including steps to safeguard students and staff, secure ~~the~~ affected school premises, and apprehend ~~the~~ criminal perpetrator(s), shall be developed by ~~district administrator~~ the Superintendent or designee in accordance with Education Code 32281. In developing such strategies, ~~district administrator~~ the Superintendent or designee shall consult with law enforcement officials and with representative(s) of employee bargaining unit(s), if they choose to participate.

When reviewing the tactical response plan, the Board may meet in closed session to confer with law enforcement officials, and approve the tactical response plan, provided that any vote to approve the tactical response plan is announced in open session following the closed session. (Education Code 32281)

Safety Plan(s) Access and Reporting

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that an updated file of all safety-related plans and materials is readily available for inspection by the public. (Education Code 32282)

However, those portions of the CSSP that include tactical responses to criminal incidents ~~shall~~ need not be publicly disclosed.

The Superintendent or designee shall share the CSSPs and any updates to the plans with local law enforcement, the local fire department, and other first responder entities. (Education Code 32281)

~~The~~
Additionally, the Superintendent or designee shall ~~also~~ provide data to CDE pertaining to lockdown or multi-option response drills conducted at district schools in accordance with Education Code 32289.5. (Education Code 32289.5)

-
-

-

Policy Reference Disclaimer:

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the Governing Board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject matter of the policy.

Policy 0450: Comprehensive Safety Plan

Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: 11/15/2016 | **Last Revised Date:** | **Last Reviewed Date:**

The Governing Board recognizes that students and staff have the right to a safe and secure campus where they are free from physical and psychological harm. The Board is fully committed to maximizing school safety and to creating a positive learning environment that includes strategies for violence prevention and high expectations for staff and student conduct, responsible behavior, and respect for others.

OPTION 1: (Districts with more than 2,500 ADA, and districts with 2,500 or less ADA that choose to develop school site plans)

The school site council at each district school shall develop a comprehensive school safety plan (CSSP) relevant to the needs and resources of that particular school. New school campuses shall develop a CSSP within one year of initiating operations. (Education Code 32281, 32286)

The CSSP shall take into account the school's staffing, available resources, and building design, as well as other factors unique to the school site.

OPTION 1 ENDS HERE

The CSSP(s) shall be reviewed and updated by March 1 of each year and forwarded to the Board for approval. (Education Code 32286, 32288)

The Board shall review the comprehensive safety plan(s) in order to ensure compliance with state law, Board policy, and administrative regulation and shall approve the plan(s) at a regularly scheduled meeting.

As necessary, the Superintendent or designee shall provide training on the CSSP to all school staff.

By October 15 of each year, the Superintendent or designee shall notify the California Department of Education (CDE) of any schools that have not complied with the requirements of Education Code 32281. (Education Code 32288)

Tactical Response Plan

Notwithstanding the process described above, any portion of a CSSP that addresses tactical responses to criminal incidents that may result in death or serious bodily injury at the school site, including steps to safeguard students and staff, secure affected school premises, and apprehend criminal perpetrator(s), shall be developed by the Superintendent or designee in accordance with Education Code 32281. In developing such strategies, the Superintendent or designee shall consult with law enforcement officials and with representative(s) of employee bargaining unit(s), if they choose to participate.

When reviewing the tactical response plan, the Board may meet in closed session to confer with law enforcement officials and approve the tactical response plan, provided that any vote to approve the tactical response plan is announced in open session following the closed session. (Education Code 32281)

Safety Plan(s) Access and Reporting

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that an updated file of all safety-related plans and materials is readily available for inspection by the public. (Education Code 32282)

However, those portions of the CSSP that include tactical responses to criminal incidents need not be publicly disclosed.

The Superintendent or designee shall share the CSSPs and any updates to the plans with local law enforcement, the local fire department, and other first responder entities. (Education Code 32281)

Additionally, the Superintendent or designee shall provide data to CDE pertaining to lockdown or multi-option response drills conducted at district schools in accordance with Education Code 32289.5. (Education Code 32289.5)

Policy Reference Disclaimer:

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the Governing Board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject matter of the policy.

State	Description
5 CCR 11987-11987.7	<u>School Community Violence Prevention Program requirements</u>
5 CCR 11992-11993	<u>Persistently dangerous schools; definition</u>
CA Constitution Article 1, Section 28	<u>Right to Safe Schools</u>
Ed. Code 200-262.4	<u>Prohibition of discrimination</u>
Ed. Code 32260-32262	<u>Interagency School Safety Demonstration Act of 1985</u>
Ed. Code 32270	<u>School safety cadre</u>
Ed. Code 32280-32289.5	<u>School safety plans</u>
Ed. Code 32290	<u>Safety devices</u>
Ed. Code 35147	<u>School site councils and advisory committees</u>
Ed. Code 35183	<u>School dress code; uniforms</u>
Ed. Code 35266	<u>Reporting of cyberattacks</u>
Ed. Code 35291	<u>Rules</u>

Regulation 0450: Comprehensive Safety Plan

Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: 11/~~15/2016~~01/2011 | Last Revised Date: ~~08/12/2025~~01/01/2026 |
Last Reviewed Date: ~~08/12/2025~~01/01/2026

Development and Review of Comprehensive School Safety Plan

The school site council shall consult with local law enforcement, the local fire department, and other first responders in the writing and development of the comprehensive school safety plan (CSSP). When practical, the school site council shall also consult with other school site councils and safety planning committees. ~~(Education Code 32281, 32282)~~ (Education Code 32281, 32282)

Additionally, the school site council may invite community leaders, local emergency medical services personnel, the district's public entity risk pool joint powers authority or insurance provider, and other persons who may be interested in the health and safety of students and the prevention of campus crime and violence to participate in the planning process. (Education Code 32280)

The school site council may delegate the responsibility for developing a CSSP to a school safety planning committee composed of the following members: (Education Code 32281)

1. The principal or designee
2. One teacher who is a representative of the recognized certificated employee organization
3. One parent/guardian whose child attends the school
4. One classified employee who is a representative of the recognized classified employee organization
-
5. Other members, if desired

Before adopting the CSSP, the school site council or school safety planning committee shall hold a public meeting at the school in order to allow members of the public the opportunity to express an opinion about the plan. (Education Code 32288)

The school site council or safety planning committee shall notify, in writing, the following persons and entities of the public meeting: , if available: (Education Code 32288)

-

1. The local mayor
2. A representative of the local school employee organization
3. A representative of each parent/guardian organization at the school, including the parent teacher association and parent teacher clubs
4. A representative of each teacher organization at the school
5. A representative of the school's student body government
6. All persons who have indicated that they want to be notified

~~In addition~~ Additionally, the school site council or safety planning committee may notify, in writing, the following entities of the public meeting: (Education Code 32288)

-

1. Representatives of local religious organizations
2. Local civic leaders
3. Local business organizations

After the first evaluation or review is conducted, and after each annual evaluation or review, a school employee, a student's parent/guardian or educational rights holder, or a student may bring concerns about an individual student's ability to access disaster safety procedures described in the CSSP to the principal. ~~-~~ (Education Code 32282)

If the principal determines there is merit to a concern, the principal shall direct the school site council or school safety planning committee ~~;~~ to make appropriate modifications to the CSSP during the evaluation of the CSSP. The principal may direct the school site council or the school safety planning committee to make such modifications before the evaluation, as appropriate. ~~-~~ (Education Code 32282)

Content of the Comprehensive Safety Plan

Each CSSP shall include an assessment of the current status of any crime committed on campus and at school-related functions. (Education Code 32282)

The assessment may include, but not be limited to, ~~reports of~~ law enforcement crime data, suspension and expulsion rates, and surveys of students, parents/guardians, and staff regarding their perceptions of school safety.

The plan shall identify appropriate strategies and programs that will provide or maintain a high level of school safety and address the school's procedures for complying with existing laws related to school safety, including all of the following: (Education Code 32282)

1. Child abuse or neglect reporting procedures consistent with Penal Code 11164-11174.3, including procedures specifically designed to address the supervision and protection of children from child abuse or neglect or sex offenses
2. Routine and emergency disaster procedures including, but not limited to:
 - a. Adaptations for students with disabilities in accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, the federal Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, and Section 504 of the federal Rehabilitation Act of 1973
 -
 - b. An earthquake emergency procedure system as specified
 - c. A procedure to allow public agencies, including the American Red Cross, to use school buildings, grounds, and equipment for mass care and welfare shelters during disasters or other emergencies affecting the public health and welfare
~~In addition, Education Code 32282, as amended by AB 2968, requires schools serving more than 50 students in a high or very high fire hazard severity zone, to coordinate such procedure with state emergency services organizations, and as a part of the CSSP to develop a communication and evacuation plan to be used in the event of an early notice evacuation warning.~~
 - d. Commencing with the 2026-27 school year, a procedure to identify appropriate refuge shelter for all students and staff to be used in the event of an evacuation order and, for any school in a high or very high fire hazard severity zone, a communication and evacuation plan to be used in the event of an early notice evacuation warning that allows enough time to evacuate all students and staff
3. Policies pursuant to Education Code 48915(d) for students who commit an act listed in Education Code 48915(c) and other school-designated serious acts that would lead to suspension, expulsion, or mandatory expulsion recommendations
4. Procedures to notify teachers of dangerous students pursuant to Education Code 49079
-
5. A policy consistent with the prohibition against discrimination, harassment, intimidation, and bullying pursuant to Education Code 200-262.4
6. If the school has adopted a dress code prohibiting students from wearing "gang-related apparel" pursuant to Education Code 35183, the provisions of that dress code and the definition of "gang-related apparel"
7. Procedures for safe ingress and egress of students, parents/guardians, and employees to and from school
8. A safe and orderly school environment conducive to learning
9. The rules and procedures on school discipline adopted pursuant to Education Code 35291 and 35291.5
-

10. Procedures for conducting tactical responses to criminal incidents, including procedures related to individuals with guns on campus and at school-related functions-

11. If procedures to prepare for active shooters or other armed assailants by conducting a drill are included in the CSSP, the CSSP shall specify that:

-

a. ~~a.~~ The school will not conduct a high-intensity drill, as defined in Education Code 32282

~~b.~~

b. Real weapons, ~~gunfire~~ blanks, or explosions will not be used in the conducting of the drill

~~c.~~

c. A trauma-informed approach as specified in Education Code 32282 will be used in the design and execution of any drill

-

12.

Procedures to assess and respond to reports of any dangerous, violent, or unlawful activity that is being conducted or threatened to be conducted at the school, at an activity sponsored by the school, or on a school bus serving the school:

12.13. Procedures to respond to incidents involving an individual experiencing a sudden cardiac arrest or a similar life-threatening medical emergency while on school grounds

14. Procedures specifically designed to notify parents/guardians and district staff when the school confirms that an officer or employee of an agency conducting immigration enforcement is on school grounds as specified in Education Code 32282

13.15. For schools that serve students in any of grades 7-12, a protocol in the event a student is suffering or is reasonably believed to be suffering from an opioid overdose

14.16. An instructional continuity plan to establish communication with students and their families and provide instruction to students when in-person instruction is disrupted due to an emergency, as specified in Education Code 32282

17. Explicit procedures to prohibit the use of smartphones in the case of an emergency or in response to a perceived threat of danger if such use is prohibited in Board Policy 5131.8 - Mobile Communication Devices (Education Code 48901.7)

Among the strategies for providing a safe environment, the ~~comprehensive safety plan~~ CSSP may also include:

1. Development of a positive school climate that promotes respect for diversity, personal and social responsibility, effective interpersonal and communication skills, self-esteem, anger management, and conflict resolution

2. Disciplinary policies and procedures that contain prevention strategies, such as strategies to prevent bullying, hazing, and cyberbullying, as well as behavioral expectations and consequences for violations
3. Strategies aimed at preventing potential incidents involving crime and violence on school campuses, including vandalism, drug and alcohol abuse, gang membership and violence, hate crimes, bullying, including bullying committed personally or by means of an electronic act, teen relationship violence, and discrimination and harassment, including sexual harassment
4. Curriculum that emphasizes prevention and alternatives to violence, such as multicultural education, and literacy, character/values education, social and emotional learning, media analysis skills, conflict resolution, community service learning, and education related to the prevention of dating violence
5. Parent/guardian and community involvement strategies, including strategies to help ensure parent/guardian support and reinforcement of the school's rules and increase the number of adults on campus
6. Provision of safety materials and emergency communications in language(s) understandable to parents/guardians
7. Annual notification to parents/guardians related to the safe storage of firearms
8. Prevention and intervention strategies related to the sale or use of drugs and alcohol which shall reflect expectations for drug-free schools and support for recovering students
9. Collaborative relationships among the city, county, community agencies, local law enforcement, the judicial system, and the schools that lead to the development of a set of common goals and community strategies for violence prevention instruction
10. District policy prohibiting the possession of firearms and ammunition on school grounds
11. Measures to prevent or minimize the influence of gangs on campus-
12. Procedures for receiving verification from law enforcement when a violent crime or sex offense has occurred on school grounds and for promptly notifying parents/guardians and employees of that crime
13. Procedures for the early identification and threat assessment of, and appropriate response to, suspicious and/or threatening digital media content
14. Assessment of the school's physical environment, including a risk management analysis and development of ground security measures such as procedures for closing campuses to outsiders, installing surveillance systems, securing the campus perimeter, protecting buildings against vandalism, and providing for a law enforcement presence on campus
15. Independent security assessment of the school's school's network infrastructure and selected web applications to identify vulnerabilities and provide recommendations to improve cybersecurity-

16. Guidelines for the roles and responsibilities of mental health professionals, athletic coaches, community intervention professionals, school counselors, school resource officers, and police officers on school campuses.

Guidelines may include, but are not limited to, the following:

- a. Strategies to create and maintain a positive school climate, promote school safety, and increase student achievement
- b. Strategies to prioritize mental health and intervention services, restorative and transformative justice programs, and positive behavior interventions and support
- c. Protocols to address the mental health care of students who have witnessed a violent act at any time, including, but not limited to, while on school grounds, while coming or going from school, during a lunch period whether on or off campus, or during or while going to or coming from a school-sponsored activity

17. Strategies for suicide prevention and intervention

18. District policy and/or plan related to pandemics

19. Procedures to implement when a person interferes with or disrupts a school activity, remains on campus after having been asked to leave, or creates a disruption with the intent to threaten the immediate physical safety of students or staff

20. Crisis prevention and intervention strategies, which may include the following:

- a. Identification of possible crises that may occur, determination of necessary tasks that need to be addressed, and development of procedures relative to each crisis, including the involvement of law enforcement and other public safety agencies as appropriate
- ~~b.a.~~ Threat assessment strategies to determine the credibility and seriousness of a threat and provide appropriate interventions for the potential offender(s)
- ~~c.a.~~ Assignment of staff members responsible for each identified task and procedure
- ~~d.a.~~ Development of an evacuation plan based on an assessment of buildings and grounds and opportunities for students and staff to practice the evacuation plan
- ~~e.a.~~ Coordination of communication to schools, Governing Board members, parents/guardians, and the media
- ~~f.a.~~ Communication with parents/guardians of reunification plans and the necessity of cooperating with first responders
- ~~g.a.~~ Development of a method for the reporting of violent incidents
- ~~h.a.~~ Development of follow-up procedures that may be required after a crisis has occurred, such as counseling

21. Training on assessment and reporting of potential threats, violence prevention, and intervention techniques.

Such training shall include preparation to implement the elements of the CSSP

22. Environmental safety strategies, including, but not limited to, procedures for preventing and mitigating exposure to toxic pesticides, lead, asbestos, vehicle emissions, and other hazardous substances and contaminants

23. Continuity of operations procedures to ensure that the ~~district's~~district's essential functions are not disrupted during an emergency, to the extent possible

Policy Reference Disclaimer:

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the Governing Board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject matter of the policy.

State

Description

5 CCR 11987-11987.7

[School Community Violence Prevention Program requirements](#)

5 CCR 11992-11993

[Persistently dangerous schools; definition](#)

CA Constitution Article 1, Section 28

[Right to Safe Schools](#)

Ed. Code 200-262.4

[Prohibition of discrimination](#)

Ed. Code 32260-32262

[Interagency School Safety Demonstration Act of 1985](#)

Ed. Code 32270

[School safety cadre](#)

Ed. Code 32280-32289.5

[School safety plans](#)

Ed. Code 32290

[Safety devices](#)

Ed. Code 35147

[School site councils and advisory committees](#)

Ed. Code 35183

[School dress code; uniforms](#)

Ed. Code 35266

[Reporting of cyberattacks](#)

Ed. Code 35291

[Rules](#)

Ed. Code 35291.5

[School-adopted discipline rules](#)

Ed. Code 41020

[Requirement for annual audit](#)

Ed. Code 44010

[Sex offense; definition](#)

Ed. Code 48900-48927

[Suspension and expulsion](#)

Ed. Code 48901.7

[Smartphone limitation or prohibition](#)

Regulation 0450: Comprehensive Safety Plan

Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: 11/15/2016 | **Last Revised Date:** | **Last Reviewed Date:**

Development and Review of Comprehensive School Safety Plan

The school site council shall consult with local law enforcement, the local fire department, and other first responders in the writing and development of the comprehensive school safety plan (CSSP). When practical, the school site council shall also consult with other school site councils and safety planning committees. (Education Code 32281, 32282)

Additionally, the school site council may invite community leaders, local emergency medical services personnel, the district's public entity risk pool joint powers authority or insurance provider, and other persons who may be interested in the health and safety of students and the prevention of campus crime and violence to participate in the planning process. (Education Code 32280)

The school site council may delegate the responsibility for developing a CSSP to a school safety planning committee composed of the following members: (Education Code 32281)

1. The principal or designee
2. One teacher who is a representative of the recognized certificated employee organization
3. One parent/guardian whose child attends the school
4. One classified employee who is a representative of the recognized classified employee organization
5. Other members, if desired

Before adopting the CSSP, the school site council or school safety planning committee shall hold a public meeting at the school in order to allow members of the public the opportunity to express an opinion about the plan. (Education Code 32288)

The school site council or safety planning committee shall notify, in writing, the following persons and entities of the public meeting, if available: (Education Code 32288)

1. The local mayor
2. A representative of the local school employee organization
3. A representative of each parent/guardian organization at the school, including the parent teacher association and parent teacher clubs
4. A representative of each teacher organization at the school

5. A representative of the school's student body government
6. All persons who have indicated that they want to be notified

Additionally, the school site council or safety planning committee may notify, in writing, the following entities of the public meeting: (Education Code 32288)

1. Representatives of local religious organizations
2. Local civic leaders
3. Local business organizations

After the first evaluation or review is conducted, and after each annual evaluation or review, a school employee, a student's parent/guardian or educational rights holder, or a student may bring concerns about an individual student's ability to access disaster safety procedures described in the CSSP to the principal. (Education Code 32282)

If the principal determines there is merit to a concern, the principal shall direct the school site council or school safety planning committee to make appropriate modifications to the CSSP during the evaluation of the CSSP. The principal may direct the school site council or the school safety planning committee to make such modifications before the evaluation, as appropriate. (Education Code 32282)

Content of the Comprehensive Safety Plan

Each CSSP shall include an assessment of the current status of any crime committed on campus and at school-related functions. (Education Code 32282)

The assessment may include, but not be limited to, law enforcement crime data, suspension and expulsion rates, and surveys of students, parents/guardians, and staff regarding their perceptions of school safety.

The plan shall identify appropriate strategies and programs that will provide or maintain a high level of school safety and address the school's procedures for complying with existing laws related to school safety, including all of the following: (Education Code 32282)

1. Child abuse or neglect reporting procedures consistent with Penal Code 11164-11174.3, including procedures specifically designed to address the supervision and protection of children from child abuse or neglect or sex offenses
2. Routine and emergency disaster procedures including, but not limited to:
 - a. Adaptations for students with disabilities in accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, the federal Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, and Section 504 of the federal Rehabilitation Act of 1973
 - b. An earthquake emergency procedure system as specified
 - c. A procedure to allow public agencies, including the American Red Cross, to use school buildings, grounds, and equipment for mass care and welfare shelters during

disasters or other emergencies affecting the public health and welfare

- d. Commencing with the 2026-27 school year, a procedure to identify appropriate refuge shelter for all students and staff to be used in the event of an evacuation order and, for any school in a high or very high fire hazard severity zone, a communication and evacuation plan to be used in the event of an early notice evacuation warning that allows enough time to evacuate all students and staff
3. Policies pursuant to Education Code 48915(d) for students who commit an act listed in Education Code 48915(c) and other school-designated serious acts that would lead to suspension, expulsion, or mandatory expulsion recommendations
4. Procedures to notify teachers of dangerous students pursuant to Education Code 49079
5. A policy consistent with the prohibition against discrimination, harassment, intimidation, and bullying pursuant to Education Code 200-262.4
6. If the school has adopted a dress code prohibiting students from wearing "gang-related apparel" pursuant to Education Code 35183, the provisions of that dress code and the definition of "gang-related apparel"
7. Procedures for safe ingress and egress of students, parents/guardians, and employees to and from school
8. A safe and orderly school environment conducive to learning
9. The rules and procedures on school discipline adopted pursuant to Education Code 35291 and 35291.5
10. Procedures for conducting tactical responses to criminal incidents, including procedures related to individuals with guns on campus and at school-related functions
11. If procedures to prepare for active shooters or other armed assailants by conducting a drill are included in the CSSP, the CSSP shall specify that:
 - a. The school will not conduct a high-intensity drill, as defined in Education Code 32282
 - b. Real weapons, gunfire blanks, or explosions will not be used in the conducting of the drill
 - c. A trauma-informed approach as specified in Education Code 32282 will be used in the design and execution of any drill
12. Procedures to assess and respond to reports of any dangerous, violent, or unlawful activity that is being conducted or threatened to be conducted at the school, at an activity sponsored by the school, or on a school bus serving the school
13. Procedures to respond to incidents involving an individual experiencing a sudden cardiac arrest or a similar life-threatening medical emergency while on school grounds
14. Procedures specifically designed to notify parents/guardians and district staff when the school confirms that an officer or employee of an agency conducting immigration

enforcement is on school grounds as specified in Education Code 32282

15. For schools that serve students in any of grades 7-12, a protocol in the event a student is suffering or is reasonably believed to be suffering from an opioid overdose
16. An instructional continuity plan to establish communication with students and their families and provide instruction to students when in-person instruction is disrupted due to an emergency, as specified in Education Code 32282
17. Explicit procedures to prohibit the use of smartphones in the case of an emergency or in response to a perceived threat of danger if such use is prohibited in Board Policy 5131.8 - Mobile Communication Devices (Education Code 48901.7)

Among the strategies for providing a safe environment, the CSSP may also include:

1. Development of a positive school climate that promotes respect for diversity, personal and social responsibility, effective interpersonal and communication skills, self-esteem, anger management, and conflict resolution
2. Disciplinary policies and procedures that contain prevention strategies, such as strategies to prevent bullying, hazing, and cyberbullying, as well as behavioral expectations and consequences for violations
3. Strategies aimed at preventing potential incidents involving crime and violence on school campuses, including vandalism, drug and alcohol abuse, gang membership and violence, hate crimes, bullying, including bullying committed personally or by means of an electronic act, teen relationship violence, and discrimination and harassment, including sexual harassment
4. Curriculum that emphasizes prevention and alternatives to violence, such as multicultural education and literacy, character/values education, social and emotional learning, media analysis skills, conflict resolution, community service learning, and education related to the prevention of dating violence
5. Parent/guardian and community involvement strategies, including strategies to help ensure parent/guardian support and reinforcement of the school's rules and increase the number of adults on campus
6. Provision of safety materials and emergency communications in language(s) understandable to parents/guardians
7. Annual notification to parents/guardians related to the safe storage of firearms
8. Prevention and intervention strategies related to the sale or use of drugs and alcohol which shall reflect expectations for drug-free schools and support for recovering students
9. Collaborative relationships among the city, county, community agencies, local law enforcement, the judicial system, and the schools that lead to the development of a set of common goals and community strategies for violence prevention instruction
10. District policy prohibiting the possession of firearms and ammunition on school grounds
11. Measures to prevent or minimize the influence of gangs on campus

12. Procedures for receiving verification from law enforcement when a violent crime or sex offense has occurred on school grounds and for promptly notifying parents/guardians and employees of that crime
13. Procedures for the early identification and threat assessment of, and appropriate response to, suspicious and/or threatening digital media content
14. Assessment of the school's physical environment, including a risk management analysis and development of ground security measures such as procedures for closing campuses to outsiders, installing surveillance systems, securing the campus perimeter, protecting buildings against vandalism, and providing for a law enforcement presence on campus
15. Independent security assessment of the school's network infrastructure and selected web applications to identify vulnerabilities and provide recommendations to improve cybersecurity
16. Guidelines for the roles and responsibilities of mental health professionals, athletic coaches, community intervention professionals, school counselors, school resource officers, and police officers on school campuses

Guidelines may include, but are not limited to, the following:

- a. Strategies to create and maintain a positive school climate, promote school safety, and increase student achievement
 - b. Strategies to prioritize mental health and intervention services, restorative and transformative justice programs, and positive behavior interventions and support
 - c. Protocols to address the mental health care of students who have witnessed a violent act at any time, including, but not limited to, while on school grounds, while coming or going from school, during a lunch period whether on or off campus, or during or while going to or coming from a school-sponsored activity
17. Strategies for suicide prevention and intervention
 18. District policy and/or plan related to pandemics
 19. Procedures to implement when a person interferes with or disrupts a school activity, remains on campus after having been asked to leave, or creates a disruption with the intent to threaten the immediate physical safety of students or staff
 20. Crisis prevention and intervention strategies, which may include the following:
 - a. Identification of possible crises that may occur, determination of necessary tasks that need to be addressed, and development of procedures relative to each crisis, including the involvement of law enforcement and other public safety agencies as appropriate
 - b. Threat assessment strategies to determine the credibility and seriousness of a threat and provide appropriate interventions for the potential offender(s)
 - c. Assignment of staff members responsible for each identified task and procedure
 - d. Development of an evacuation plan based on an assessment of buildings and grounds and opportunities for students and staff to practice the evacuation plan

- e. Coordination of communication to schools, Governing Board members, parents/guardians, and the media
 - f. Communication with parents/guardians of reunification plans and the necessity of cooperating with first responders
 - g. Development of a method for the reporting of violent incidents
 - h. Development of follow-up procedures that may be required after a crisis has occurred, such as counseling
21. Training on assessment and reporting of potential threats, violence prevention, and intervention techniques
- Such training shall include preparation to implement the elements of the CSSP
22. Environmental safety strategies, including, but not limited to, procedures for preventing and mitigating exposure to toxic pesticides, lead, asbestos, vehicle emissions, and other hazardous substances and contaminants
23. Continuity of operations procedures to ensure that the district's essential functions are not disrupted during an emergency, to the extent possible

Policy Reference Disclaimer:

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the Governing Board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject matter of the policy.

State	Description
5 CCR 11987-11987.7	<u>School Community Violence Prevention Program requirements</u>
5 CCR 11992-11993	<u>Persistently dangerous schools; definition</u>
CA Constitution Article 1, Section 28	<u>Right to Safe Schools</u>
Ed. Code 200-262.4	<u>Prohibition of discrimination</u>
Ed. Code 32260-32262	<u>Interagency School Safety Demonstration Act of 1985</u>
Ed. Code 32270	<u>School safety cadre</u>
Ed. Code 32280-32289.5	<u>School safety plans</u>
Ed. Code 32290	<u>Safety devices</u>
Ed. Code 35147	<u>School site councils and advisory committees</u>
Ed. Code 35183	<u>School dress code; uniforms</u>
Ed. Code 35266	<u>Reporting of cyberattacks</u>
Ed. Code 35291	<u>Rules</u>

Policy 1114: District-Sponsored Social Media

Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: ~~06/26/2012~~07/01/2011 | Last Revised Date: 11/01/14/~~2025~~ | Last Reviewed Date: 11/01/14/~~2025~~

The Governing Board recognizes the value of social media to share district information with families and the community and promote community involvement and collaboration in district decisions. The purpose of any official district social media account shall be to further the district's vision and mission, to support student learning and staff professional development, and to enhance communication and engagement with students, families, staff, and community members. The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that the content posted by the district on an official district social media account is accessible to individuals with disabilities.

The Superintendent or designee shall develop content guidelines and protocols for official district social media accounts to ensure public access, appropriate and responsible use, and compliance with law, ~~board~~Board policy, and administrative regulation.

Guidelines for Content

-

Official district social media accounts shall be used only for their stated purposes and in a manner consistent with this policy and administrative regulation. This policy is not intended to create an open public forum or otherwise guarantee an individual's right to free speech on any of the official district social media accounts even if one or more features on the account that permit interaction with and between members of the public are enabled.

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that the limited purpose of official district social media accounts is clearly communicated to users. Each account shall contain a statement specifying the purposes of the account, that the account shall only be used for such purposes, and any other user expectations or conditions as specified in the accompanying administrative regulation.

~~Official district social media accounts may not contain content~~Content that is obscene, libelous, or so incites students as to create a clear and present danger of the commission of unlawful acts on school premises, violation of school rules, or substantial disruption of the school's orderly operation: shall not be permitted on official district social media accounts.

Staff or students who post ~~prohibited content~~on, reply from, or otherwise ~~engage with~~use an official district social media account in a manner that violates ~~board~~Board policies and administrative regulations shall be subject to discipline in accordance with ~~such~~ applicable policies and regulations.

Users of official district social media accounts, and anyone who posts on, replies to, or otherwise leaves a digital footprint on an official district social media account, should be aware of the public nature and accessibility of social media and that such information posted ~~on, replied with, or~~ otherwise left on an official district social media account may be considered a public record subject to disclosure under the Public Records Act.

Privacy

To the extent practicable, the Superintendent or designee shall ensure that the privacy rights of students, parents/guardians, staff, Board members, and other individuals are protected on official district social media accounts.

As it pertains to the posting of student photographs and the privacy of telephone numbers, home addresses, and email addresses, official district social media accounts shall ~~operate in~~ accordance with Board Policy 1113 - District and School Websites.

Social media and other online platforms shall not be used by district employees to transmit confidential information about students, employees, or district operations.

-

-

Policy Reference Disclaimer:

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the Governing Board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject matter of the policy.

State	Description
Bus. and Prof. Code 22588.2-22588.4	Youth Social Media Protection Act
Ed. Code 32260-32262	Interagency School Safety Demonstration Act of 1985
Ed. Code 35182.5	Contracts for advertising
Ed. Code 48900	Grounds for suspension or expulsion
Ed. Code 48907	Exercise of free expression; time, place, and manner rules and regulations
Ed. Code 48950	Speech and other communication
Ed. Code 49061	Definitions; directory information
Ed. Code 49073	Release of directory information
Ed. Code 60048	Commercial brand names, contracts or logos
Gov. Code 3307.5	Publishing identity of public safety officers
Gov. Code 54952.2	Brown Act; definition of meeting

Policy 1114: District-Sponsored Social Media

Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: 06/26/2012 | **Last Revised Date:** | **Last Reviewed Date:**

The Governing Board recognizes the value of social media to share district information with families and the community and promote community involvement and collaboration in district decisions. The purpose of any official district social media account shall be to further the district's vision and mission, to support student learning and staff professional development, and to enhance communication and engagement with students, families, staff, and community members. The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that the content posted by the district on an official district social media account is accessible to individuals with disabilities.

The Superintendent or designee shall develop content guidelines and protocols for official district social media accounts to ensure public access, appropriate and responsible use, and compliance with law, Board policy, and administrative regulation.

Guidelines for Content

Official district social media accounts shall be used only for their stated purposes and in a manner consistent with this policy and administrative regulation. This policy is not intended to create an open public forum or otherwise guarantee an individual's right to free speech on any of the official district social media accounts even if one or more features on the account that permit interaction with and between members of the public are enabled.

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that the limited purpose of official district social media accounts is clearly communicated to users. Each account shall contain a statement specifying the purposes of the account, that the account shall only be used for such purposes, and any other user expectations or conditions as specified in the accompanying administrative regulation.

Content that is obscene, libelous, or so incites students as to create a clear and present danger of the commission of unlawful acts on school premises, violation of school rules, or substantial disruption of the school's orderly operation shall not be permitted on official district social media accounts.

Staff or students who post on, reply from, or otherwise use an official district social media account in a manner that violates Board policies and administrative regulations shall be subject to discipline in accordance with applicable policies and regulations.

Users of official district social media accounts, and anyone who posts on, replies to, or otherwise leaves a digital footprint on an official district social media account, should be aware of the public nature and accessibility of social media and that such information posted on, replied with, or otherwise left on an official district social media account may be considered a public record subject to disclosure under the Public Records Act.

Privacy

To the extent practicable, the Superintendent or designee shall ensure that the privacy rights of students, parents/guardians, staff, Board members, and other individuals are protected on official district social media accounts.

As it pertains to the posting of student photographs and the privacy of telephone numbers, home addresses, and email addresses, official district social media accounts shall comply with Board Policy 1113 - District and School Websites.

Social media and other online platforms shall not be used by district employees to transmit confidential information about students, employees, or district operations.

Policy Reference Disclaimer:

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the Governing Board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject matter of the policy.

State	Description
Bus. and Prof. Code 22588.2-22588.4	Youth Social Media Protection Act
Ed. Code 32260-32262	Interagency School Safety Demonstration Act of 1985
Ed. Code 35182.5	Contracts for advertising
Ed. Code 48900	Grounds for suspension or expulsion
Ed. Code 48907	Exercise of free expression; time, place, and manner rules and regulations
Ed. Code 48950	Speech and other communication
Ed. Code 49061	Definitions; directory information
Ed. Code 49073	Release of directory information
Ed. Code 60048	Commercial brand names, contracts or logos
Gov. Code 3307.5	Publishing identity of public safety officers
Gov. Code 54952.2	Brown Act; definition of meeting
Gov. Code 7920.000-7930.215	California Public Records Act
Federal	Description
17 USC 101-1101	Federal copyright law
20 USC 1232g	Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) of 1974
29 USC 157	Employee rights to engage in concerted, protected activity

Policy 1340: Access To District Records

Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: 08/25/2009 | Last Revised Date: 06/24/2025 | Last Reviewed Date:
06/24/2025

The Governing Board recognizes the right of members of the public to have access to public records of the district. The district shall provide any ~~person~~ member of the public reasonable access to the public records of the schools and district during normal business hours and within the requirements of law. Public access shall not be given to records ~~listed as that are~~ exempt from public disclosure ~~in~~ pursuant to the California Public Records Act ~~and or~~ other state or federal law.

In response to a public records request, the Superintendent or designee shall make reasonable efforts to locate the requested records, including, but not limited to, any electronic communication substantively related to the records, such as email, text messages, instant messages, and other electronic communications, regardless of whether they are transmitted through a district-provided device or account or through an employee's or Board member's personal device or account.

The district may charge for copies of public records or other materials requested by individuals or groups, in accordance with law and as specified in the accompanying administrative regulation.

In some cases, in order to help maintain the security of district records, members of the public granted access shall examine records in the presence of a district staff member.

Policy Reference Disclaimer:

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the Governing Board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject matter of the policy.

State	Description
5 CCR 430-438	Individual student records
CA Constitution Article 1, Section 3	Right of access to governmental information
Civil Code 1798.3	Personal information
Ed. Code 234.7	Student protections relating to immigration and citizenship status
Ed. Code 35145	Public meetings
Ed. Code 35170	Authority to secure copyrights
Ed. Code 35250	Duty to keep certain records and reports
Ed. Code 35266	Cybersecurity

Policy 1340: Access To District Records

Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: 08/25/2009 | **Last Revised Date:** | **Last Reviewed Date:**

The Governing Board recognizes the right of members of the public to have access to public records of the district. The district shall provide any member of the public reasonable access to the public records of the schools and district during normal business hours and within the requirements of law. Public access shall not be given to records that are exempt from public disclosure pursuant to the California Public Records Act or other state or federal law.

In response to a public records request, the Superintendent or designee shall make reasonable efforts to locate the requested records, including, but not limited to, any electronic communication substantively related to the records, such as email, text messages, instant messages, and other electronic communications, regardless of whether they are transmitted through a district-provided device or account or through an employee's or Board member's personal device or account.

The district may charge for copies of public records or other materials requested by individuals or groups, in accordance with law and as specified in the accompanying administrative regulation.

In some cases, in order to help maintain the security of district records, members of the public granted access shall examine records in the presence of a district staff member.

Policy Reference Disclaimer:

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the Governing Board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject matter of the policy.

State	Description
5 CCR 430-438	<u>Individual student records</u>
CA Constitution Article 1, Section 3	<u>Right of access to governmental information</u>
Civil Code 1798.3	Personal information
Ed. Code 234.7	<u>Student protections relating to immigration and citizenship status</u>
Ed. Code 35145	<u>Public meetings</u>
Ed. Code 35170	<u>Authority to secure copyrights</u>
Ed. Code 35250	<u>Duty to keep certain records and reports</u>
Ed. Code 35266	Cybersecurity

Regulation 1340: Access To District Records

Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: 08/25/2009 | **Last Revised Date:** 05/22/2025 | **Last Reviewed Date:** 05/22/2025

This administrative regulation is a non-exhaustive list of records that may be defined as either public or exempt and/or confidential. Other records which fall into these definitions may exist and may be identified in the future.

Definitions

Public records include any writing containing information relating to the conduct of the district's business prepared, owned, used, or retained by the district regardless of physical form or characteristics. (Government Code 7920.530)

Writing means any handwriting, typewriting, printing, photocopying, photographing, photocopying, transmitting by electronic mail or facsimile, and every other means of recording upon any tangible thing any form of communication or representation, including letters, words, pictures, sounds, or symbols or combinations thereof, and any record thereby created, regardless of the manner in which the record has been stored. (Government Code 7920.545)

Member of the public means any person, except a member, agent, officer, or employee of the district or a federal, state, or other local agency acting within the scope of such membership, agency, office, or employment. (Government Code 7920.515)

Public Records

Unless otherwise exempt from disclosure, public records to which members of the public shall have access include, but are not limited to:

1. Proposed and approved district budgets and annual audits (Education Code 41020, 42103)
2. Statistical compilations
3. Reports and memoranda
4. Notices and bulletins
5. Minutes of public meetings (Education Code 35145)
6. Meeting agendas (Government Code 54957.5)
7. Official communications between the district and other government agencies
8. District and school plans, and the information and data relevant to the development and evaluation of such plans, unless otherwise prohibited by law
9. Initial proposals of exclusive employee representatives and of the district, once presented at a district Governing Board meeting (Government Code 3547)
10. Records pertaining to claims and litigation against the district which have been adjudicated

or settled (Government Code 7927.200, 7927.205)

11. Statements of economic interests required by the Conflict of Interest Code (Government Code 81008)
12. Documents containing names, salaries, and pension benefits of district employees
13. Employment contracts and settlement agreements (Government Code 53262)
14. Instructional materials including, but not limited to, textbooks (Education Code 49091.10)
15. Executed contracts for the purchase of goods or services, even if the contract contains provisions specifying that the contract is confidential or a proprietary record of the vendor (Government Code 7928.801)

Access to public records of the district shall be granted to Board members on the same basis as any other member of the public. When Board members are authorized to access public records in the administration of their duties, the Superintendent or designee shall not discriminate among any of the Board members as to which record, or portion of the record, will be made available, or when it will be made available. (Government Code 7921.305, 7921.310)

Exempt and Confidential Public Records

Records exempt from disclosure under the California Public Records Act (CPRA) include, but are not limited to:

1. Preliminary drafts, notes, and interagency or intradistrict memoranda that are not retained by the district in the ordinary course of business, provided that the public interest in withholding these records clearly outweighs the public interest in disclosure (Government Code 7927.500)
2. Records specifically generated in connection with or prepared for use in litigation to which the district is a party or to respond to claims made against the district pursuant to the Tort Claims Act, until the litigation or claim has been finally adjudicated or otherwise settled, or beyond, if the records are protected by some other provision of law (Government Code 7927.200, 7927.205)
3. Personnel records, medical records, or similar materials, the disclosure of which would constitute an unwarranted invasion of personal privacy (Government Code 7927.300)

The home addresses, home telephone numbers, personal cell phone numbers, or birth date of employees shall only be disclosed as follows: (Government Code 7928.300)

- a. To an agent or a family member of the employee
- b. To an officer or employee of a state agency or another school district or county office of education when necessary for the performance of official duties
- c. To an employee organization pursuant to regulations and decisions of the Public Employment Relations Board, except that the home address and any telephone number for an employee who performs law enforcement-related functions, or the birth date of any employee, shall not be disclosed
- d. Upon written request of any employee, the district shall not disclose the employee's home address, home telephone number, personal cell phone number, personal email address, or birth date, and the district shall remove the home address, home telephone number, and personal cell phone number from any mailing list of the district except a list used exclusively to contact the employee.
- e. To an agent or employee of a health benefit plan providing health services or

administering claims for health services to district employees and their enrolled dependents, for the purpose of providing the health services or administering claims for employees and their enrolled dependents

4. The home address, telephone number, or both the name and assessor parcel number associated with the home address of any elected or appointed official posted by the district online without first obtaining the written permission of that individual (Government Code 7928.205)
5. Student records, except directory information and other records to the extent permitted by law and district policy (Education Code 49073, 49076; 20 USC 1232g; 34 CFR 99.1-99.8)
6. Test questions, scoring keys, and other examination data except as provided by law (Government Code 7929.605)
7. Without affecting the law of eminent domain, the contents of real estate appraisals or engineering or feasibility estimates and evaluations made for or by the district relative to the acquisition of property, or to prospective public supply and construction contracts, until all of the property has been acquired or all of the contract agreement obtained (Government Code 7928.705)
8. Information required from any taxpayer in connection with the collection of local taxes that is received in confidence and the disclosure of the information to other persons would result in an unfair competitive disadvantage to the person supplying the information (Government Code 7925.000)
9. Library circulation and patron use records of a borrower or patron including, but not limited to, name, address, telephone number, email address, borrowing information, or use of library information resources, except when disclosure is to persons acting within the scope of their duties in the administration of the library; to persons authorized in writing, by the individual to whom the records pertain, to inspect the records; or by court order (Government Code 7927.1000, 7927.105)
10. Records for which the disclosure is exempted or prohibited pursuant to state or federal law, including, but not limited to, provisions of the Evidence Code relating to privilege (Government Code 7927.705)
11. Documents prepared by or for the district to assess its vulnerability to terrorist attack or other criminal acts intended to disrupt district operations and that are for distribution or consideration in closed session (Government Code 7929.200)
12. Information security record if disclosure of that record would reveal vulnerabilities to, or otherwise increase the potential for an attack on, an information technology system of the district (Government Code 7929.210)
13. Recall petitions, petitions for special elections to fill Board vacancies, or petitions for the reorganization of the school district (Government Code 7929.110)
14. Minutes of Board meetings held in closed session (Government Code 54957.2)
15. Computer software developed by the district (Government Code 7922.585)
16. Records that contain individually identifiable health information, including records that may be exempt pursuant to physician-patient privilege, the Confidentiality of Medical Information Act, and the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (Government Code 7926.400, 7930.000-7930.215)

17. Tribal financial information as a condition of or requirement for receiving financial assistance (Government Code 7930.205, 8450)

~~17-18~~ Any other records listed as exempt from public disclosure in the CPRA or other statutes

~~18-19~~ Any other records for which the district can demonstrate that, based on the particular facts of the case, the public interest served by not disclosing the record clearly outweighs the public interest served by disclosure of the record (Government Code 6255)

When disclosing to a member of the public any record that contains personal information, including, but not limited to, an employee's home address, home telephone number, social security number, personal cell phone number, or birth date, the Superintendent or designee shall ensure that such personal information is redacted from that record. (Government Code 7922.200, 7928.300)

Unless otherwise authorized or required by law, information regarding an individual's ~~citizenship or immigration status or~~ religious beliefs, practices, or affiliation shall not be disclosed. (~~Education Code 234.7;~~ Government Code 8310.3)

Additionally, an individual's immigration status shall only be disclosed in accordance with Board Policy/Administrative Regulation 1445 – Response to Immigration Enforcement.

Inspection of Records and Requests for Copies, and Recovery of Costs

Any person may request a copy or inspection of any district record that is not exempt from disclosure. (Government Code 7922.530)

Within 10 days of receiving any request to inspect or copy a district record, the Superintendent or designee shall determine whether the request seeks release of a disclosable public record in the district's possession. The Superintendent or designee shall promptly inform the person making the request of the determination and the reasons for the decision. (Government Code 7922.535)

In unusual circumstances, the Superintendent or designee may extend the 10-day limit for up to 14 days by providing written notice to the requester setting forth the reasons for the extension and the date on which a determination is expected to be made. Unusual circumstances include the following, but only to the extent reasonably necessary to properly process the request: (Government Code 7922.535)

1. The need to search for and collect the requested records from field facilities or other establishments that are separate from the office processing the request
2. The need to search for, collect, and appropriately examine a voluminous amount of separate and distinct records which are demanded in a single request
3. The need for consultation, which shall be conducted with all practicable speed, with another agency (~~e.g., such as~~ a state agency or city) having a substantial interest in the determination of the request or among two or more components of the district (~~e.g., such as~~ two different school sites) with substantial interest in the request
4. In the case of electronic records, the need to compile data, write programming language or a computer program, or construct a computer report to extract data

5. In the case of electronic records, the inability to access its electronic servers or systems due to a cyberattack in order to search for and obtain a record that the district believes is responsive to

a request and is maintained on the servers or systems in an electronic format, and only until the district regains its ability to access its electronic servers or systems and search for and obtain electronic records that may be responsive to a request.

56. The need to search for, collect, and appropriately examine records during a state of emergency proclaimed by the Governor pursuant to the California Emergency Services Act in the jurisdiction where the district is located when the state of emergency currently and directly affects, due to the state of emergency, the district's ability to timely respond to staffing shortages or closure of facilities where the requested records are located (Government Code 8567)

If the Superintendent or designee determines that the request seeks disclosable public records, the determination shall state the estimated date and time when the records will be made available. (Government Code 6253)

Public records shall be open to inspection at all times during district office hours. If a portion of the requested record(s) is exempt from disclosure, any non-exempt, reasonably segregable portion of the record shall be made available for inspection after deletion of the portions exempted by law. (Government Code 7922.525)

Upon request for a copy that reasonably describes an identifiable, non-exempt record, an exact copy shall be promptly provided unless it is impracticable to do so. (Government Code 7922.530)

If only a portion of the identified record is exempt from disclosure, the record's exempt material shall be redacted prior to disclosure.

The Superintendent or designee shall charge an amount for copies that reflects the direct costs of duplication in accordance with law. Written requests to waive the fee shall be submitted to the Superintendent or designee.

Without charging any fees or costs, the Superintendent or designee shall allow members of the public to use their own equipment on district premises to photograph or otherwise copy or reproduce a disclosable record as long as the means of copy or reproduction: (Government Code 7922.530)

1. Do not require the equipment to make physical contact with the record
2. Will not result in damage to the record
3. Will not result in unauthorized access to the district's computer systems or secured networks by using software, equipment, or any other technology capable of accessing, altering, or compromising the district's electronic records

The Superintendent or designee may impose any reasonable limit on the use of personal equipment to photograph, copy, or reproduce a disclosable record that is necessary to protect the safety of the records, or to prevent the copying of records from being an unreasonable burden to the orderly function of the district and its employees. The Additionally, the Superintendent or designee may ~~also~~ impose any limit that is necessary to maintain the integrity of, or ensure the long-term preservation of, historic or high-value records. (Government Code 7922.530)

In addition to maintaining public records for public inspection during district office hours, the district may comply with public records requests by posting any public record on the district's website and, in response to a public records request, directing the member of the public to the location on the website where the record can be found. However, if the member of the public is unable to access or reproduce the record from the website, the district shall promptly provide an exact copy of the public record upon payment of duplication fees, if applicable, unless it is impracticable to provide an exact copy. (Government Code 7922.545)

If any person requests that a public record be provided in an electronic format, the district shall make that record available in any electronic format in which it holds the information. The district shall provide a copy of the electronic record in the format requested as long as the requested format is one that has been used by the district to create copies for its own use or for use by other agencies. (Government Code 7922.570)

The cost of duplicating an electronic record shall be limited to the direct cost of producing a copy of the record in electronic format. However, the requester shall bear the cost of producing the copy of the electronic record, including the cost to construct the record and the cost of programming and computer services necessary to produce the copy, under the following circumstances: (Government Code 7922.575)

1. The electronic record is one that is produced only at otherwise regularly scheduled intervals.
2. The request would require data compilation, extraction, or programming to produce the record.

Assistance in Identifying Requested Records

If the Superintendent or designee denies a request for disclosable records, the requester shall be assisted in making a focused and effective request that reasonably describes an identifiable record. To the extent reasonable under the circumstances, the Superintendent or designee shall do all of the following: (Government Code 7922.600)

1. Assist in identifying records and information responsive to the request or the purpose of the request, if specified

If, after making a reasonable effort to elicit additional clarifying information from the requester to help identify the record, the Superintendent or designee is still unable to identify the information, this requirement shall be deemed satisfied.

2. Describe the information technology and physical location in which the records exist
3. Provide suggestions for overcoming any practical basis for denying access to the records or information sought

Provisions of the CPRA shall not be construed so as to delay or obstruct the inspection or copying of public records. Any notification denying a request for public records shall state the name and title of each person responsible for the denial. (Government Code 7922.500, 7922.540)

Policy Reference Disclaimer:

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the Governing Board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject matter of the policy.

State

5 CCR 430-438

Description

[Individual student records](#)

CA Constitution Article 1, Section 3

[Right of access to governmental information](#)

Regulation 1340: Access To District Records

Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: 08/25/2009 | **Last Revised Date:** 05/22/2025 | **Last Reviewed Date:** 05/22/2025

This administrative regulation is a non-exhaustive list of records that may be defined as either public or exempt and/or confidential. Other records which fall into these definitions may exist and may be identified in the future.

Definitions

Public records include any writing containing information relating to the conduct of the district's business prepared, owned, used, or retained by the district regardless of physical form or characteristics. (Government Code 7920.530)

Writing means any handwriting, typewriting, printing, photocopying, photographing, photocopying, transmitting by electronic mail or facsimile, and every other means of recording upon any tangible thing any form of communication or representation, including letters, words, pictures, sounds, or symbols or combinations thereof, and any record thereby created, regardless of the manner in which the record has been stored. (Government Code 7920.545)

Member of the public means any person, except a member, agent, officer, or employee of the district or a federal, state, or other local agency acting within the scope of such membership, agency, office, or employment. (Government Code 7920.515)

Public Records

Unless otherwise exempt from disclosure, public records to which members of the public shall have access include, but are not limited to:

1. Proposed and approved district budgets and annual audits (Education Code 41020, 42103)
2. Statistical compilations
3. Reports and memoranda
4. Notices and bulletins
5. Minutes of public meetings (Education Code 35145)
6. Meeting agendas (Government Code 54957.5)
7. Official communications between the district and other government agencies
8. District and school plans, and the information and data relevant to the development and evaluation of such plans, unless otherwise prohibited by law
9. Initial proposals of exclusive employee representatives and of the district, once presented at a district Governing Board meeting (Government Code 3547)
10. Records pertaining to claims and litigation against the district which have been adjudicated

or settled (Government Code 7927.200, 7927.205)

11. Statements of economic interests required by the Conflict of Interest Code (Government Code 81008)
12. Documents containing names, salaries, and pension benefits of district employees
13. Employment contracts and settlement agreements (Government Code 53262)
14. Instructional materials including, but not limited to, textbooks (Education Code 49091.10)
15. Executed contracts for the purchase of goods or services, even if the contract contains provisions specifying that the contract is confidential or a proprietary record of the vendor (Government Code 7928.801)

Access to public records of the district shall be granted to Board members on the same basis as any other member of the public. When Board members are authorized to access public records in the administration of their duties, the Superintendent or designee shall not discriminate among any of the Board members as to which record, or portion of the record, will be made available, or when it will be made available. (Government Code 7921.305, 7921.310)

Exempt and Confidential Public Records

Records exempt from disclosure under the California Public Records Act (CPRA) include, but are not limited to:

1. Preliminary drafts, notes, and interagency or intradistrict memoranda that are not retained by the district in the ordinary course of business, provided that the public interest in withholding these records clearly outweighs the public interest in disclosure (Government Code 7927.500)
2. Records specifically generated in connection with or prepared for use in litigation to which the district is a party or to respond to claims made against the district pursuant to the Tort Claims Act, until the litigation or claim has been finally adjudicated or otherwise settled, or beyond, if the records are protected by some other provision of law (Government Code 7927.200, 7927.205)
3. Personnel records, medical records, or similar materials, the disclosure of which would constitute an unwarranted invasion of personal privacy (Government Code 7927.300)

The home addresses, home telephone numbers, personal cell phone numbers, or birth date of employees shall only be disclosed as follows: (Government Code 7928.300)

- a. To an agent or a family member of the employee
- b. To an officer or employee of a state agency or another school district or county office of education when necessary for the performance of official duties
- c. To an employee organization pursuant to regulations and decisions of the Public Employment Relations Board, except that the home address and any telephone number for an employee who performs law enforcement-related functions, or the birth date of any employee, shall not be disclosed
- d. Upon written request of any employee, the district shall not disclose the employee's home address, home telephone number, personal cell phone number, personal email address, or birth date, and the district shall remove the home address, home telephone number, and personal cell phone number from any mailing list of the district except a list used exclusively to contact the employee.
- e. To an agent or employee of a health benefit plan providing health services or

administering claims for health services to district employees and their enrolled dependents, for the purpose of providing the health services or administering claims for employees and their enrolled dependents

4. The home address, telephone number, or both the name and assessor parcel number associated with the home address of any elected or appointed official posted by the district online without first obtaining the written permission of that individual (Government Code 7928.205)
5. Student records, except directory information and other records to the extent permitted by law and district policy (Education Code 49073, 49076; 20 USC 1232g; 34 CFR 99.1-99.8)
6. Test questions, scoring keys, and other examination data except as provided by law (Government Code 7929.605)
7. Without affecting the law of eminent domain, the contents of real estate appraisals or engineering or feasibility estimates and evaluations made for or by the district relative to the acquisition of property, or to prospective public supply and construction contracts, until all of the property has been acquired or all of the contract agreement obtained (Government Code 7928.705)
8. Information required from any taxpayer in connection with the collection of local taxes that is received in confidence and the disclosure of the information to other persons would result in an unfair competitive disadvantage to the person supplying the information (Government Code 7925.000)
9. Library circulation and patron use records of a borrower or patron including, but not limited to, name, address, telephone number, email address, borrowing information, or use of library information resources, except when disclosure is to persons acting within the scope of their duties in the administration of the library; to persons authorized in writing, by the individual to whom the records pertain, to inspect the records; or by court order (Government Code 7927.1000, 7927.105)
10. Records for which the disclosure is exempted or prohibited pursuant to state or federal law, including, but not limited to, provisions of the Evidence Code relating to privilege (Government Code 7927.705)
11. Documents prepared by or for the district to assess its vulnerability to terrorist attack or other criminal acts intended to disrupt district operations and that are for distribution or consideration in closed session (Government Code 7929.200)
12. Information security record if disclosure of that record would reveal vulnerabilities to, or otherwise increase the potential for an attack on, an information technology system of the district (Government Code 7929.210)
13. Recall petitions, petitions for special elections to fill Board vacancies, or petitions for the reorganization of the school district (Government Code 7929.110)
14. Minutes of Board meetings held in closed session (Government Code 54957.2)
15. Computer software developed by the district (Government Code 7922.585)
16. Records that contain individually identifiable health information, including records that may be exempt pursuant to physician-patient privilege, the Confidentiality of Medical Information Act, and the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (Government Code 7926.400, 7930.000-7930.215)

17. Tribal financial information as a condition of or requirement for receiving financial assistance (Government Code 7930.205, 8450)

18 Any other records listed as exempt from public disclosure in the CPRA or other statutes

19 Any other records for which the district can demonstrate that, based on the particular facts of the case, the public interest served by not disclosing the record clearly outweighs the public interest served by disclosure of the record (Government Code 6255)

When disclosing to a member of the public any record that contains personal information, including, but not limited to, an employee's home address, home telephone number, social security number, personal cell phone number, or birth date, the Superintendent or designee shall ensure that such personal information is redacted from that record. (Government Code 7922.200, 7928.300)

Unless otherwise authorized or required by law, information regarding an individual's religious beliefs, practices, or affiliation shall not be disclosed. Government Code 8310.3)

Additionally, an individual's immigration status shall only be disclosed in accordance with Board Policy/Administrative Regulation 1445 – Response to Immigration Enforcement.

Inspection of Records and Requests for Copies, and Recovery of Costs

Any person may request a copy or inspection of any district record that is not exempt from disclosure. (Government Code 7922.530)

Within 10 days of receiving any request to inspect or copy a district record, the Superintendent or designee shall determine whether the request seeks release of a disclosable public record in the district's possession. The Superintendent or designee shall promptly inform the person making the request of the determination and the reasons for the decision. (Government Code 7922.535)

In unusual circumstances, the Superintendent or designee may extend the 10-day limit for up to 14 days by providing written notice to the requester setting forth the reasons for the extension and the date on which a determination is expected to be made. Unusual circumstances include the following, but only to the extent reasonably necessary to properly process the request: (Government Code 7922.535)

1. The need to search for and collect the requested records from field facilities or other establishments that are separate from the office processing the request
2. The need to search for, collect, and appropriately examine a voluminous amount of separate and distinct records which are demanded in a single request
3. The need for consultation, which shall be conducted with all practicable speed, with another agency (such as a state agency or city) having a substantial interest in the determination of the request or among two or more components of the district (such as two different school sites) with substantial interest in the request
4. In the case of electronic records, the need to compile data, write programming language or a computer program, or construct a computer report to extract data
5. In the case of electronic records, the inability to access its electronic servers or systems due to a cyberattack in order to search for and obtain a record that the district believes is responsive to a request and is maintained on the servers or systems in an electronic format, and only until the

district regains its ability to access its electronic servers or systems and search for and obtain electronic records that may be responsive to a request.

6. The need to search for, collect, and appropriately examine records during a state of emergency proclaimed by the Governor pursuant to the California Emergency Services Act in the jurisdiction where the district is located when the state of emergency currently and directly affects, due to the state of emergency, the district's ability to timely respond to staffing shortages or closure of facilities where the requested records are located (Government Code 8567)

If the Superintendent or designee determines that the request seeks disclosable public records, the determination shall state the estimated date and time when the records will be made available. (Government Code 6253)

Public records shall be open to inspection at all times during district office hours. If a portion of the requested record(s) is exempt from disclosure, any non-exempt, reasonably segregable portion of the record shall be made available for inspection after deletion of the portions exempted by law. (Government Code 7922.525)

Upon request for a copy that reasonably describes an identifiable, non-exempt record, an exact copy shall be promptly provided unless it is impracticable to do so. (Government Code 7922.530)

If only a portion of the identified record is exempt from disclosure, the record's exempt material shall be redacted prior to disclosure.

The Superintendent or designee shall charge an amount for copies that reflects the direct costs of duplication in accordance with law. Written requests to waive the fee shall be submitted to the Superintendent or designee.

Without charging any fees or costs, the Superintendent or designee shall allow members of the public to use their own equipment on district premises to photograph or otherwise copy or reproduce a disclosable record as long as the means of copy or reproduction: (Government Code 7922.530)

1. Do not require the equipment to make physical contact with the record
2. Will not result in damage to the record
3. Will not result in unauthorized access to the district's computer systems or secured networks by using software, equipment, or any other technology capable of accessing, altering, or compromising the district's electronic records

The Superintendent or designee may impose any reasonable limit on the use of personal equipment to photograph, copy, or reproduce a disclosable record that is necessary to protect the safety of the records, or to prevent the copying of records from being an unreasonable burden to the orderly function of the district and its employees. Additionally, the Superintendent or designee may impose any limit that is necessary to maintain the integrity of, or ensure the long-term preservation of, historic or high-value records. (Government Code 7922.530)

In addition to maintaining public records for public inspection during district office hours, the district may comply with public records requests by posting any public record on the district's website and, in response to a public records request, directing the member of the public to the location on the website where the record can be found. However, if the member of the public is unable to access or reproduce the record from the website, the district shall promptly provide an exact copy of the public record upon payment of duplication fees, if applicable, unless it is impracticable to provide an exact copy. (Government Code 7922.545)

If any person requests that a public record be provided in an electronic format, the district shall¹¹

make that record available in any electronic format in which it holds the information. The district shall provide a copy of the electronic record in the format requested as long as the requested format is one that has been used by the district to create copies for its own use or for use by other agencies. (Government Code 7922.570)

The cost of duplicating an electronic record shall be limited to the direct cost of producing a copy of the record in electronic format. However, the requester shall bear the cost of producing the copy of the electronic record, including the cost to construct the record and the cost of programming and computer services necessary to produce the copy, under the following circumstances: (Government Code 7922.575)

1. The electronic record is one that is produced only at otherwise regularly scheduled intervals.
2. The request would require data compilation, extraction, or programming to produce the record.

Assistance in Identifying Requested Records

If the Superintendent or designee denies a request for disclosable records, the requester shall be assisted in making a focused and effective request that reasonably describes an identifiable record. To the extent reasonable under the circumstances, the Superintendent or designee shall do all of the following: (Government Code 7922.600)

1. Assist in identifying records and information responsive to the request or the purpose of the request, if specified

If, after making a reasonable effort to elicit additional clarifying information from the requester to help identify the record, the Superintendent or designee is still unable to identify the information, this requirement shall be deemed satisfied.

2. Describe the information technology and physical location in which the records exist
3. Provide suggestions for overcoming any practical basis for denying access to the records or information sought

Provisions of the CPRA shall not be construed so as to delay or obstruct the inspection or copying of public records. Any notification denying a request for public records shall state the name and title of each person responsible for the denial. (Government Code 7922.500, 7922.540)

Policy Reference Disclaimer:

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the Governing Board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject matter of the policy.

State

5 CCR 430-438

Description

[Individual student records](#)

CA Constitution Article 1, Section 3

[Right of access to governmental information](#)

Policy 1445: Response To Immigration Enforcement

Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: 01/01/2026 | **Last Reviewed Date:** 01/01/2026

The Governing Board is committed to the success of all students and to providing a safe and welcoming place for students, their families, and staff irrespective of their citizenship or immigration status.

Unless required by state or federal law, required to administer a state or federally supported educational program, or presented with a valid judicial subpoena, judicial warrant, or court order, district staff shall not do any of the following:

1. Solicit or collect information or documents regarding the citizenship or immigration status of a student or the student's family members (Education Code 234.7)
2. Seek or require information or documents, to the exclusion of other permissible information or documents, regarding the citizenship or immigration status of a student or the student's family members (Education Code 234.7)
3. To the extent practicable, disclose or provide in writing, verbally, or in any other manner to an officer or employee of an agency conducting immigration enforcement:
 - a. The education records of or any information about a student or a student's family or household such as personal information as defined in Civil Code 1798.3, information about a student's home, or information about a student's travel schedule without parent/guardian written consent (Education Code 234.7)
 - b. The personnel records of any district employee, personal information of any district employee as defined in Civil Code 1798.3, or any other confidential employee information (Education Code 234.7; Government Code 7285.2)
4. Grant permission to an officer or employee of an agency conducting immigration enforcement to enter a school bus, any other transportation provided by the district, a nonpublic area of any district property or facility, or a nonpublic area where any district-sponsored program or activity is occurring (Education Code 234.7; Government Code 7285.1)

However, district staff shall not obstruct, interfere with, or otherwise impede an officer or employee of an agency conducting immigration enforcement who nonetheless enters district-provided transportation, a nonpublic area of any district property or facility, or a nonpublic area where any district-sponsored program or activity is occurring.

The Superintendent or designee shall report to the Board in a timely manner any requests by an

officer or employee of an agency conducting immigration enforcement for any of the following: (Education Code 234.7)

1. Education records of or any information about a student or a student's family or household
2. Personnel records of any district employee, personal information of any district employee as defined in Civil Code 1798.3, or any other confidential employee information
3. Permission to enter a school bus, any other transportation provided by the district, a nonpublic area of any district property or facility, or a nonpublic area where any district-sponsored program or activity is occurring

Such reports shall be provided in a manner that ensures the confidentiality and privacy of any potentially identifying information. (Education Code 234.7)

In accordance with law, Board Policy 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities, and Board Policy 5145.3 - Nondiscrimination/Harassment, no student shall be denied equal rights and opportunities, nor be subjected to unlawful discrimination, harassment, intimidation, or bullying in the district's programs and activities on the basis of the student's or family's immigration status or for the refusal to provide information related to the student's or family's immigration status. (Education Code 200, 220, 234.1)

Resources and data collected by the district shall not be used, directly or by others, to compile a list, registry, or database of individuals based on national origin, immigration status, religion, or other category of individual characteristics protected against unlawful discrimination. (Government Code 8310.3)

The Superintendent or designee shall provide parents/guardians with information and notifications as specified in Education Code 234.7, including information regarding their children's right to a free public education regardless of immigration status or religious beliefs and their rights related to immigration enforcement.

The Superintendent or designee shall develop procedures for, and may provide training to staff on, interactions with an officer or employee of an agency conducting immigration enforcement, including a request for any of the following:

1. Education records of or any information about a student or a student's family or household
2. Personnel records of any district employee, personal information of any district employee as defined in Civil Code 1798.3, or any other confidential employee information
3. Permission to enter a school bus, any other transportation provided by the district, a nonpublic area of any district property or facility, or a nonpublic area where any district-sponsored program or activity is occurring

Complaints alleging discrimination, harassment, intimidation, and bullying based on actual or perceived immigration status shall be filed in accordance with Board Policy/Administrative Regulation 1312.3 - Uniform Complaint Procedures.

The Superintendent or designee shall provide to the California Department of Education, upon request and in the manner requested, copies of this policy, any associated administrative regulation, and any other Board policies and administrative regulations required by Education Code 234.7.

Policy Reference Disclaimer:

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the Governing Board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject matter of the policy.

State	Description
Civ. Code 1798.3	Information Practices Act of 1977; definitions
Ed. Code 200	Prohibition of discrimination
Ed. Code 200	Equal rights and opportunities in state educational institutions
Ed. Code 234.1	Student protections relating to discrimination, harassment, intimidation, and bullying
Ed. Code 234.7	Student protections relating to immigration and citizenship status
Ed. Code 32282	Comprehensive School Safety Plan
Ed. Code 48204.4	Evidence of residency for school enrollment
Ed. Code 48906	Exception to parent/guardian notifications
Ed. Code 48980	Parent/Guardian notifications
Ed. Code 48985	Notices to parents/guardians in language other than English
Fam. Code 6552	Caregiver's authorization affidavit
Gov. Code 7285-7285.3	Prohibitions on Employer Cooperation with Immigration Enforcement Agents
Gov. Code 8310.3	California Religious Freedom Act
Pen. Code 422.55	Definition of hate crime
Pen. Code 627-627.10	Access to school premises
Federal	Description
20 USC 1232g	Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) of 1974
34 CFR 99.30-99.31	FERPA Regulations
U.S. Constitution, Fourth Amendment	Unreasonable search and seizure

Regulation 1445: Response To Immigration Enforcement

Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: 01/01/2026 | **Last Reviewed Date:** 01/01/2026

Responding to Requests for Information or Documents

Upon receiving any request by an officer or employee of an agency conducting immigration enforcement for information about a student, a student's family or household, or a district employee as described in the accompanying Board policy, district staff shall deny the request, to the extent practicable, unless any of the following apply: (Education Code 234.7; 34 CFR 99.30, 34 CFR 99.31)

1. The request is for student directory information

District staff shall respond to the request in accordance with Board Policy/Administrative Regulation 5125.1 - Release of Directory Information.

2. The district is required to release the records or information by state or federal law, in order to administer a state or federally supported educational program, or due to a valid judicial subpoena, judicial warrant, or court order
3. For records or information about a student or a student's family or household, the parent/guardian has provided written consent unless prohibited by a valid judicial subpoena, judicial warrant, or court order, or in cases involving investigation of child abuse, neglect, or dependency or, if the student is at least 18 years age, the student has provided written consent

Such written consent shall include all of the following: (34 CFR 99.30)

- a. The signature and signature date of the parent/guardian, or student if the student is at least 18 years of age
 - b. A description of the records to be disclosed
 - c. The reason for the release of information
 - d. The parties or class of parties receiving the information
 - e. A copy of the records to be released, if requested by the parent/guardian or student
4. For records or information about a district employee, the employee has provided written consent and the district's human resource department or equivalent has been consulted

Such written consent shall include all of the following:

- a. The signature and signature date of the employee
- b. A description of the records to be disclosed
- c. The reason for the release of information
- d. The parties or class of parties receiving the information
- e. A copy of the records to be released, if requested by the employee

Regardless of whether the district discloses the requested records or information, district staff shall do all of the following when such a request has been received:

1. Make a copy of the request and notify the Superintendent or designee
2. For requests regarding student information, provide the student's parent/guardian, or the student, if the student is at least 18 years of age, with notice, a description of the request, and any documentation provided to the district describing the request, unless prohibited by a valid judicial subpoena, judicial warrant, or court order, or in cases involving investigation of child abuse, neglect, or dependency
3. For requests regarding district employee information, provide the employee with notice, a description of the request, and any documentation provided to the district describing the request, unless prohibited by a valid judicial subpoena, judicial warrant, or court order

In accordance with law and Board Policy 5125 - Student Records, the Superintendent or designee shall annually notify parents/guardians that the district will not release student information to third parties for immigration enforcement purposes, unless the parent/guardian consents or as required to do so by a valid judicial subpoena, judicial warrant or court order.

Responding to Requests for Access to Students or for Access to District-Provided Transportation, Nonpublic Area of District Property or Facility, or Nonpublic Area in which District-Sponsored Activity is Occurring

If an officer or employee of an agency conducting immigration enforcement requests access to a student, such as for purposes of interviewing, searching, or detaining the student, or permission to enter a school bus, any other transportation provided by the district, a nonpublic area of any district property or facility, or a nonpublic area where any district-sponsored program or activity is occurring, district staff shall take the following actions:

1. Advise the officer or employee that before district staff can respond to the request, they must first receive notification and direction from the Superintendent, principal, or designee
2. Request to see and record or otherwise document the officer's or employee's valid identification, including the officer's or employee's name and, if applicable, badge number, the phone number of the officer's or employee's supervisor

3. Request that the officer or employee produce any documentation that authorizes the officer's or employee's request, make copies of all such documentation, and retain at least one copy for district records
4. Contact and consult with the district's legal counsel or Superintendent or designee
5. Follow the direction from the district's legal counsel or Superintendent or designee

For a request to access a student, the district shall deny the request unless any of the following apply: (Education Code 234.7)

1. The officer or employee provides a valid judicial warrant or court order
2. District staff receives parent/guardian consent or, if the student is at least 18 years of age, the student's consent, unless the officer or employee presents a valid judicial warrant or court order that authorizes and directs the district to give such permission without parent/guardian consent or, if the student is at least 18 years of age, the student's consent

Regardless of whether the officer or employee is given access to the student, the student's parent/guardian shall be immediately notified, unless prohibited by a valid judicial warrant or court order, or in cases involving investigations of child abuse, neglect, or dependency. (Education Code 48906)

Additionally, district staff shall notify the Superintendent or designee as early as possible of any request by an officer or employee of an agency conducting immigration enforcement for access to a student. (Education Code 234.7)

For a request for permission to enter a school bus, any other transportation provided by the district, a nonpublic area of any district property or facility, or a nonpublic area where any district-sponsored program or activity is occurring, the district shall deny the request unless any of the following apply: (Education 234.7)

1. The officer or employee provides a valid judicial warrant or court order
2. Permission is required to be granted by state or federal law or in order to administer a state or federally supported educational program
3. The officer or employee is a sworn law enforcement officer, declares that exigent circumstances exist, and demands immediate access

In this situation, district staff shall comply with the officer's or employee's orders and immediately contact the Superintendent or designee and then the district's legal counsel.

An officer or employee of an agency conducting immigration enforcement who, pursuant to this administrative regulation, is granted permission to enter district property or facilities which are not open to all visitors shall first register in accordance with Board Policy 1250 - Visitors/Outsiders, except in cases where the officer or employee is a sworn law enforcement officer and states that exigent circumstances exist. (Penal Code 627.2, 627.3)

The Superintendent or designee shall email the Bureau of Children's Justice in the California Department of Justice (BCJ@doj.ca.gov) regarding any attempt by a law enforcement officer to access a student or a school site for immigration enforcement purposes.

Responding to Immigration Enforcement Activity on District Property

When any officer or employee of an agency conducting immigration enforcement is actually or imminently present on district property, district staff shall notify staff working at the property and, if the district property is a school, the parents/guardians of students at the school in accordance with Board Policy/Administrative Regulation 0450 - Comprehensive Safety Plan.

District staff shall report the presence of any officer or employee of an agency conducting immigration enforcement on district property to district police and other appropriate administrators.

District staff shall not obstruct, interfere with, or otherwise impede, or attempt to obstruct, interfere with, or otherwise impede, any officer or employee of an agency conducting immigration enforcement, even if the officer or employee appears to be acting outside the law or in excess of the stated or documented authorization. If such an officer or employee enters the premises without consent, district staff shall document their actions but only to the extent that documentation does not impede their actions and shall, at all times, obey any direction from such officers or employees.

After all officers and employees of an agency conducting immigration enforcement leave, each district staff member who observed or interacted with them shall promptly provide the following to the district's legal counsel or other district official designated by the Superintendent:

1. Copies of any information and documents collected from the officers or employees such as valid identification, name, badge number, phone number of the officer's or employee's supervisor, and documentation that authorizes the officer's or employee's request
2. The identity of all other district staff known to have communicated with the officers or employee
3. A description of all requests and activities by the officers and employees
4. The type of documentation, such as a warrant or subpoena, that authorized the officer's or employee's request or actions
5. District staff's response to the officer's or employee's request
6. Written notes of any other actions taken by and any other interactions with any officer or employee

Responding to the Detention or Deportation of Student's Parent/Guardian

The Superintendent or designee shall encourage parents/guardians to update their emergency

contact information as needed at any time. The Superintendent or designee shall notify parents/guardians that the district will only use information provided on the emergency cards in response to specific emergency situations and not for any other purpose. (Education Code 234.7)

Additionally, the Superintendent or designee may encourage all students and families to learn their emergency phone numbers and be aware of the location of important documentation, including birth certificates, passports, social security cards, physicians' contact information, medication lists, lists of allergies, and other such information that would allow the students and families to be prepared in the event that a student's parent/guardian is detained or deported.

In the event that a student's parent/guardian is detained or deported, the Superintendent or designee shall release the student to the person(s) designated in the student's emergency contact information or to any individual who presents a caregiver's authorization affidavit on behalf of the student. The Superintendent or designee shall only contact child protective services if district personnel are unable to arrange for the timely care of the student by the person(s) designated in the emergency contact information maintained by the school or identified on a caregiver's authorization affidavit. (Education Code 234.7)

In an instance where a student's parent/guardian was detained or deported, the Superintendent or designee shall notify the student, as well as the individuals designated in the student's emergency contact information and any individual who presented a caregiver's authorization affidavit on behalf of the student, that the student continues to meet the residency requirements for attendance in the district if the student and the student's parent/guardian who was detained or deported satisfy the conditions as specified in Education Code 48204.4.

The Superintendent or designee may refer a student or the student's family members to other resources for assistance, including, but not limited to, an U.S. Immigrant and Customs Enforcement detainee locator, legal assistance, or the consulate or embassy of the parent/guardian's country of origin.

Policy Reference Disclaimer:

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the Governing Board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject matter of the policy.

State

Civ. Code 1798.3

Ed. Code 200

Ed. Code 200

Description

Information Practices Act of 1977; definitions

[Prohibition of discrimination](#)

[Equal rights and opportunities in state educational institutions](#)

Policy 2120: Superintendent Recruitment And Selection

Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: ~~08/25/2009~~07/01/2001 | Last Revised Date: 11/01/2025 | Last
Reviewed Date: ~~08/25/2009~~11/01/2025

The Governing Board ~~of Education~~ recognizes that it ~~has a direct responsibility to select~~is responsible for selecting and ~~employ~~employing the Superintendent. Whenever it becomes necessary for the Board to fill a vacancy in the position of Superintendent, the Board shall work diligently to employ a person whose management and leadership abilities are most closely aligned with district needs.

The Board shall establish and implement a search and selection process that includes consideration of:

1. The district's current and long-term needs, including a review of the district's vision and goals
2. The desired characteristics of a new Superintendent, including professional experience, educational qualifications, leadership characteristics, philosophy of education, and other management, technical, interpersonal and conceptual skills, as well as the priorities the Board wants to place on different abilities, traits and levels of knowledge
3. The scope of the search, including whether to promote from within the district or broaden the search to include both internal and external candidates and, if external candidates will be considered, whether to conduct a statewide or nationwide search
4. The salary range and benefits to be offered
5. Basic elements to be included in the Superintendent's contract
6. Whether to hire a professional adviser to facilitate the hiring and contract negotiation process and to ensure that verifications of the candidates' qualifications are obtained
7. How and when to involve the community in certain phases of the selection process
- ~~8. The best methods for advertising the vacancy and recruiting qualified candidates~~
-
- ~~9.8.~~ The process for screening applications and determining how the screener(s) will be selected
- ~~10.~~ Interview questions, processes, and participants
-

~~11.9. _____ How and when candidates' qualifications will be verified through reference checks~~

~~12.10. _____ Other actions necessary to ensure a fair selection process and a smooth transition to new leadership~~

Even if a professional adviser is used to facilitate the process, the Board shall retain the right and responsibility to oversee the process and to review all applications if desired.

The Board shall select candidates to be interviewed based on recommendations of the screener(s) if applicable, and the Board's own assessment of how candidates meet the criteria established by the Board.

The Board shall interview ~~preliminary and final~~ candidates and select a final candidate in closed session ~~and determine the most likely match for the district.~~ (Government Code 54957)

~~The~~

Before offering the position to the selected candidate or making any announcements, Board members may visit that candidate's current place of employment, as appropriate. Pursuant to Board Policy 2121 - Superintendent's Contract, the Board shall discuss and negotiate the Superintendent's contract in closed session, but shall vote to approve the contract in open session. (Government Code 53262, 54957, 54957.6)

The Board shall conduct any superintendent recruitment and selection process in accordance with legal and ethical obligations regarding confidentiality and equal opportunity.

As necessary, the Board may appoint an interim or acting superintendent, to manage the district when there is no permanent superintendent.

The Superintendent shall hold both a valid school administration certificate and a valid teacher's certificate. The Board may waive any credential requirement, but shall not employ a person whose credential has been revoked by the Commission on Teacher Credentialing pursuant to Education Code 44421-44427. ~~(Education Code 35028, 35029, 35029.1)~~ (Education Code 35028, 35029, 35029.1)

The Board shall not employ a person as Superintendent if, within the past five years, the candidate was convicted of any felony involving accepting or giving, or offering to give, any bribe, conflict of interest, the embezzlement of public money, extortion or theft of public money, perjury, or conspiracy to commit any of those crimes arising directly out of their official duties as a public employee. (Government Code 1021.5)

~~Before offering the position to the selected candidate or making any announcements, Board members may visit that candidate's current district, as appropriate, to obtain verification of his/her qualifications.~~

~~The Board shall deliberate in closed session to affirm the selection of the candidate and shall report the selection in open session. (Government Code 54957)~~

~~The Board shall conduct these proceedings in accordance with legal and ethical obligations regarding confidentiality and equal opportunity.~~

~~As necessary, the Board may appoint an interim superintendent to manage the district during the selection process.~~

-

Policy Reference Disclaimer:

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the Governing Board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject matter of the policy.

State	Description
2 CCR 11006-11086	Discrimination in employment
Ed. Code 220	Prohibition of discrimination
Ed. Code 35026	Employment of district superintendent by certain district
Ed. Code 35028	Qualifications for employment
Ed. Code 35029	Waiver of credential requirements
Ed. Code 35029.1	Superintendent credentials
Ed. Code 35031	Term of employment
Ed. Code 44420-44440	Revocation and suspension of credentials
Gov. Code 1021.5	Public employment disqualification
Gov. Code 11135	Prohibition of discrimination
Gov. Code 12900-12996	Fair Employment and Housing Act
Gov. Code 53260-53264	Employment contracts
Gov. Code 54954	Time and place of regular meetings
Gov. Code 54957	Closed session personnel matters
Gov. Code 54957.1	Closed session; public report of action taken
Gov. Code 54957.6	Open session; superintendent contract
Federal	Description

Policy 2120: Superintendent Recruitment And Selection

Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: 08/25/2009 | **Last Revised Date:** | **Last Reviewed Date:**

The Governing Board recognizes that it is responsible for selecting and employing the Superintendent. Whenever it becomes necessary for the Board to fill a vacancy in the position of Superintendent, the Board shall work diligently to employ a person whose management and leadership abilities are most closely aligned with district needs.

The Board shall establish and implement a search and selection process that includes consideration of:

1. The district's current and long-term needs, including a review of the district's vision and goals
2. The desired characteristics of a new Superintendent, including professional experience, educational qualifications, leadership characteristics, philosophy of education, and other management, technical, interpersonal and conceptual skills, as well as the priorities the Board wants to place on different abilities, traits and levels of knowledge
3. The scope of the search, including whether to promote from within the district or broaden the search to include both internal and external candidates and, if external candidates will be considered, whether to conduct a statewide or nationwide search
4. The salary range and benefits to be offered
5. Basic elements to be included in the Superintendent's contract
6. Whether to hire a professional adviser to facilitate the hiring and contract negotiation process and to ensure that verifications of the candidates' qualifications are obtained
7. How and when to involve the community in certain phases of the selection process
8. The process for screening applications and determining how the screener(s) will be selected
9. Interview questions, processes, and participants
10. Other actions necessary to ensure a fair selection process and a smooth transition to new leadership

Even if a professional adviser is used to facilitate the process, the Board shall retain the right and responsibility to oversee the process and to review all applications if desired.

The Board shall select candidates to be interviewed based on recommendations of the screener(s), if applicable, and the Board's own assessment of how candidates meet the criteria established by the Board.

The Board shall interview candidates and select a final candidate in closed session. (Government Code 54957)

Before offering the position to the selected candidate or making any announcements, Board members may visit that candidate's current place of employment, as appropriate.

Pursuant to Board Policy 2121 - Superintendent's Contract, the Board shall discuss and negotiate the Superintendent's contract in closed session, but shall vote to approve the contract in open session. (Government Code 53262, 54957, 54957.6)

The Board shall conduct any superintendent recruitment and selection process in accordance with legal and ethical obligations regarding confidentiality and equal opportunity.

As necessary, the Board may appoint an interim or acting superintendent, to manage the district when there is no permanent superintendent.

The Superintendent shall hold both a valid school administration certificate and a valid teacher's certificate. The Board may waive any credential requirement, but shall not employ a person whose credential has been revoked by the Commission on Teacher Credentialing pursuant to Education Code 44421-44427. (Education Code 35028, 35029, 35029.1)

The Board shall not employ a person as Superintendent if, within the past five years, the candidate was convicted of any felony involving accepting or giving, or offering to give, any bribe, conflict of interest, the embezzlement of public money, extortion or theft of public money, perjury, or conspiracy to commit any of those crimes arising directly out of their official duties as a public employee. (Government Code 1021.5)

Policy Reference Disclaimer:

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the Governing Board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject matter of the policy.

State	Description
2 CCR 11006-11086	Discrimination in employment
Ed. Code 220	Prohibition of discrimination
Ed. Code 35026	Employment of district superintendent by certain district
Ed. Code 35028	Qualifications for employment
Ed. Code 35029	Waiver of credential requirements
Ed. Code 35029.1	Superintendent credentials
Ed. Code 35031	Term of employment
Ed. Code 44420-44440	Revocation and suspension of credentials
Gov. Code 1021.5	Public employment disqualification
Gov. Code 11135	Prohibition of discrimination

Policy 4000: Concepts And Roles

Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: 08/25/2009

The Governing Board of Education recognizes/believes that the academic achievement, personal growth, and well-being of district students, and the success of district ~~students and~~ programs, hinges on effectivedistrict personnel. The Board desires to establish safe and supportive working conditions that will attract and retain staff members who are highly qualified and dedicated to the education and welfare of students.

The Board recognizes that every employee has a role in the district's successful operation. The Board encourages all district employees to express their ideas, concerns, and proposals related to the improvement of working conditions and the total educational program. The district's personnel policies and related regulations shall be designed to ensure a supportive, positive climate and shall be consistent with collective bargaining agreements and in conformance with state and federal law and regulations.

The district's relationship with its collective bargaining units is critical to enhancing organizational effectiveness and improving student outcomes. Whenever possible, it is the intent of the Board that the district communicate and collaborate regularly with the representatives of collective bargaining units to resolve conflict.

As the legal representative of the district in negotiations with employee representatives, the Board shall set goals and guidelines for collective bargaining, and take action on any tentative agreement. Additionally, the Board, in conjunction with the Superintendent, shall select the district's bargaining team, and maintain communications with the negotiating team during the bargaining process, and adopt the negotiated contract.

Terms and conditions of employment which have been negotiated and stated in employee contracts shall have the force of policy. The Board shall hear employee complaints and appeals when such hearings are in accordance with Board policy or negotiated agreements.

The Additionally, the Board shall ~~also~~ adopt wage and salary schedules and shall commit budget funds for staff development so that staff members may continue developing their skills.

The Superintendent has ~~primary~~ responsibility for overseeing ~~the district's/district~~ personnel ~~system~~. To support this effort, the Board shall approve a framework for sound hiring practices. The Superintendent shall nominate all personnel for employment, and the Board shall approve only those persons so recommended. Individuals who approach Board members regarding prospective employment shall be referred to the Superintendent or designee.

The Superintendent or designee shall assign and supervise the work of all employees and shall evaluate their work in accordance with effectiveall applicable collective bargaining agreements and any accountability systems approved by the Board. The Additionally, the Superintendent or

designee~~also~~ shall recommend disciplinary action which the Board may take against employees when warranted pursuant to Board policy, administrative regulations, and/or state or federal law.

~~The Board recognizes that every employee has a stake in the district's successful operation. The Board encourages all district employees to express their ideas, concerns and proposals related to the improvement of working conditions and the total educational program.~~

The Superintendent or designee shall establish procedures whereby ~~he/she~~the Superintendent or designee will receive and consider employee suggestions and submit them, when appropriate, for consideration by the Board.

-

Policy Reference Disclaimer:

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the Governing Board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject matter of the policy.

State

Ed. Code 35020

Description

[Duties of employees fixed by governing board](#)

Ed. Code 35035

[Powers and duties of the superintendent; transfer authority](#)

Ed. Code 35160

[Authority of governing boards](#)

Gov. Code 3540-3549.3

[Educational Employment Relations Act](#)

Management Resources

California Labor Management Initiative Publication

Description

[Resource Guidebook: Building Partnerships to Create Great Public Schools, May 2024](#)

Website

[Californians Dedicated to Education Foundation](#)

Website

[CSBA District and County Office of Education Legal Services](#)

Cross References

Code

4030

Description

~~[Nondiscrimination In Employment](#)~~[Nondiscrimination In Employment](#)

4030

~~[Nondiscrimination In Employment](#)~~[Nondiscrimination In Employment](#)

4111

~~[Recruitment And Selection](#)~~[Recruitment And Selection](#)

4115

~~[Evaluation/Supervision](#)~~[Evaluation/Supervision](#)

4115

~~[Evaluation/Supervision](#)~~[Evaluation/Supervision](#)

Policy 4000: Concepts And Roles

Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: 08/25/2009 | **Last Revised Date:** | **Last Reviewed Date:**

The Governing Board believes that the academic achievement, personal growth, and well-being of district students, and the success of district programs, hinges on district personnel. The Board desires to establish safe and supportive working conditions that will attract and retain staff members who are highly qualified and dedicated to the education and welfare of students.

The Board recognizes that every employee has a role in the district's successful operation. The Board encourages all district employees to express their ideas, concerns, and proposals related to the improvement of working conditions and the total educational program. The district's personnel policies and related regulations shall be designed to ensure a supportive, positive climate and shall be consistent with collective bargaining agreements and in conformance with state and federal law and regulations.

The district's relationship with its collective bargaining units is critical to enhancing organizational effectiveness and improving student outcomes. Whenever possible, it is the intent of the Board that the district communicate and collaborate regularly with the representatives of collective bargaining units to resolve conflict.

As the legal representative of the district in negotiations with employee representatives, the Board shall set goals and guidelines for collective bargaining and take action on any tentative agreement. Additionally, the Board, in conjunction with the Superintendent, shall select the district's bargaining team and maintain communications with the negotiating team during the bargaining process.

Terms and conditions of employment which have been negotiated and stated in employee contracts shall have the force of policy. The Board shall hear employee complaints and appeals when such hearings are in accordance with Board policy or negotiated agreements. Additionally, the Board shall adopt wage and salary schedules and shall commit budget funds for staff development so that staff members may continue developing their skills.

The Superintendent has responsibility for overseeing district personnel. To support this effort, the Board shall approve a framework for sound hiring practices. The Superintendent shall nominate all personnel for employment, and the Board shall approve only those persons so recommended. Individuals who approach Board members regarding prospective employment shall be referred to the Superintendent or designee.

The Superintendent or designee shall assign and supervise the work of all employees and shall evaluate their work in accordance with all applicable collective bargaining agreements and any accountability systems approved by the Board. Additionally, the Superintendent or designee shall recommend disciplinary action which the Board may take against employees when warranted pursuant to Board policy, administrative regulations, and/or state or federal law.

The Board recognizes that every employee has a stake in the district's successful operation. The Board encourages all district employees to express their ideas, concerns and proposals related to the improvement of working conditions and the total educational program.

The Superintendent or designee shall establish procedures whereby the Superintendent or designee will receive and consider employee suggestions and submit them, when appropriate, for consideration by the Board.

Policy Reference Disclaimer:

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the Governing Board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject matter of the policy.

State	Description
Ed. Code 35020	Duties of employees fixed by governing board
Ed. Code 35035	Powers and duties of the superintendent; transfer authority
Ed. Code 35160	Authority of governing boards
Gov. Code 3540-3549.3	Educational Employment Relations Act
Management Resources	Description
California Labor Management Initiative Publication	Resource Guidebook: Building Partnerships to Create Great Public Schools, May 2024
Website	Californians Dedicated to Education Foundation
Website	CSBA District and County Office of Education Legal Services

Cross References

Code	Description
4030	Nondiscrimination In Employment
4030	Nondiscrimination In Employment
4111	Recruitment And Selection
4115	Evaluation/Supervision
4115	Evaluation/Supervision
4118	Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action
4118	Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action
4131	Staff Development
4141	Collective Bargaining Agreement

Policy 5000: Concepts And Roles

Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: ~~12/10/1996~~05/01/1985 | Last Revised Date: ~~08/25/2009~~11/01/2025 |
Last Reviewed Date: 11/01/2025

The Governing Board of Education shall make every effort to maintain a safe, school environment and positive school environment and student services climate that promote promotes student welfare and academic achievement. The Additionally, the Board recognizes that student services offered by the district play an integral role in the academic achievement and emotional well-being of district students. In addition, the Board expects students to make good use of engage in learning opportunities offered by the district by demonstrating regular attendance, and completing assigned work in a timely and diligent manner, while maintaining appropriate conduct and respect for others.

The Board recognizes that students and staff have the right to a safe and secure campus where they are free from physical and psychological harm. The Board is fully committed to maximizing school safety and to creating a positive learning environment that includes strategies for violence prevention and has high expectations for staff and student conduct, responsible behavior, and respect for others, in accordance with Board Policy 0450 - Comprehensive Safety Plan.

The Board is fully committed to providing equal educational opportunities and keeping ~~the~~ maintaining schools that are free from discriminatory practices discrimination. The Board shall not tolerate the intimidation or harassment of any student for any reason.

, including discriminatory harassment, intimidation, and/or bullying, in accordance with Board Policy 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities and Board Policy/Administrative Regulation 5145.3 - Nondiscrimination/Harassment.

The Superintendent or designee shall establish and keep inform parents/guardians and students well informed about school and district rules and regulations related to attendance, health examinations, records, grades, and student conduct. When conducting hearings related to discipline, attendance, and other student matters, the Board shall afford students their due process rights in accordance with law: and applicable Board policies and administrative regulations.

Policy Reference Disclaimer:

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the Governing Board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject matter of the policy.

State

Description

Policy 5000: Concepts And Roles

Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: 12/10/1996 | **Last Reviewed Date:** | **Last Revised Date:**

The Governing Board desires to create a safe school environment and positive school climate that promotes student welfare and academic achievement. Additionally, the Board recognizes that student services offered by the district play an integral role in the academic achievement and emotional well-being of district students. In addition, the Board expects students to engage in learning opportunities offered by the district by demonstrating regular attendance and completing assigned work in a timely and diligent manner, while maintaining appropriate conduct and respect for others.

The Board recognizes that students and staff have the right to a safe and secure campus where they are free from physical and psychological harm. The Board is fully committed to maximizing school safety and to creating a positive learning environment that includes strategies for violence prevention and has high expectations for staff and student conduct, responsible behavior, and respect for others, in accordance with Board Policy 0450 - Comprehensive Safety Plan.

The Board is fully committed to providing equal educational opportunities and maintaining schools that are free from discrimination. The Board shall not tolerate the intimidation or harassment of any student for any reason, including discriminatory harassment, intimidation, and/or bullying, in accordance with Board Policy 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities and Board Policy/Administrative Regulation 5145.3 - Nondiscrimination/Harassment.

The Superintendent or designee shall establish and inform parents/guardians and students about school and district rules and regulations related to attendance, health examinations, records, grades, and student conduct. When conducting hearings related to discipline, attendance, and other student matters, the Board shall afford students their due process rights in accordance with law and applicable Board policies and administrative regulations.

Policy Reference Disclaimer:

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the Governing Board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject matter of the policy.

State

Description

CA Constitution Article I, Section 28 Declaration of rights

Ed. Code 35160

[Authority of governing boards](#)

Ed. Code 35160.1

[Broad authority of school districts](#)

Ed. Code 35291-35291.5

[Rules](#)

Management Resources

Description

Policy 5020: Parent Rights And Responsibilities

Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: ~~03/25/2003~~02/01/1999 | Last Revised Date: ~~08/25/2009~~11/01/2025 |
Last Reviewed Date: 11/01/2025

The Governing ~~Board of Education~~ recognizes that parents/guardians of district students have certain rights as well as responsibilities related to the education of their children.

The Board believes that the ~~education of the~~ district's students relationship with parents/guardians is ~~a shared responsibility~~one of mutual support and respect. The Superintendent or designee shall work with parents/guardians, including parents/guardians of English learners, to determine appropriate roles and responsibilities of parents/guardians, ~~school staff and students~~ for continuing the intellectual, physical, emotional, and social development and well-being of their students ~~at each school site~~, including the means by which the ~~schools~~district and parents/guardians can help their students achieve academic and other standards of the ~~school~~.

district.

Within this framework, the ~~school's~~district's primary responsibility shall be to provide a high-quality curriculum and instructional program in a supportive and effective learning environment that enables all students to meet the academic expectations of the ~~school~~.

district.

Parents/guardians shall have the opportunity to work with schools in a mutually supportive and respectful partnership and to help their children succeed in school. (Education Code 51100)

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that district staff understand the rights of parents/guardians afforded by law ~~and~~, Board policy, and administrative regulation, and follow acceptable practices that respect those rights.

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that parents/guardians receive notification regarding their rights ~~in accordance with law~~.

, including, but not limited to, their rights in accordance with 20 USC 1232g and 34 CFR 99.1-99.8, the federal Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA), and as specified in Board Policy/Exhibit (1) 5145.6 - Parent/Guardian Notifications.

When required by law, Board policy, or administrative regulation, the district shall notify parents/guardians that they may request to opt their student out of certain instruction. Students for whom the district has approved the opt out shall be offered an alternative activity of similar educational value.

The Superintendent or designee shall take all reasonable steps to ensure that all parents/guardians who speak a language other than English are properly notified in English, and in their home language, of the rights and opportunities available to them pursuant to Education Code 48985. (Education Code 51101.1)

The Superintendent or designee may establish a parent center at a school with a substantial number of students with a home language other than English, to encourage parent/guardian understanding of, and participation in, their children's educational programs. (Education Code 51101.1)

-

Policy Reference Disclaimer:

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the Governing Board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject matter of the policy.

State

Description

Ed. Code 220.3

Prohibition of requiring employee or contractor to disclose information related to student's sexual orientation, gender identity, or gender expression

Ed. Code 243

Refusal of approval or prohibition of instructional materials

Ed. Code 33126

[School accountability report card](#)

Ed. Code 35291

[Rules](#)

Ed. Code 48070.5

[Promotion and retention of students](#)

Ed. Code 48985

[Notices to parents/guardian in language other than English](#)

Ed. Code 49091.10-49091.19

[Parental review of curriculum and instruction](#)

Ed. Code 49602

[Counseling and confidentiality of student information](#)

Ed. Code 51100-51140

[Parent/guardian rights](#)

Ed. Code 51204.5

History of California; contributions of people of all genders, ethnic, and cultural groups to development of state and nation

Ed. Code 51240

Excuse from health instruction due to conflicts with religious beliefs

Policy 5020: Parent Rights And Responsibilities

Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: 03/25/2003 | **Last Review Date:** | **Last Revised Date:**

The Governing Board recognizes that parents/guardians of district students have certain rights as well as responsibilities related to the education of their children.

The Board believes that the district's relationship with parents/guardians is one of mutual support and respect. The Superintendent or designee shall work with parents/guardians, including parents/guardians of English learners, to determine appropriate roles and responsibilities of parents/guardians for continuing the intellectual, physical, emotional, and social development and well-being of their students, including the means by which the district and parents/guardians can help their students achieve academic and other standards of the district.

Within this framework, the district's primary responsibility shall be to provide a high-quality curriculum and instructional program in a supportive and effective learning environment that enables all students to meet the academic expectations of the district.

Parents/guardians shall have the opportunity to work with schools in a mutually supportive and respectful partnership and to help their children succeed in school. (Education Code 51100)

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that district staff understand the rights of parents/guardians afforded by law, Board policy, and administrative regulation, and follow acceptable practices that respect those rights.

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that parents/guardians receive notification regarding their rights, including, but not limited to, their rights in accordance with 20 USC 1232g and 34 CFR 99.1-99.8, the federal Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA), and as specified in Board Policy/Exhibit (1) 5145.6 - Parent/Guardian Notifications.

When required by law, Board policy, or administrative regulation, the district shall notify parents/guardians that they may request to opt their student out of certain instruction. Students for whom the district has approved the opt out shall be offered an alternative activity of similar educational value.

The Superintendent or designee shall take all reasonable steps to ensure that all parents/guardians who speak a language other than English are properly notified in English, and in their home language, of the rights and opportunities available to them pursuant to Education Code 48985. (Education Code 51101.1)

The Superintendent or designee may establish a parent center at a school with a substantial number

of students with a home language other than English, to encourage parent/guardian understanding of, and participation in, their children's educational programs. (Education Code 51101.1)

Policy Reference Disclaimer:

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the Governing Board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject matter of the policy.

State	Description
Ed. Code 220.3	Prohibition of requiring employee or contractor to disclose information related to student's sexual orientation, gender identity, or gender expression
Ed. Code 243	Refusal of approval or prohibition of instructional materials
Ed. Code 33126	School accountability report card
Ed. Code 35291	Rules
Ed. Code 48070.5	Promotion and retention of students
Ed. Code 48985	Notices to parents/guardian in language other than English
Ed. Code 49091.10-49091.19	Parental review of curriculum and instruction
Ed. Code 49602	Counseling and confidentiality of student information
Ed. Code 51100-51140	Parent/guardian rights
Ed. Code 51204.5	History of California; contributions of people of all genders, ethnic, and cultural groups to development of state and nation
Ed. Code 51240	Excuse from health instruction due to conflicts with religious beliefs
Ed. Code 51501	Prohibited means of instruction; continued use of appropriately adopted materials
Ed. Code 51513	Personal beliefs
Ed. Code 51930-51939	California Healthy Youth Act
Ed. Code 60510	Disposal of surplus instructional materials
Federal	Description
20 USC 1232g	Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) of 1974
20 USC 1232h	Privacy rights

Policy 5113.12: District School Attendance Review Board

Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: | Last Revised Date: | Last Reviewed Date:

The Governing Board recognizes that poor school attendance and behavior problems negatively impact student learning and achievement and put students at greater risk of dropping out of school. The Superintendent or designee shall establish a comprehensive and integrated system for the early identification of attendance problems and shall implement strategies to encourage students' attendance. After other interventions have been exhausted, students with a pattern of unexcused absences may be referred to a school attendance review board (SARB), in accordance with applicable law, in order to receive intensive guidance and assistance.

The SARB shall maintain a continuing inventory of community resources, including alternative educational programs.

The Superintendent or designee shall collaborate with the SARB and appropriate community agencies, including, but not limited to, law enforcement agencies, child welfare agencies, and health services, to provide school-based and/or community-based interventions tailored to the specific needs of the student.

The Board shall appoint members to the district's SARB, who may include a parent/guardian, as well as representatives of various agencies including, but not limited to, school districts; the county probation department; the county welfare department; the County Superintendent of Schools; law enforcement agencies; community-based youth service centers; school guidance personnel; child welfare and attendance personnel; school or county health care personnel; school, county, or community mental health personnel; the county district attorney's office; and the county public defender's office. (Education Code 48321)

Each SARB shall, at least annually, consult with students who reflect the diversity of all the schools that are served by the SARB for the purpose of soliciting input that will assist SARB members in gaining a better understanding of, and proposing interventions for, student attendance and behavioral challenges. (Education Code 48321)

The district's SARB shall provide support to improve student attendance and behavior through proactive efforts focused on building positive school environments and improved school connectedness, early identification and immediate intervention to re-engage students with poor attendance or behavior, and intensive intervention with students and families to address severe or persistent attendance or behavior issues.

The district's SARB shall operate in accordance with Board Bylaw 9320 - Meetings and Notices, Board Bylaw 9321 - Closed Session, and Board Bylaw 9322 - Agenda/Meeting Materials; Education Code 48320-48325; applicable rules and regulations of the County Office of Education's SARB; and the Ralph M. Brown Act (open meeting requirements).

The SARB shall collect data and annually report outcomes on SARB referrals to the Board, Superintendent or designee, and County Superintendent. (Education Code 48273)

Policy Reference Disclaimer:

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the Governing Board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject matter of the policy.

State	Description
5 CCR 306	<u>Explanation of absence</u>
5 CCR 420-424	<u>Record of verification of absence due to illness and other causes</u>
Code of Civil Procedure 1985-1997	<u>Production of evidence; means of production</u>
Ed. Code 1740	<u>Employment of personnel to supervise attendance</u>
Ed. Code 1980-1986	<u>County community school</u>
Ed. Code 46010-46015	<u>Absences</u>
Ed. Code 48200-48208	<u>Children ages 6-18; compulsory full-time attendance</u>
Ed. Code 48240-48246	<u>Supervisors of attendance</u>
Ed. Code 48260-48273	<u>Truants</u>
Ed. Code 48290-48297	<u>Failure to comply; complaints against parents</u>
Ed. Code 48320-48325	<u>School attendance review boards</u>
Ed. Code 48340-48341	<u>Improvement of student attendance</u>
Ed. Code 48400-48403	<u>Compulsory continuation education</u>
Ed. Code 48660-48666	<u>Community day schools</u>
Ed. Code 49067	<u>Unexcused absences as cause of failing grade</u>
Gov. Code 54950-54963	<u>The Ralph M. Brown Act</u>
Pen. Code 270.1	<u>Chronic truancy; parent/guardian misdemeanor</u>
Pen. Code 272	<u>Parent/guardian duty to supervise and control minor child; criminal liability for truancy</u>
Pen. Code 830.1	<u>Peace officers</u>
Veh. Code 13202.7	Driving privileges; minors; suspension or delay for habitual truancy
W&I Code 11253.5	<u>Compulsory school attendance; eligibility for aid</u>

Regulation 5113.12: District School Attendance Review Board

Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: | Last Revised Date: | Last Reviewed Date:

Upon receiving a referral of a student with attendance and/or behavior problems, a designated member of the school attendance review board (SARB) shall review the case and may meet with school personnel to determine whether the school has provided sufficient information about the student's attendance record or behavior. If the referral is complete and is an appropriate matter for the SARB to consider, the SARB chairperson shall provide written notification to the student's parents/guardians stating the reasons a referral has been made, explaining the SARB process, advising whether additional information is needed, and describing school-level interventions that have previously been attempted.

The SARB shall meet with the student and the student's parents/guardians, give them an opportunity to present their understanding of the problem, and discuss the school and/or community resources appropriate for the student's circumstances.

In accordance with Board Bylaw 9321 - Closed Session, any SARB meeting to consider matters related to an individual student shall be held in closed session unless the parent/guardian requests, in writing, that the meeting be held in open session.

The SARB shall have access to relevant student records, but shall not provide access to others without written consent of the student's parent/guardian. (Education Code 49076)

For the limited purpose of making a proper disposition of the referral of a student, the SARB may issue subpoenas pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure 1985-1997, or may request the juvenile court to issue subpoenas to require the attendance of the student, parents/guardians or other person having control of the student, the school authority referring the student, or any other person who has pertinent or material information concerning the matter. The SARB shall not issue any subpoena that includes a request for production of written materials, but may request a juvenile court to issue such subpoena for the production of written materials. (Education Code 48263, 48321.5)

The SARB shall issue written directives stating the responsibilities of all persons involved, detailed resource referrals, and follow-up dates for the school's reports on the student's progress. The written directives shall include an agreement that the student will attend school or improve classroom behavior as applicable, and shall be signed by the student, the student's parents/guardians, the SARB chairperson, and the Superintendent or designee.

When referred by the SARB, a student may be assigned to a community day school or a county community school. (Education Code 1981, 48662)

At any time it deems proper, the SARB may require the student or the student's parents/guardians to furnish satisfactory evidence of participation in any available community services that the student or parents/guardians have been directed to use. (Education Code 48263)

Based on progress reports submitted by the school, the SARB may terminate the agreement upon the successful completion of the terms of the agreement, extend the time for completion of the agreement, or schedule another meeting with the student and the student's parents/guardians.

If the student's attendance or behavior problems cannot be resolved by the SARB, or if the student and/or the student's parents/guardians continually and willfully fail to respond to SARB directives or the services provided, the student or parents/guardians shall be referred to the appropriate agency, including law enforcement agencies when necessary. (Education Code 48263, 48290-48291)

Policy Reference Disclaimer:

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the Governing Board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject matter of the policy.

State	Description
5 CCR 306	<u>Explanation of absence</u>
5 CCR 420-424	<u>Record of verification of absence due to illness and other causes</u>
Code of Civil Procedure 1985-1997	<u>Production of evidence; means of production</u>
Ed. Code 1740	<u>Employment of personnel to supervise attendance</u>
Ed. Code 1980-1986	<u>County community school</u>
Ed. Code 46010-46015	<u>Absences</u>
Ed. Code 48200-48208	<u>Children ages 6-18; compulsory full-time attendance</u>
Ed. Code 48240-48246	<u>Supervisors of attendance</u>
Ed. Code 48260-48273	<u>Truants</u>
Ed. Code 48290-48297	<u>Failure to comply; complaints against parents</u>
Ed. Code 48320-48325	<u>School attendance review boards</u>
Ed. Code 48340-48341	<u>Improvement of student attendance</u>
Ed. Code 48400-48403	<u>Compulsory continuation education</u>
Ed. Code 48660-48666	<u>Community day schools</u>
Ed. Code 49067	<u>Unexcused absences as cause of failing grade</u>
Gov. Code 54950-54963	<u>The Ralph M. Brown Act</u>
Pen. Code 270.1	<u>Chronic truancy; parent/guardian misdemeanor</u>
Pen. Code 272	<u>Parent/guardian duty to supervise and control minor child; criminal liability for truancy</u>

Policy 5113.2: Work Permits

Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: ~~08/25/2009~~06/01/1995 | Last Revised Date: ~~05/11/2021~~09/01/2025 |
Last Reviewed Date: ~~05/11/2021~~09/01/2025

The Governing Board recognizes that part-time employment can provide students with income, job experience, and valuable life skills and should be permitted to the extent that such employment does not interfere with a student's education.— Before accepting any offer of employment, district students who are minors shall obtain work permits from the Superintendent or designee, regardless of whether the employment will occur when school is in session ~~and/or not in session~~, unless otherwise exempted by law.

Students with work permits shall be exempted from attendance in a full-time day school provided they attend part-time classes. (Education Code 48230)

In determining whether to grant or continue a work permit, the Superintendent or designee shall consider whether employment is likely to significantly interfere with the student's schoolwork. Students granted work permits shall be required to demonstrate and maintain a 2.0 grade point average and satisfactory school attendance, except during periods of extended school closure due to an emergency as described in Education Code 49200 and the accompanying administrative regulation. —On a case-by-case basis, the Superintendent or designee may approve a maximum work hour limit that is lower than the limit specified in law and administrative regulation.

~~Students with work permits may be exempted from attendance in a full-time day school provided they attend part-time classes. (Education Code 48230)~~

Work permits shall be limited to part-time employment as defined by law, except when the Superintendent or designee determines that circumstances warrant the granting of a permit for full-time employment.

Any student authorized to work full time when school is in session shall be enrolled in part-time continuation classes. ~~—Additionally, a~~ student ~~age~~-14 or 15 years of age who receives a permit to work full time shall also be enrolled in a work experience education program.— (Education Code 49130, 49131, 49135)

—

Policy Reference Disclaimer:

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the Governing Board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject matter of the policy.

Policy 5113.2: Work Permits

Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: 08/25/2009 | **Last Revised Date:** | **Last Reviewed Date:**

The Governing Board recognizes that part-time employment can provide students with income, job experience, and valuable life skills and should be permitted to the extent that such employment does not interfere with a student's education. Before accepting any offer of employment, district students who are minors shall obtain work permits from the Superintendent or designee, regardless of whether the employment will occur when school is in session, unless otherwise exempted by law.

Students with work permits shall be exempted from attendance in a full-time day school provided they attend part-time classes. (Education Code 48230)

In determining whether to grant or continue a work permit, the Superintendent or designee shall consider whether employment is likely to significantly interfere with the student's schoolwork. Students granted work permits shall be required to demonstrate and maintain a 2.0 grade point average and satisfactory school attendance, except during periods of extended school closure due to an emergency as described in Education Code 49200 and the accompanying administrative regulation. On a case-by-case basis, the Superintendent or designee may approve a maximum work hour limit that is lower than the limit specified in law and administrative regulation.

Work permits shall be limited to part-time employment as defined by law, except when the Superintendent or designee determines that circumstances warrant the granting of a permit for full-time employment.

Any student authorized to work full time when school is in session shall be enrolled in part-time continuation classes. Additionally, a student 14 or 15 years of age who receives a permit to work full time shall also be enrolled in a work experience education program. (Education Code 49130, 49131, 49135)

Policy Reference Disclaimer:

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the Governing Board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject matter of the policy.

State	Description
5 CCR 10120-10121	<u>Work permits</u>
5 CCR 16023-16027	<u>District records; retention and destruction</u>
8 CCR 11701-11707	<u>Prohibited and dangerous occupations for minors</u>
8 CCR 11750-11763	<u>Work permits and conditions; minor employed in entertainment industry</u>

Policy 5117: Interdistrict Attendance

Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: ~~08/25/2009~~12/01/2015 | Last Revised Date: ~~10/24/2023~~11/01/2025 |
Last Reviewed Date: ~~10/24/2023~~11/01/2025

The Governing Board recognizes that parents/guardians of students who reside within the geographic boundaries of one district may, for a variety of reasons, desire to enroll their children in a school in another district.

Student transfers into and out of the district shall be in accordance with law and as specified in this policy and accompanying administrative regulation.

OPTION 1: Interdistrict Attendance Agreements and Permits

The ~~Board~~district may enter into an agreement with any other school district, for a term not to exceed five school years, for the interdistrict attendance of students who are residents of ~~the districts. either district.~~ (Education Code 46600)

The agreement shall specify the terms and conditions under which interdistrict attendance shall be permitted or denied. ~~It also~~Additionally, it may contain standards agreed upon by both districts for reapplication and/or revocation of the student's permit. ~~(Education Code 46600)~~

~~Upon receiving a permit for transfer into the district that has been approved by the student's district of residence, or upon receiving a written request from the parent/guardian of a district student who wishes to enroll in another district, the Superintendent or designee shall review the request and may approve or deny the permit subject to the terms and conditions of the interdistrict attendance agreement.~~

~~Transportation~~ (Education Code 46600)

When the request of a student seeking to transfer out of the district, or an individual permit verifying another district's approval for its student to transfer into the district, is received, the Superintendent or designee shall review, and approve or deny the request or permit based on the terms and conditions of the interdistrict attendance agreement.

OPTION 1 ENDS HERE

OPTION 2: School District of Choice Program

The district has registered as a "school district of choice" in accordance with Education Code 48301.

The Board shall, by resolution, annually establish the number of students that will be accepted into the district through this program based on recommendations by the Superintendent or designee. Once established, the district shall accept all students who apply to transfer into the district until the district is at maximum capacity, as required pursuant to Education Code 48301.

Student transfer requests into the district shall be considered through an unbiased process that prohibits an inquiry into or evaluation or consideration of whether a student should be enrolled based upon the student's academic or athletic performance, physical condition, proficiency in English, any of the individual characteristics set forth in Education Code 200, or family income. (Education Code 48301)

If the number of transfer applications exceeds the number of transfers the Board has elected to accept, approval for transfer shall be determined by a random drawing held in public at a regularly scheduled Board meeting. (Education Code 48301)

Because the district admits students in accordance with the school district of choice program, the Superintendent or designee shall not approve a student's transfer into the district based on an individual interdistrict attendance permit, pursuant to Education Code 46600-46610, except under extraordinary circumstances.

The Superintendent or designee shall keep an accounting of all requests for transfer through the school district of choice program and a record of their disposition, including, but not limited to, all of the following: (Education Code 48313)

1. The number of requests granted, denied, or withdrawn and, for denied requests, the reason for the denial
2. The number of students transferred into and out of the district pursuant to this program
3. The race, ethnicity, gender, self-reported socioeconomic status, eligibility for free or reduced-price meals, foster youth status, student experiencing homelessness status, and the district of residence for each student transferred into or out of the district pursuant to this program
4. The number of students transferred into or out of the district pursuant to this program who are classified as English learners or students with disabilities
5. As applicable, the number of students described in Items #3 and 4 above who are provided transportation assistance to a district school or program, and the total number of students provided transportation assistance, pursuant to the school district of choice program

The information specified in Items #1-5 above shall be reported to the Board at a regularly scheduled meeting. No later than October 15 of each year, the Superintendent or designee shall provide the same information for the current school year, as well as information regarding the

district's status as a school district of choice in the upcoming school year, to each geographically adjacent school district, the county office of education, and the Superintendent of Public Instruction. (Education Code 48313)

The district's compliance with all school district of choice program requirements shall be reviewed as part of the annual district audit conducted pursuant to Education Code 41020. (Education Code 48301)

OPTION 2 ENDS HERE

Instruction Collaboration Agreements

The district may, with Board approval, enter into an instruction collaboration agreement (ICA) with another school district, county office of education, or charter school for the district to offer the same or similar courses and coursework to students from another school district, county office of education, or charter school who have been impacted by any of the following: (Education Code 48345)

1. Disruptions or cancellations in science, technology, engineering, and mathematics (STEM) classes
2. Disruptions or cancellations in dual language immersion programs
3. Teacher shortages in STEM classes or dual language immersion programs

Prior to accepting students for classes for any of the reasons specified in Items #1-3 above, the Superintendent or designee shall, with Board approval, determine the maximum number of students that the district can accept for these purposes. The district shall accept students who apply until the district is at maximum capacity.

Students shall be transferred to this program through an unbiased process that prohibits an inquiry into, or evaluation or consideration of, whether a student should be authorized to participate in the course or coursework based upon the student's current academic or athletic performance, proficiency in English, physical condition, any of the individual characteristics specified in Education Code 200, or family income. If the number of applicants exceeds the number of seats available, the approval for participation shall be determined by a random public drawing at a regularly scheduled Board meeting. (Education Code 48345)

The Superintendent or designee shall publicly post information, including, but not limited to, applicable forms and timelines for submission pursuant to the ICA, to ensure that students and their families are aware of the opportunities to participate. (Education Code 48345)

When negotiating the ICA, the Superintendent or designee shall collaborate with the other participating local educational agencies to agree upon an appropriate shared cost structure. (Education Code 48345)

Transportation

Upon parent/guardian request, the district shall provide transportation assistance to a student receiving an interdistrict transfer who is eligible for free and reduced-price meals and is the child of an active duty military parent/guardian or a victim of bullying, as defined in Education Code 46600. (Education Code 46600)

~~In addition~~ Additionally, upon request of a student's parent/guardian, the Superintendent or designee may authorize transportation for any interdistrict transfer student to and from designated bus stops within the attendance area of the school that the student attends, if space is available.

-

-

Policy Reference Disclaimer:

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the Governing Board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject matter of the policy.

State

CA Constitution Article 1, Section 31

Description

[Nondiscrimination on the basis of race, sex, color, ethnicity, or national origin](#)

Ed. Code 200

Educational equity

Ed. Code 41020

[Requirement for annual audit](#)

Ed. Code 46600-46611

Interdistrict attendance agreements

Ed. Code 48204

[Residency requirements for school attendance](#)

Ed. Code 48300-48317

[Student attendance alternatives; school district of choice program](#)

Ed. Code 48900

[Grounds for suspension or expulsion](#)

Ed. Code 48915

[Expulsion; particular circumstances](#)

Ed. Code 48915.1

[Expelled individuals; enrollment in another district](#)

Ed. Code 48918

[Rules governing expulsion procedures](#)

Ed. Code 48980

[Parent/Guardian notifications](#)

Ed. Code 48985

[Notices to parents/guardian in language other than English](#)

Ed. Code 52317

[Regional Occupational Center/Program; enrollment of students; interdistrict attendance](#)

Ed. Code 8151

[Apprentices; exemption from interdistrict attendance agreement](#)

Policy 5117: Interdistrict Attendance

Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: 08/25/2009 | **Last Revised Date:** | **Last Reviewed Date:**

The Governing Board recognizes that parents/guardians of students who reside within the geographic boundaries of one district may, for a variety of reasons, desire to enroll their children in a school in another district. Student transfers into and out of the district shall be in accordance with law and as specified in this policy and accompanying administrative regulation.

OPTION 1: Interdistrict Attendance Agreements and Permits

The district may enter into an agreement with any other school district, for a term not to exceed five school years, for the interdistrict attendance of students who are residents of either district. (Education Code 46600)

The agreement shall specify the terms and conditions under which interdistrict attendance shall be permitted or denied. Additionally, it may contain standards agreed upon by both districts for reapplication and/or revocation of the student's permit. (Education Code 46600)

When the request of a student seeking to transfer out of the district, or an individual permit verifying another district's approval for its student to transfer into the district, is received, the Superintendent or designee shall review, and approve or deny the request or permit based on the terms and conditions of the interdistrict attendance agreement.

OPTION 1 ENDS HERE

Transportation

Upon parent/guardian request, the district shall provide transportation assistance to a student receiving an interdistrict transfer who is eligible for free and reduced-price meals and is the child of an active duty military parent/guardian or a victim of bullying, as defined in Education Code 46600. (Education Code 46600)

Additionally, upon request of a student's parent/guardian, the Superintendent or designee may authorize transportation for any interdistrict transfer student to and from designated bus stops within the attendance area of the school that the student attends, if space is available.

Policy Reference Disclaimer:

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the Governing Board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject matter of the policy.

Policy 5125: Student Records

Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: 01/23/2001 | **Last Revised Date:** 06/10/2025 | **Last Reviewed Date:** 06/10/2025

The Governing Board recognizes the importance of keeping accurate, comprehensive student records as required by law. The Superintendent or designee shall establish administrative regulations governing the identification, collection, retention, disclosure and security of student records. These regulations shall ensure the rights of authorized persons to have timely access to student records while maintaining the confidentiality of student records in accordance with state and federal law.

The Superintendent or designee shall designate a certificated employee to serve as custodian of records with responsibility for student records at the district level. At each school, the principal or a certificated employee shall be designated as custodian of records for students enrolled at that school. The custodian of records shall be responsible for implementing Board policy and administrative regulation regarding student records. (5 CCR 431)

If student records containing covered information which is not subject to the California Consumer Privacy Act are under the control of the operator of a website, online service or application, or mobile application, and the student's parent/guardian or the student, if 18 years of age or older, requests deletion of such records, the Superintendent or designee shall provide documentation to the operator that the student has not been enrolled in the district for at least 60 days. (Business and Professions Code 22584)

All appropriate personnel shall receive training regarding district policies and procedures for gathering and handling sensitive student information, including which information should not be solicited.

The district shall not collect or solicit social security numbers or the last four digits of social security numbers of students or their parents/guardians, unless otherwise required to do so by state or federal law. (Education Code 49076.7)

No information or documents regarding the citizenship or immigration status of students or their family members shall be collected, except as required by state or federal law or as required to administer a state or federally supported educational program. In accordance with board Policy 5145.13 – Response to Immigrant Enforcement, the Superintendent or designee shall not disclose student records to a person, agency, or organization for immigration enforcement purposes without parental consent, a court order, or a judicial subpoena/warrant. If a district employee receives such a request, the employee shall respond in accordance with Board Policy 5145.13 – Response to Immigrant Enforcement. The Superintendent shall report the request to the Board in a timely manner that ensures the confidentiality and privacy of any potentially identifying information. (Education Code 234.7)

[The immigration or citizenship status of a student or a student's family member may only be collected and disclosed in accordance with Board Policy/Administrative Regulation 1445 – Response to Immigration Enforcement.](#)

The district or any district employee shall not compile a list, registry, or database based on students' national origin, ethnicity, or religious belief, practice, or affiliation, or disclose student information

to federal government authorities for the purpose of compiling such a list, registry, or database for purposes of immigration enforcement. This prohibition does not apply to information that is aggregated and is not personally identifiable. (Government Code 8310.3)
The Superintendent or designee shall develop protocols to comply with a court's restraining order that prohibits a party from accessing specified records and information pertaining to a student. (Family Code 6323.5)

Student Records from Social Media

The Superintendent or designee may gather and maintain information from the social media of any district student, provided that the district first notifies students and parents/guardians about the proposed program, offers an opportunity for public comment at a regularly scheduled Board meeting, and gathers only information that directly pertains to school safety or student safety. (Education Code 49073.6)

Retention, Disclosure, and Security of Student Records

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure the confidentiality of student records as required by law and shall establish processes and procedures to safeguard data against damage, loss, or theft, including damage, loss, or theft, which may be caused by the use of technology, including artificial intelligence and breaches to the district's digital infrastructure, in the retention or disclosure of student records. ~~Additionally, in accordance with Board Policy 5145.13 – Response to Immigration Enforcement, all district staff shall avoid the disclosure of information that may indicate a student's or family's citizenship or immigration status if the disclosure is not authorized by law.~~

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that employees receive information and training about cybersecurity, including ways to protect student records from breaches to the district's digital infrastructure.

If the district experiences a cyberattack that impacts more than 500 students or personnel, the Superintendent or designee shall report the cyberattack to the California Cybersecurity Integration Center. (Education Code 35266)

The Superintendent or designee may enter into a contract with a third party for the digital storage, management, and retrieval of student records and/or to authorize a third-party provider of digital software to access, store, and use student records, provided that the contract meets the requirements of Education Code 49073.1 and other applicable state and federal laws.

Policy Reference Disclaimer:

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the Governing Board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject matter of the policy.

State	Description
5 CCR 16020-16027	Destruction of records of school districts
5 CCR 430-438	Individual student records
Bus. and Prof. Code 22580-22582	Privacy rights for California minors in the digital world
Bus. and Prof. Code 22584-22585	Student Online Personal Information Protection Act

Policy 5125: Student Records

Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: 01/23/2001 | **Last Revised Date:** | **Last Reviewed Date:**

The Governing Board recognizes the importance of keeping accurate, comprehensive student records as required by law. The Superintendent or designee shall establish administrative regulations governing the identification, collection, retention, disclosure and security of student records. These regulations shall ensure the rights of authorized persons to have timely access to student records while maintaining the confidentiality of student records in accordance with state and federal law.

The Superintendent or designee shall designate a certificated employee to serve as custodian of records with responsibility for student records at the district level. At each school, the principal or a certificated employee shall be designated as custodian of records for students enrolled at that school. The custodian of records shall be responsible for implementing Board policy and administrative regulation regarding student records. (5 CCR 431)

If student records containing covered information which is not subject to the California Consumer Privacy Act are under the control of the operator of a website, online service or application, or mobile application, and the student's parent/guardian or the student, if 18 years of age or older, requests deletion of such records, the Superintendent or designee shall provide documentation to the operator that the student has not been enrolled in the district for at least 60 days. (Business and Professions Code 22584)

All appropriate personnel shall receive training regarding district policies and procedures for gathering and handling sensitive student information, including which information should not be solicited.

The district shall not collect or solicit social security numbers or the last four digits of social security numbers of students or their parents/guardians, unless otherwise required to do so by state or federal law. (Education Code 49076.7)

No information or documents regarding the citizenship or immigration status of students or their family members shall be collected, except as required by state or federal law or as required to administer a state or federally supported educational program. In accordance with board Policy 5145.13 – Response to Immigrant Enforcement, the Superintendent or designee shall not disclose student records to a person, agency, or organization for immigration enforcement purposes without parental consent, a court order, or a judicial subpoena/warrant. If a district employee receives such a request, the employee shall respond in accordance with Board Policy 5145.13 – Response to Immigrant Enforcement. The Superintendent shall report the request to the Board in a timely manner that ensures the confidentiality and privacy of any potentially identifying information. (Education Code 234.7)

The immigration or citizenship status of a student or a student's family member may only be collected and disclosed in accordance with Board Policy/Administrative Regulation 1445 – Response to Immigration Enforcement.

The district or any district employee shall not compile a list, registry, or database based on students' national origin, ethnicity, or religious belief, practice, or affiliation, or disclose student information to federal government authorities for the purpose of compiling such a list, registry, or database for

purposes of immigration enforcement. This prohibition does not apply to information that is aggregated and is not personally identifiable. (Government Code 8310.3)
The Superintendent or designee shall develop protocols to comply with a court's restraining order that prohibits a party from accessing specified records and information pertaining to a student. (Family Code 6323.5)

Student Records from Social Media

The Superintendent or designee may gather and maintain information from the social media of any district student, provided that the district first notifies students and parents/guardians about the proposed program, offers an opportunity for public comment at a regularly scheduled Board meeting, and gathers only information that directly pertains to school safety or student safety. (Education Code 49073.6)

Retention, Disclosure, and Security of Student Records

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure the confidentiality of student records as required by law and shall establish processes and procedures to safeguard data against damage, loss, or theft, including damage, loss, or theft, which may be caused by the use of technology, including artificial intelligence and breaches to the district's digital infrastructure, in the retention or disclosure of student records.

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that employees receive information and training about cybersecurity, including ways to protect student records from breaches to the district's digital infrastructure.

If the district experiences a cyberattack that impacts more than 500 students or personnel, the Superintendent or designee shall report the cyberattack to the California Cybersecurity Integration Center. (Education Code 35266)

The Superintendent or designee may enter into a contract with a third party for the digital storage, management, and retrieval of student records and/or to authorize a third-party provider of digital software to access, store, and use student records, provided that the contract meets the requirements of Education Code 49073.1 and other applicable state and federal laws.

Policy Reference Disclaimer:

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the Governing Board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject matter of the policy.

State	Description
5 CCR 16020-16027	Destruction of records of school districts
5 CCR 430-438	<u>Individual student records</u>
Bus. and Prof. Code 22580-22582	<u>Privacy rights for California minors in the digital world</u>
Bus. and Prof. Code 22584-22585	<u>Student Online Personal Information Protection Act</u>
Bus. and Prof. Code 22586-22587	<u>Early Learning Personal Information Protection Act</u>
Code of Civil Procedure 1985.3	<u>Subpoena duces tecum</u>

Regulation 5125: Student Records

Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: 08/25/2009 | Last Revised Date: 05/22/2025 | Last Reviewed Date: 05/22/2025

Definitions

Access means a personal inspection and review of a record or an accurate copy of a record, or receipt of an accurate copy of a record or an oral description or communication of a record, and a request to release a copy of any record. (Education Code 49061)

Adult student is a person who is or was enrolled in ~~the district school~~ and who is at least 18 years of age. (5 CCR 430)

Attendance includes, but is not limited to, attendance in person or by paper correspondence, videoconference, satellite, Internet, or other electronic information and telecommunication technologies for students who are not physically present in the classroom, and the period during which a person is working under a work-study program. (34 CFR 99.3)

Contractor or consultant is anyone with a formal written agreement or contract with the district regarding the provision of services or functions outsourced by the district. Contractor or consultant shall not include a volunteer or other party. (Education Code 49076)

County placing agency means the county social service department or county probation department. (Education Code 49061)

Custodian of records is the employee responsible for the security of student records maintained by the district and for devising procedures for assuring that access to such records is limited to authorized persons. (5 CCR 433)

Disclosure means to permit access to, or the release, transfer, or other communication of, personally identifiable information contained in student records to any party, except the party that provided or created the record, by any means including oral, written, or electronic. (34 CFR 99.3)

District officials and employees are officials or employees, including teachers, whose duties and responsibilities to the district, whether routine or as a result of special circumstances, require access to student records. (34 CFR 99.31)

Legitimate educational interest is an interest held by any ~~district school~~ official, employee, contractor, or consultant whose official duties, responsibilities, or contractual obligations to the district, whether routine or as a result of special circumstances, require access to information contained in student records.

Mandatory interim student records are those records which the ~~district is schools are~~ directed to compile and maintain for specified periods of time and are then destroyed in accordance with state law, regulation, or administrative directive. (5 CCR 430)

Mandatory permanent student records are those records which are maintained in perpetuity and which ~~the district has schools have~~ been directed to compile by state law, regulation, or administrative directive. (5 CCR 430)

Parent/guardian means a natural parent, an adopted parent, legal guardian, surrogate parent, or foster parent. (Education Code 49061, 56050, 56055)

Permitted student records are those records having clear importance only to the current educational process of the student. (5 CCR 430)

Personally identifiable information includes but is not limited to: (34 CFR 99.3)

1. The student's name
2. The name of the student's parent/guardian or other family members
3. The address of the student or student's family
4. A personal identifier, such as the student's social security number, student number, or biometric record (e.g., fingerprints, retina and iris patterns, voiceprints, DNA sequence, facial characteristics, and handwriting)
5. Other indirect identifiers, such as the student's date of birth, place of birth, and mother's maiden name
6. Other information that, alone or in combination, is linked or linkable to a specific student that would allow a reasonable person in the school community, who does not have personal knowledge of the relevant circumstances, to identify the student with reasonable certainty
7. Information requested by a person who the district reasonably believes knows the identity of the student to whom the student record relates

School officials and employees are officials or employees, including teachers, whose duties and responsibilities to the district, whether routine or as a result of special circumstances, require access to student records. (34 CFR 99.31)

Student means any individual who is or has been in attendance at the district and regarding whom the district maintains student records. (34 CFR 99.3)

Student records are any items of information (in handwriting, print, tape, film, computer, or other medium) gathered within or outside the district that are directly related to an identifiable student and maintained by the district, required to be maintained by an employee in the performance of the employee's duties, or maintained by a party acting for the district. Any information maintained for the purpose of second-party review is considered a student record. Student records include the student's health record. (Education Code 49061, 49062; 5 CCR 430; 34 CFR 99.3)

Student records do not include: (Education Code 49061, 49062; 34 CFR 99.3)

1. Directory information
2. Informal notes compiled by a ~~district official school officer~~ or employee which remain in the sole possession of the maker, are used only as a personal memory aid, and are not accessible or revealed to any other person except a substitute employee
3. Records of the law enforcement unit of the district, subject to 34 CFR 99.8
4. Records created or received by the district after an individual is no longer a student and that are not directly related to the individual's attendance as a student
5. Grades on peer-graded papers before they are collected and recorded by a teacher

In accordance with law, absolute access to any student records shall be granted to:

1. Parents/guardians of students younger than ~~age-18~~ years of age, including the parent who is not the student's custodial parent (Education Code 49069.7; Family Code 3025)

However, the district shall not disclose student records to a party, including a parent/guardian, who is legally prohibited from accessing records and information of a student pursuant to a restraining order. (Family Code 6323.5)

2. An adult student, or a student under the ~~age-of-18~~ years of age, who attends a postsecondary institution, in which case the student alone shall exercise rights related to the student's records and grant consent for the release of records (34 CFR 99.3, 99.5)
3. Parents/guardians of an adult student with exceptional needs who is ~~age-18~~ years of age or older and has been declared incompetent under state law (Education Code 56041.5)

Access for Limited Purpose/Legitimate Educational Interest

The following persons or agencies shall have access to those particular records that are relevant to their legitimate educational interest or other legally authorized purpose:

1. Parents/guardians of a student 18 years of age or older who is a dependent child as defined in 26 USC 152 (Education Code 49076; 34 CFR 99.31)
2. Students who are 16 years of age ~~16~~ or older or who have completed the 10th grade (Education Code 49076)
3. ~~School-District~~ officials and employees, consistent with the definition provided in the section "Definitions" above (Education Code 49076; 34 CFR 99.31)
4. Members of a school attendance review board (SARB) appointed pursuant to Education Code 48321 who are authorized representatives of the district and any volunteer aide 18 years of age ~~aged-18~~ or older who has been investigated, selected, and trained by the SARB to provide follow-up services to a referred student (Education Code 49076)
5. Officials and employees of other ~~public-schools districts~~, school systems, or postsecondary institutions where the student intends or is directed to enroll, including local, county, or state correctional facilities where educational programs leading to high school graduation are provided, or where the student is already enrolled, as long as the disclosure is for purposes related to the student's enrollment or transfer (Education Code 49076; 34 CFR 99.31)

Unless the annual parent/guardian notification issued pursuant to Education Code 48980 includes a statement that the district may disclose students' personally identifiable information to officials of another ~~school district~~, school system, or postsecondary institution where the student seeks or intends to enroll, the Superintendent or designee shall, when such a disclosure is made, make a reasonable attempt to notify the parent/guardian or adult student at the last known address, provide a copy of the record that is disclosed, and give the parent/guardian or adult student an opportunity for a hearing to challenge the record. (34 CFR 99.34)

6. The Student Aid Commission, to provide the grade point average (GPA) of all district students in grade 12 and, when required, verification of high school graduation or its equivalent of all students who graduated in the prior academic year, for use in the Cal Grant postsecondary financial aid program.

However, such information shall not be submitted when students opt out or are permitted by the rules of the Student Aid Commission to provide test scores in lieu of the GPA. (Education Code ³

No later than January 1 each year, the Superintendent or designee shall notify each student in grade 11, and the student's parents/guardians if the student is under ~~age~~ 18 years of age, that the student's GPA will be forwarded to the Student Aid Commission by October 1 unless the student opts out within a period of time specified in the notice, which shall not be less than 30 days. (Education Code 69432.9)

Students' social security numbers shall not be included in the submitted information unless the Student Aid Commission deems it necessary to complete the financial aid application and the Superintendent or designee obtains permission from the student's parent/guardian, or from the adult student, to submit the social security number. (Education Code 69432.9)

7. The California College Guidance Initiative (CCGI) in accordance with a data sharing agreement pursuant to Education Code 60900, to provide data for use when planning for and applying to California public colleges and universities (Education Code 60900, 60900.5)

8. Federal, state, and local officials, as needed for an audit or evaluation of, or compliance with, a state or federally funded education program and in accordance with a written agreement developed pursuant to 34 CFR 99.35 (Education Code 49076; 34 CFR 99.3, 99.31, 99.35)

9. Any county placing agency acting as an authorized representative of a state or local educational agency which is required to audit or evaluate a state or federally supported education program pursuant to Item #8 above (Education Code 49076)

10. Any person, agency, or organization authorized in compliance with a court order or lawfully issued subpoena (Education Code 49077; 5 CCR 435; 34 CFR 99.31)

Unless otherwise instructed by the court, the Superintendent or designee shall, prior to disclosing a record pursuant to a court order or subpoena, give the parent/guardian or adult student at least three days' notice of the name of the requesting agency and the specific record requested, if lawfully possible within the requirements of the judicial order. (Education Code 49077; 5 CCR 435; 34 CFR 99.31)

11. Any district attorney who is participating in or conducting a truancy mediation program or participating in the presentation of evidence in a truancy petition (Education Code 49076)

12. A district attorney's office for consideration against a parent/guardian for failure to comply with compulsory education laws (Education Code 49076)

13. Any probation officer, district attorney, or counsel of record for a student who is a minor for the purposes of conducting a criminal investigation or an investigation in regards to declaring the minor a ward of the court or involving a violation of a condition of probation, subject to evidentiary rules specified in Welfare and Institutions Code 701 (Education Code 49076)

When disclosing records for these purposes, the Superintendent or designee shall obtain written certification from the recipient of the records that the information will not be disclosed to another party without prior written consent of the student's parent/guardian or the holder of the student's educational rights, unless specifically authorized by state or federal law. (Education Code 49076)

14. Any judge or probation officer for the purpose of conducting a truancy mediation program for a student or for the purpose of presenting evidence in a truancy petition pursuant to Welfare and Institutions Code 681 (Education Code 49076)

In such cases, the judge or probation officer shall certify in writing to the Superintendent or designee that the information will be used only for truancy purposes. Upon releasing student

information to a judge or probation officer, the Superintendent or designee shall inform, or provide written notification to, the student's parent/guardian within 24 hours. (Education Code 49076)

15. A foster family agency with jurisdiction over a currently enrolled or former student; short-term residential treatment program staff responsible for the education or case management of a student; or a caregiver who has direct responsibility for the care of a student, including a certified or licensed foster parent, an approved relative or nonrelated extended family member, or a resource family, as defined (Education Code 49076)

Such individuals shall have access to the student's current or most recent records of grades, transcripts, attendance, discipline, online communication on platforms established by ~~schools~~ the district for students and parents/guardians, and any individualized education program or Section 504 plan developed and maintained by the district (Education Code 49069.3)

16. A student age 14 years or older who is both a homeless student and an unaccompanied minor experiencing homelessness as defined in 42 USC 11434a (Education Code 49076)

17. An individual who completes items #1-4 of the Caregiver's Authorization Affidavit pursuant to Family Code 6552 and signs the affidavit for the purpose of enrolling a minor in school (Education Code 49076)

18. A caseworker or other representative of a state or local child welfare agency or tribal organization that has legal responsibility in accordance with state or tribal law for the care and protection of a student, provided that the individual is authorized by the agency or organization to receive the records and the information requested is directly related to providing assistance to address the student's educational needs (Education Code 49076; 20 USC 1232g)

19. Appropriate law enforcement authorities, in circumstances where Education Code 48902 requires that the district provide special education and disciplinary records of a student with exceptional needs who is suspended or expelled for committing an act violating Penal Code 245 (Education Code 48902, 49076)

When disclosing such records, the Superintendent or designee shall obtain written certification by the recipient of the records as described in Item #13 above. (Education Code 49076)

20. Designated peace officers or law enforcement agencies in cases where the district is authorized by law to assist law enforcement in investigations of suspected criminal conduct or kidnapping and a written ~~parental~~-consent by a parent/guardian, lawfully issued subpoena, or court order is submitted to the district, or information is provided to it indicating that an emergency exists in which the student's information is necessary to protect the health or safety of the student or other individuals (Education Code 49076.5)

In such cases, the Superintendent or designee shall provide information about the identity and location of the student as it relates to the transfer of that student's records to another public school district in California or any other state or to a California private school. (Education Code 49076.5)

When disclosing records for the above purposes, the Superintendent or designee shall obtain the necessary documentation to verify that the person, agency, or organization is a person, agency, or organization that is permitted to receive such records.

Any person, agency, or organization granted access is prohibited from releasing information to another person, agency, or organization without written permission from the parent/guardian or adult student unless specifically allowed by state law or the federal Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA). (Education Code 49076; 20 USC 1232g; 34 CFR 99.1-99.8))

~~In addition~~ Additionally, the parent/guardian or adult student may provide written consent for access to be granted to persons, agencies, or organizations not afforded access rights by law. The written consent shall specify the records to be released and the party or parties to whom they may be released. (Education Code 49061, 49075)

Only a parent/guardian having legal custody of the student may consent to the release of records to others. Either parent/guardian may grant consent if both parents/guardians notify the district, in writing, that such an agreement has been made. (Education Code 49061)

Discretionary Access

At the discretion of the Superintendent or designee, information may be released from a student's records to the following:

1. Appropriate persons, including parents/guardians of a student, in connection with an emergency if the knowledge of the information is necessary to protect the health or safety of the student or other persons are at stake (Education Code 49076; 34 CFR 99.31, 99.32, 99.36)

When releasing information to any such appropriate person, the Superintendent or designee shall record information about the threat to the health or safety of the student or any other person that formed the basis for the disclosure and the person(s) to whom the disclosure was made. (Education Code 49076; 34 CFR 99.32)

Unless it would further endanger the health or safety of the student or other persons, the Superintendent or designee shall inform the parent/guardian or adult student within one week of the disclosure that the disclosure was made, of the articulable and significant threat to the health or safety of the student or other individuals that formed the basis for the disclosure, and of the parties to whom the disclosure was made.

2. Accrediting associations in order to carry out their accrediting functions (Education Code 49076; 34 CFR 99.31)

3. Organizations conducting studies on behalf of educational institutions or agencies for the purpose of developing, validating, or administering predictive tests, administering student aid programs, or improving instruction, provided that: (Education Code 49076; 34 CFR 99.31)

- a. The study is conducted in a manner that does not permit personal identification of students or parents/guardians by individuals other than representatives of the organization who have legitimate interests in the information.
- b. The information is destroyed when no longer needed for the purposes for which the study is conducted.
- c. The district enters into a written agreement with the organization that complies with 34 CFR 99.31.

4. Officials and employees of other districts, private schools or school systems where the student is enrolled or intends to enroll, subject to the rights of parents/guardians as provided in Education Code 49068 and in compliance with 34 CFR 99.34 (Education Code 49076; 34 CFR 99.31, 99.34)

5. Local health departments operating countywide or regional immunization information and reminder systems and the California Department of Public Health, unless the parent/guardian has requested that no disclosures of this type be made (Health and Safety Code 120440)

6. Contractors and consultants having a legitimate educational interest based on services or⁶

functions which have been outsourced to them through a formal written agreement or contract with the district, excluding volunteers or other parties (Education Code 49076)

7. Agencies or organizations in connection with the student's application for or receipt of financial aid, provided that information permitting the personal identification of a student or the student's parents/guardians for these purposes is disclosed only as may be necessary to determine the eligibility of the student for financial aid, determine the amount of financial aid, determine the conditions which will be imposed regarding the financial aid, or enforce the terms or conditions of the financial aid (Education Code 49076; 34 CFR 99.31)

8. County elections officials for the purpose of identifying students eligible to register to vote or offering such students an opportunity to register, subject to the limits set by 34 CFR 99.37 and under the condition that any information provided on this basis shall not be used for any other purpose or transferred to any other person or agency (Education Code 49076; 34 CFR 99.37)

When disclosing records for the above purposes, the Superintendent or designee shall obtain the necessary documentation to verify that the person, agency, or organization is a person, agency, or organization that is permitted to receive such records.

Any person, agency, or organization granted access is prohibited from releasing information to another person, agency, or organization without written permission from the parent/guardian or adult student unless specifically allowed by state law or FERPA. (Education Code 49076; 20 USC 1232g; 34 CFR 99.1-99.8))

Persons Generally Denied Access

A request for student records by an officer or employee of an agency conducting immigration enforcement shall be denied except in accordance with Board Policy/Administrative Regulation 1445 – Response to Immigration Enforcement.

De-identification of Records

When authorized by law for any program audit, educational research, or other purpose, the Superintendent or designee may release information from a student record without prior consent of the parent/guardian or adult student after the removal of all personally identifiable information. Prior to releasing such information, the Superintendent or designee shall make a reasonable determination that the student's identity is not personally identifiable, whether through single or multiple releases and taking into account other reasonably available information. (Education Code 49074, 49076; 20 USC 1232g; 34 CFR 99.31)

Process for Providing Access to Records

Student records shall be maintained digitally in a central location at the school attended by the student or, when records are maintained at different locations, a notation shall be placed in the central file indicating where other records may be found. Parents/guardians and adult students shall be notified of the location of student records if not centrally located. (Education Code 49069.7; 5 CCR 433)

The custodian of records shall be responsible for the security of student records and shall ensure that access is limited to authorized persons. (5 CCR 433)

The custodian of records shall develop reasonable methods, including physical, technological, and administrative policy controls, to ensure that ~~school-~~ district officials and employees obtain access to only those student records in which they have legitimate educational interests. (Education Code 49076; 5 CCR 431; 34 CFR 99.31)

To inspect, review, or obtain copies of student records, authorized persons shall submit a request to the custodian of records. Prior to granting the request, the custodian of records shall authenticate the individual's identity. For any individual granted access based on a legitimate educational interest, the request shall specify the interest involved.

Within five business days following the date of request, the authorized person shall be granted access to inspect, review, and obtain copies of student records during regular school hours. (Education Code 49069.7; 5 CCR 431)

When required by law, a student's parent/guardian or an adult student shall provide written, signed, and dated consent before the district discloses the student record. Such consent may be given through electronic means in those cases where it can be authenticated. The district's consent form shall specify the records that may be disclosed, state the purpose of the disclosure, and identify the party or class of parties to whom the disclosure may be made. Upon request by the parent/guardian or adult student, the district shall provide a copy of the records disclosed. (34 CFR 99.30)

If the parent/guardian or adult student refuses to provide written consent for the release of student information, the Superintendent or designee shall not release the information, unless it is otherwise subject to release based on a court order or a lawful subpoena.

Qualified certificated personnel shall be available to interpret records when requested. (Education Code 49069.7)

The custodian of records or the Superintendent or designee shall prevent the alteration, damage, or loss of records during inspection. (5 CCR 435)

Access Log

A log shall be maintained for each student's record which lists all persons, agencies, or organizations requesting or receiving information from the record and the legitimate educational interest of the requester. (Education Code 49064)

In every instance of inspection by persons who do not have assigned educational responsibility, the custodian of records shall make an entry in the log indicating the record inspected, the name of the person granted access, the reason access was granted, and the time and circumstances of inspection. (5 CCR 435)

~~The~~ Additionally, the custodian of records shall also make an entry in the log regarding any request for record(s) that was denied and the reason for the denial.

The log ~~shall~~ need not include requests for access to records by: (Education Code 49064)

1. Parents/guardians or adult students
2. Students who are 16 years of age or older or who have completed the 10th grade
3. Parties obtaining district-approved directory information
4. Parties who ~~provide~~ have received written ~~parental~~ consent by a parent/guardian and have provided it to the district, in which case the consent notice shall be filed with the record pursuant to Education Code 49075
5. ~~School District~~ officials and employees who have a legitimate educational interest
6. ~~Law enforcement personnel seeking immigration related information~~

The log shall be open to inspection only by the parent/guardian, adult student, dependent adult student, custodian of records, and certain state or federal officials specified in Education Code 49064. (Education Code 49064; 5 CCR 432)

Duplication of Student Records

To provide copies of any student record, the district may charge a reasonable fee not to exceed the actual cost of providing the copies. No charge shall be made for providing up to two transcripts or up to two verifications of various records for any former student. No charge shall be made to locate or retrieve any student record. (Education Code 49065)

Changes to Student Records

Only a parent/guardian having legal custody of a student or a student who is 18 years of age or is attending an institution of postsecondary education may challenge the content of a record or offer a written response to a record. (Education Code 49061)

No addition or change shall be made to a student's record after high school graduation or permanent departure, other than routine updating, unless required by law or with prior consent of the parent/guardian or adult student. (Education Code 49070; 5 CCR 437)

Any request to change a student's legal name in the student's mandatory permanent student record shall be accompanied with appropriate documentation.

Any challenge to the content of a student's record shall be filed in accordance with Education Code 49070 and the process specified in Administrative Regulation 5125.3 - Challenging Student Records.

Retention and Destruction of Student Records

All anecdotal information and assessment reports maintained as student records shall be dated and signed by the individual who originated the data. (5 CCR 431)

The following mandatory permanent student records shall be kept indefinitely: (5 CCR 432, 437)

1. Legal name of student
2. Date and place of birth and method of verifying birth date
3. Sex of student
4. Name and address of parent/guardian of minor student
 - a. Address of minor student if different from the above
 - b. Annual verification of parent/guardian's name and address and student's residence
5. Entrance and departure dates of each school year and for any summer session or other extra session
6. Subjects taken during each year, half-year, summer session, or quarter, and marks or credits given towards graduation
7. Verification of or exemption from required immunizations
8. Date of high school graduation or equivalent

Mandatory interim student records, unless forwarded to another district, shall be maintained subject to destruction during the third school year after the school year in which they originated,⁹

following a determination that their usefulness has ceased or the student has left the district. (Education Code 48918, 51747; 5 CCR 432, 437, 16027)

These records include:

1. Expulsion orders and the causes therefore
2. A log identifying persons or organizations who request or receive information from the student record
3. Health information, including verification or waiver of the health screening for school entry
4. Information on participation in special education programs, including required tests, case studies, authorizations, and actions necessary to establish eligibility for admission or discharge
5. Language training records
6. Progress slips/notices required by Education Code 49066 and 49067
7. ~~Parental~~ Parent/guardian restrictions/stipulations regarding access to directory information
8. Parent/guardian or adult student rejoinders to challenged records and to disciplinary action
9. Parent/guardian authorization or prohibition of student participation in specific programs
10. Results of standardized tests administered within the past three years
11. Written findings resulting from an evaluation conducted after a specified number of missed assignments to determine whether it is in a student's best interest to remain in independent study

Permitted student records may be destroyed six months after the student completes or withdraws from the educational program and their usefulness ceases, including: (5 CCR 432, 437)

1. Objective counselor and/or teacher ratings
2. Standardized test results older than three years
3. Routine discipline data
4. Verified reports of relevant behavioral patterns
5. All disciplinary notices
6. Supplementary attendance records

Records shall be destroyed in a way that assures they will not be available to possible public inspection in the process of destruction. (5 CCR 437)

Transfer of Student Records

When a student transfers into ~~this~~ the district from any other ~~school~~ district, ~~or~~ a private school, or school system, the Superintendent or designee shall inform the student's parent/guardian of rights regarding student records, including a parent/guardian's right to review, challenge, and receive a copy of student records. (Education Code 49068; 5 CCR 438)

When a student transfers into this district from another district, the Superintendent or designee¹⁰

shall request that the student's previous district provide any records, either maintained by that district in the ordinary course of business or received from a law enforcement agency, regarding acts committed by the transferring student that resulted in the student's suspension or expulsion. (Education Code 48201)

When a student transfers from this district to another school district or to a private school, the Superintendent or designee shall forward a copy of the student's mandatory permanent record within 10 school days of the district's receipt of the request for the student's records. The original record or a copy shall be retained permanently by this district. If the transfer is to another California public school, the student's entire mandatory interim record shall also be forwarded. If the transfer is out of state or to a private school, the mandatory interim record may be forwarded. Permitted student records may be forwarded to any other district or private school. (Education Code 48918, 49068; 5 CCR 438)

Upon receiving a request from a county placing agency to transfer a student in foster care out of a district school, the Superintendent or designee shall transfer the student's records to the next educational placement within two business days. (Education Code 49069.5)

Additionally, when a student in foster care is enrolling in a district school, the district's liaison for foster youth shall contact, within two business days of the student's request for enrollment, the school last attended by the student to obtain all academic and other records. (Education Code 48853.5)

All student records shall be updated before they are transferred. (5 CCR 438)

Student records shall not be withheld from the requesting district because of any charges or fees owed by the student or parent/guardian. (5 CCR 438)

If the district is withholding grades, diploma, or transcripts from the student because of damage or loss of ~~school-district~~ property, this information shall be sent to the requesting district along with the student's records.

Notification of Parents/Guardians

Upon any student's initial enrollment, and at the beginning of each school year thereafter, the Superintendent or designee shall notify parents/guardians and eligible students, in writing, of their rights related to student records. If 15 percent or more of the students enrolled in the district speak a single primary language other than English, then the district shall provide these notices in that language. Otherwise, the district shall provide these notices in the student's home language insofar as practicable. The district shall effectively notify parents/guardians or eligible students with exceptional needs. (Education Code 48985, 49063; 5 CCR 431; 34 CFR 99.7)

The notice shall include: (Education Code 49063; 60900.5; 34 CFR 99.7, 99.34)

1. The types of student records kept by the district and the information contained therein
2. The title(s) of the official(s) responsible for maintaining each type of record
3. The location of the log identifying those who request information from the records
4. District criteria for defining ~~school-district~~ officials and employees and for determining legitimate educational interest
5. District policies for reviewing and expunging student records
6. The right to inspect and review student records and the procedures for doing so

7. The right to challenge and the procedures for challenging the content of a student record that the parent/guardian or student believes to be inaccurate, misleading, or otherwise in violation of the student's privacy rights
8. The cost, if any, charged for duplicating copies of records
9. The categories of information defined as directory information pursuant to Education Code 49073
10. The right to consent to disclosures of personally identifiable information contained in the student's records except when disclosure without consent is authorized by law
11. Availability of the curriculum prospectus developed pursuant to Education Code 49091.14 containing the titles, descriptions, and instructional aims of every course offered by the school
12. The sharing with CCGI of specified district data and data collected by the California Department of Education for the purposes of college admissions, academic placement, and eligibility for student financial aid (Education Code 60900)
13. Any other rights and requirements set forth in Education Code 49060-49085, and the right of parents/guardians to file a complaint with the U.S. Department of Education concerning an alleged failure by the district to comply with 20 USC 1232g
14. A statement that the district forwards education records to other agencies or institutions that request the records and in which the student seeks or intends to enroll or is already enrolled as long as the disclosure is for purposes related to the student's enrollment

~~In addition,~~ Additionally, the annual ~~parent/guardian parental~~ notification shall include a statement that a student's citizenship status, immigration status, place of birth, or any other information indicating national origin will ~~not be released without parental consent or a court order~~ only be released in accordance with Board Policy/Administrative Regulation 1445 – Response to Immigration Enforcement.

Student Records from Social Media

For the purpose of gathering and maintaining records of students' social media activity, the Superintendent or designee shall: (Education Code 49073.6)

1. Gather or maintain only information that pertains directly to school safety or student safety
2. Provide a student with access to any information that the district obtained from the student's social media activity and an opportunity to correct or delete such information
3. Destroy information gathered from social media and maintained in student records within one year after a student turns 18 years of age or within one year after the student is no longer enrolled in the district, whichever occurs first
4. Notify each parent/guardian that the student's information is being gathered from social media and that any information maintained in the student's records shall be destroyed as provided in Item #3 above.

~~The~~ Additionally, the notification shall ~~also~~ include, but is not limited to, an explanation of the process by which a student or the student's parent/guardian may access the student's records for examination of the information gathered or maintained and the process by which removal of the information may be requested or corrections to the information may be made. The notification may

be provided as part of the annual parent/guardian ~~parental~~ notification required pursuant to Education Code 48980.

5. If the district contracts with a third party to gather information on a student from social media, ensure that the contract:
 - a. Prohibits the third party from using the information for purposes other than those specified in the contract or from selling or sharing the information with any person or entity other than the district, the student, or the student's parent/guardian
 - b. Requires the third party to destroy the information immediately upon satisfying the terms of the contract, or when the district notifies the third party that the student has turned 18 years of age or is no longer enrolled in the district, whichever occurs first

Updating Name and/or Gender of Former Students

When a former student submits a state-issued driver's license, birth certificate, passport, social security card, court order, or other government-issued documentation demonstrating that the former student's legal name and/or gender has changed, the district shall update the former student's records to include the updated legal name and/or gender. Upon request by the former student, the district shall reissue any documents conferred upon the former student, including, but not limited to, a transcript, a high school diploma, a high school equivalency certificate, or other similar documents. (Education Code 49062.5)

If the former student's name or gender is changed and the requested records are reissued, a new document shall be added to the former student's file that includes all of the following information: (Education Code 49062.5)

1. The date of the request
2. The date the requested records were reissued to the former student
3. A list of the records that were requested by and reissued to the former student
4. The type of documentation, if any, provided by the former student to demonstrate a legal change to the student's name and/or gender
5. The name of the employee who completed the request
6. The current and former names and/or genders of the student

Any former student who submits a request to change the legal name and/or gender on the student's records but is unable to provide any government-issued documentation demonstrating the legal name or gender change, may request a name or gender change through the process described in Education Code 49070 and Administrative Regulation 5125.3 - Challenging Student Records. (Education Code 49062.5)

Policy Reference Disclaimer:

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the Governing Board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject matter of the policy.

Regulation 5125: Student Records

Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: 08/25/2009 | Last Revised Date: 05/22/2025 | Last Reviewed Date: 05/22/2025

Definitions

Access means a personal inspection and review of a record or an accurate copy of a record, or receipt of an accurate copy of a record or an oral description or communication of a record, and a request to release a copy of any record. (Education Code 49061)

Adult student is a person who is or was enrolled in the district and who is at least 18 years of age. (5 CCR 430)

Attendance includes, but is not limited to, attendance in person or by paper correspondence, videoconference, satellite, Internet, or other electronic information and telecommunication technologies for students who are not physically present in the classroom, and the period during which a person is working under a work-study program. (34 CFR 99.3)

Contractor or consultant is anyone with a formal written agreement or contract with the district regarding the provision of services or functions outsourced by the district. Contractor or consultant shall not include a volunteer or other party. (Education Code 49076)

County placing agency means the county social service department or county probation department. (Education Code 49061)

Custodian of records is the employee responsible for the security of student records maintained by the district and for devising procedures for assuring that access to such records is limited to authorized persons. (5 CCR 433)

Disclosure means to permit access to, or the release, transfer, or other communication of, personally identifiable information contained in student records to any party, except the party that provided or created the record, by any means including oral, written, or electronic. (34 CFR 99.3)

District officials and employees are officials or employees, including teachers, whose duties and responsibilities to the district, whether routine or as a result of special circumstances, require access to student records. (34 CFR 99.31)

Legitimate educational interest is an interest held by any district official, employee, contractor, or consultant whose official duties, responsibilities, or contractual obligations to the district, whether routine or as a result of special circumstances, require access to information contained in student records.

Mandatory interim student records are those records which the district is directed to compile and maintain for specified periods of time and are then destroyed in accordance with state law, regulation, or administrative directive. (5 CCR 430)

Mandatory permanent student records are those records which are maintained in perpetuity and which the district has been directed to compile by state law, regulation, or administrative directive. (5 CCR 430)

Parent/guardian means a natural parent, an adopted parent, legal guardian, surrogate parent, or foster parent. (Education Code 49061, 56050, 56055)

Permitted student records are those records having clear importance only to the current educational process of the student. (5 CCR 430)

Personally identifiable information includes but is not limited to: (34 CFR 99.3)

1. The student's name
2. The name of the student's parent/guardian or other family members
3. The address of the student or student's family
4. A personal identifier, such as the student's social security number, student number, or biometric record (e.g., fingerprints, retina and iris patterns, voiceprints, DNA sequence, facial characteristics, and handwriting)
5. Other indirect identifiers, such as the student's date of birth, place of birth, and mother's maiden name
6. Other information that, alone or in combination, is linked or linkable to a specific student that would allow a reasonable person in the school community, who does not have personal knowledge of the relevant circumstances, to identify the student with reasonable certainty
7. Information requested by a person who the district reasonably believes knows the identity of the student to whom the student record relates

School officials and employees are officials or employees, including teachers, whose duties and responsibilities to the district, whether routine or as a result of special circumstances, require access to student records. (34 CFR 99.31)

Student means any individual who is or has been in attendance at the district and regarding whom the district maintains student records. (34 CFR 99.3)

Student records are any items of information (in handwriting, print, tape, film, computer, or other medium) gathered within or outside the district that are directly related to an identifiable student and maintained by the district, required to be maintained by an employee in the performance of the employee's duties, or maintained by a party acting for the district. Any information maintained for the purpose of second-party review is considered a student record. Student records include the student's health record. (Education Code 49061, 49062; 5 CCR 430; 34 CFR 99.3)

Student records do not include: (Education Code 49061, 49062; 34 CFR 99.3)

1. Directory information
2. Informal notes compiled by a district official or employee which remain in the sole possession of the maker, are used only as a personal memory aid, and are not accessible or revealed to any other person except a substitute employee
3. Records of the law enforcement unit of the district, subject to 34 CFR 99.8
4. Records created or received by the district after an individual is no longer a student and that are not directly related to the individual's attendance as a student
5. Grades on peer-graded papers before they are collected and recorded by a teacher

In accordance with law, absolute access to any student records shall be granted to:

1. Parents/guardians of students younger than 18 years of age, including the parent who is not the student's custodial parent (Education Code 49069.7; Family Code 3025)

However, the district shall not disclose student records to a party, including a parent/guardian, who is legally prohibited from accessing records and information of a student pursuant to a restraining order. (Family Code 6323.5)

2. An adult student, or a student under the 18 years of age, who attends a postsecondary institution, in which case the student alone shall exercise rights related to the student's records and grant consent for the release of records (34 CFR 99.3, 99.5)

3. Parents/guardians of an adult student with exceptional needs who is 18 years of age or older and has been declared incompetent under state law (Education Code 56041.5)

Access for Limited Purpose/Legitimate Educational Interest

The following persons or agencies shall have access to those particular records that are relevant to their legitimate educational interest or other legally authorized purpose:

1. Parents/guardians of a student 18 years of age or older who is a dependent child as defined in 26 USC 152 (Education Code 49076; 34 CFR 99.31)
2. Students who are 16 years of age or older or who have completed the 10th grade (Education Code 49076)
3. District officials and employees, consistent with the definition provided in the section "Definitions" above (Education Code 49076; 34 CFR 99.31)
4. Members of a school attendance review board (SARB) appointed pursuant to Education Code 48321 who are authorized representatives of the district and any volunteer aide 18 years of age or older who has been investigated, selected, and trained by the SARB to provide follow-up services to a referred student (Education Code 49076)
5. Officials and employees of other districts, school systems, or postsecondary institutions where the student intends or is directed to enroll, including local, county, or state correctional facilities where educational programs leading to high school graduation are provided, or where the student is already enrolled, as long as the disclosure is for purposes related to the student's enrollment or transfer (Education Code 49076; 34 CFR 99.31)

Unless the annual parent/guardian notification issued pursuant to Education Code 48980 includes a statement that the district may disclose students' personally identifiable information to officials of another district, school system, or postsecondary institution where the student seeks or intends to enroll, the Superintendent or designee shall, when such a disclosure is made, make a reasonable attempt to notify the parent/guardian or adult student at the last known address, provide a copy of the record that is disclosed, and give the parent/guardian or adult student an opportunity for a hearing to challenge the record. (34 CFR 99.34)

6. The Student Aid Commission, to provide the grade point average (GPA) of all district students in grade 12 and, when required, verification of high school graduation or its equivalent of all students who graduated in the prior academic year, for use in the Cal Grant postsecondary financial aid program.

However, such information shall not be submitted when students opt out or are permitted by the rules of the Student Aid Commission to provide test scores in lieu of the GPA. (Education Code¹⁶

No later than January 1 each year, the Superintendent or designee shall notify each student in grade 11, and the student's parents/guardians if the student is under 18 years of age, that the student's GPA will be forwarded to the Student Aid Commission by October 1 unless the student opts out within a period of time specified in the notice, which shall not be less than 30 days. (Education Code 69432.9)

Students' social security numbers shall not be included in the submitted information unless the Student Aid Commission deems it necessary to complete the financial aid application and the Superintendent or designee obtains permission from the student's parent/guardian, or from the adult student, to submit the social security number. (Education Code 69432.9)

7. The California College Guidance Initiative (CCGI) in accordance with a data sharing agreement pursuant to Education Code 60900, to provide data for use when planning for and applying to California public colleges and universities (Education Code 60900, 60900.5)

8. Federal, state, and local officials, as needed for an audit or evaluation of, or compliance with, a state or federally funded education program and in accordance with a written agreement developed pursuant to 34 CFR 99.35 (Education Code 49076; 34 CFR 99.3, 99.31, 99.35)

9. Any county placing agency acting as an authorized representative of a state or local educational agency which is required to audit or evaluate a state or federally supported education program pursuant to Item #8 above (Education Code 49076)

10. Any person, agency, or organization authorized in compliance with a court order or lawfully issued subpoena (Education Code 49077; 5 CCR 435; 34 CFR 99.31)

Unless otherwise instructed by the court, the Superintendent or designee shall, prior to disclosing a record pursuant to a court order or subpoena, give the parent/guardian or adult student at least three days' notice of the name of the requesting agency and the specific record requested, if lawfully possible within the requirements of the judicial order. (Education Code 49077; 5 CCR 435; 34 CFR 99.31)

11. Any district attorney who is participating in or conducting a truancy mediation program or participating in the presentation of evidence in a truancy petition (Education Code 49076)

12. A district attorney's office for consideration against a parent/guardian for failure to comply with compulsory education laws (Education Code 49076)

13. Any probation officer, district attorney, or counsel of record for a student who is a minor for the purposes of conducting a criminal investigation or an investigation in regards to declaring the minor a ward of the court or involving a violation of a condition of probation, subject to evidentiary rules specified in Welfare and Institutions Code 701 (Education Code 49076)

When disclosing records for these purposes, the Superintendent or designee shall obtain written certification from the recipient of the records that the information will not be disclosed to another party without prior written consent of the student's parent/guardian or the holder of the student's educational rights, unless specifically authorized by state or federal law. (Education Code 49076)

14. Any judge or probation officer for the purpose of conducting a truancy mediation program for a student or for the purpose of presenting evidence in a truancy petition pursuant to Welfare and Institutions Code 681 (Education Code 49076)

In such cases, the judge or probation officer shall certify in writing to the Superintendent or designee that the information will be used only for truancy purposes. Upon releasing student

information to a judge or probation officer, the Superintendent or designee shall inform, or provide written notification to, the student's parent/guardian within 24 hours. (Education Code 49076)

15. A foster family agency with jurisdiction over a currently enrolled or former student; short-term residential treatment program staff responsible for the education or case management of a student; or a caregiver who has direct responsibility for the care of a student, including a certified or licensed foster parent, an approved relative or nonrelated extended family member, or a resource family, as defined (Education Code 49076)

Such individuals shall have access to the student's current or most recent records of grades, transcripts, attendance, discipline, online communication on platforms established by the district for students and parents/guardians, and any individualized education program or Section 504 plan developed and maintained by the district (Education Code 49069.3)

16. A student age 14 years or older who is both a homeless student and an unaccompanied minor experiencing homelessness as defined in 42 USC 11434a (Education Code 49076)

17. An individual who completes items #1-4 of the Caregiver's Authorization Affidavit pursuant to Family Code 6552 and signs the affidavit for the purpose of enrolling a minor in school (Education Code 49076)

18. A caseworker or other representative of a state or local child welfare agency or tribal organization that has legal responsibility in accordance with state or tribal law for the care and protection of a student, provided that the individual is authorized by the agency or organization to receive the records and the information requested is directly related to providing assistance to address the student's educational needs (Education Code 49076; 20 USC 1232g)

19. Appropriate law enforcement authorities, in circumstances where Education Code 48902 requires that the district provide special education and disciplinary records of a student with exceptional needs who is suspended or expelled for committing an act violating Penal Code 245 (Education Code 48902, 49076)

When disclosing such records, the Superintendent or designee shall obtain written certification by the recipient of the records as described in Item #13 above. (Education Code 49076)

20. Designated peace officers or law enforcement agencies in cases where the district is authorized by law to assist law enforcement in investigations of suspected criminal conduct or kidnapping and a written consent by a parent/guardian, lawfully issued subpoena, or court order is submitted to the district, or information is provided to it indicating that an emergency exists in which the student's information is necessary to protect the health or safety of the student or other individuals (Education Code 49076.5)

In such cases, the Superintendent or designee shall provide information about the identity and location of the student as it relates to the transfer of that student's records to another public school district in California or any other state or to a California private school. (Education Code 49076.5)

When disclosing records for the above purposes, the Superintendent or designee shall obtain the necessary documentation to verify that the person, agency, or organization is a person, agency, or organization that is permitted to receive such records.

Any person, agency, or organization granted access is prohibited from releasing information to another person, agency, or organization without written permission from the parent/guardian or adult student unless specifically allowed by state law or the federal Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA). (Education Code 49076; 20 USC 1232g; 34 CFR 99.1-99.8))

Additionally, the parent/guardian or adult student may provide written consent for access to be granted to persons, agencies, or organizations not afforded access rights by law. The written consent shall specify the records to be released and the party or parties to whom they may be released. (Education Code 49061, 49075)

Only a parent/guardian having legal custody of the student may consent to the release of records to others. Either parent/guardian may grant consent if both parents/guardians notify the district, in writing, that such an agreement has been made. (Education Code 49061)

Discretionary Access

At the discretion of the Superintendent or designee, information may be released from a student's records to the following:

1. Appropriate persons, including parents/guardians of a student, in connection with an emergency if the knowledge of the information is necessary to protect the health or safety of the student or other persons are at stake (Education Code 49076; 34 CFR 99.31, 99.32, 99.36)

When releasing information to any such appropriate person, the Superintendent or designee shall record information about the threat to the health or safety of the student or any other person that formed the basis for the disclosure and the person(s) to whom the disclosure was made. (Education Code 49076; 34 CFR 99.32)

Unless it would further endanger the health or safety of the student or other persons, the Superintendent or designee shall inform the parent/guardian or adult student within one week of the disclosure that the disclosure was made, of the articulable and significant threat to the health or safety of the student or other individuals that formed the basis for the disclosure, and of the parties to whom the disclosure was made.

2. Accrediting associations in order to carry out their accrediting functions (Education Code 49076; 34 CFR 99.31)

3. Organizations conducting studies on behalf of educational institutions or agencies for the purpose of developing, validating, or administering predictive tests, administering student aid programs, or improving instruction, provided that: (Education Code 49076; 34 CFR 99.31)

- a. The study is conducted in a manner that does not permit personal identification of students or parents/guardians by individuals other than representatives of the organization who have legitimate interests in the information.

- b. The information is destroyed when no longer needed for the purposes for which the study is conducted.

- c. The district enters into a written agreement with the organization that complies with 34 CFR 99.31.

4. Officials and employees of other districts, private schools or school systems where the student is enrolled or intends to enroll, subject to the rights of parents/guardians as provided in Education Code 49068 and in compliance with 34 CFR 99.34 (Education Code 49076; 34 CFR 99.31, 99.34)

5. Local health departments operating countywide or regional immunization information and reminder systems and the California Department of Public Health, unless the parent/guardian has requested that no disclosures of this type be made (Health and Safety Code 120440)

6. Contractors and consultants having a legitimate educational interest based on services or¹⁹

functions which have been outsourced to them through a formal written agreement or contract with the district, excluding volunteers or other parties (Education Code 49076)

7. Agencies or organizations in connection with the student's application for or receipt of financial aid, provided that information permitting the personal identification of a student or the student's parents/guardians for these purposes is disclosed only as may be necessary to determine the eligibility of the student for financial aid, determine the amount of financial aid, determine the conditions which will be imposed regarding the financial aid, or enforce the terms or conditions of the financial aid (Education Code 49076; 34 CFR 99.31)

8. County elections officials for the purpose of identifying students eligible to register to vote or offering such students an opportunity to register, subject to the limits set by 34 CFR 99.37 and under the condition that any information provided on this basis shall not be used for any other purpose or transferred to any other person or agency (Education Code 49076; 34 CFR 99.37)

When disclosing records for the above purposes, the Superintendent or designee shall obtain the necessary documentation to verify that the person, agency, or organization is a person, agency, or organization that is permitted to receive such records.

Any person, agency, or organization granted access is prohibited from releasing information to another person, agency, or organization without written permission from the parent/guardian or adult student unless specifically allowed by state law or FERPA. (Education Code 49076; 20 USC 1232g; 34 CFR 99.1-99.8))

Persons Generally Denied Access

A request for student records by an officer or employee of an agency conducting immigration enforcement shall be denied except in accordance with Board Policy/Administrative Regulation 1445 – Response to Immigration Enforcement.

De-identification of Records

When authorized by law for any program audit, educational research, or other purpose, the Superintendent or designee may release information from a student record without prior consent of the parent/guardian or adult student after the removal of all personally identifiable information. Prior to releasing such information, the Superintendent or designee shall make a reasonable determination that the student's identity is not personally identifiable, whether through single or multiple releases and taking into account other reasonably available information. (Education Code 49074, 49076; 20 USC 1232g; 34 CFR 99.31)

Process for Providing Access to Records

Student records shall be maintained digitally in a central location at the school attended by the student or, when records are maintained at different locations, a notation shall be placed in the central file indicating where other records may be found. Parents/guardians and adult students shall be notified of the location of student records if not centrally located. (Education Code 49069.7; 5 CCR 433)

The custodian of records shall be responsible for the security of student records and shall ensure that access is limited to authorized persons. (5 CCR 433)

The custodian of records shall develop reasonable methods, including physical, technological, and administrative policy controls, to ensure that district officials and employees obtain access to only those student records in which they have legitimate educational interests. (Education Code 49076; 5 CCR 431; 34 CFR 99.31)

To inspect, review, or obtain copies of student records, authorized persons shall submit a request to the custodian of records. Prior to granting the request, the custodian of records shall authenticate the individual's identity. For any individual granted access based on a legitimate educational interest, the request shall specify the interest involved.

Within five business days following the date of request, the authorized person shall be granted access to inspect, review, and obtain copies of student records during regular school hours. (Education Code 49069.7; 5 CCR 431)

When required by law, a student's parent/guardian or an adult student shall provide written, signed, and dated consent before the district discloses the student record. Such consent may be given through electronic means in those cases where it can be authenticated. The district's consent form shall specify the records that may be disclosed, state the purpose of the disclosure, and identify the party or class of parties to whom the disclosure may be made. Upon request by the parent/guardian or adult student, the district shall provide a copy of the records disclosed. (34 CFR 99.30)

If the parent/guardian or adult student refuses to provide written consent for the release of student information, the Superintendent or designee shall not release the information, unless it is otherwise subject to release based on a court order or a lawful subpoena.

Qualified certificated personnel shall be available to interpret records when requested. (Education Code 49069.7)

The custodian of records or the Superintendent or designee shall prevent the alteration, damage, or loss of records during inspection. (5 CCR 435)

Access Log

A log shall be maintained for each student's record which lists all persons, agencies, or organizations requesting or receiving information from the record and the legitimate educational interest of the requester. (Education Code 49064)

In every instance of inspection by persons who do not have assigned educational responsibility, the custodian of records shall make an entry in the log indicating the record inspected, the name of the person granted access, the reason access was granted, and the time and circumstances of inspection. (5 CCR 435)

Additionally, the custodian of records shall also make an entry in the log regarding any request for record(s) that was denied and the reason for the denial.

The log need not include requests for access to records by: (Education Code 49064)

1. Parents/guardians or adult students
2. Students who are 16 years of age or older or who have completed the 10th grade
3. Parties obtaining district-approved directory information
4. Parties who have received written consent by a parent/guardian and have provided it to the district, in which case the consent notice shall be filed with the record pursuant to Education Code 49075
5. District officials and employees who have a legitimate educational interest
- 6.

The log shall be open to inspection only by the parent/guardian, adult student, dependent adult student, custodian of records, and certain state or federal officials specified in Education Code 49064. (Education Code 49064; 5 CCR 432)

Duplication of Student Records

To provide copies of any student record, the district may charge a reasonable fee not to exceed the actual cost of providing the copies. No charge shall be made for providing up to two transcripts or up to two verifications of various records for any former student. No charge shall be made to locate or retrieve any student record. (Education Code 49065)

Changes to Student Records

Only a parent/guardian having legal custody of a student or a student who is 18 years of age or is attending an institution of postsecondary education may challenge the content of a record or offer a written response to a record. (Education Code 49061)

No addition or change shall be made to a student's record after high school graduation or permanent departure, other than routine updating, unless required by law or with prior consent of the parent/guardian or adult student. (Education Code 49070; 5 CCR 437)

Any request to change a student's legal name in the student's mandatory permanent student record shall be accompanied with appropriate documentation.

Any challenge to the content of a student's record shall be filed in accordance with Education Code 49070 and the process specified in Administrative Regulation 5125.3 - Challenging Student Records.

Retention and Destruction of Student Records

All anecdotal information and assessment reports maintained as student records shall be dated and signed by the individual who originated the data. (5 CCR 431)

The following mandatory permanent student records shall be kept indefinitely: (5 CCR 432, 437)

1. Legal name of student
2. Date and place of birth and method of verifying birth date
3. Sex of student
4. Name and address of parent/guardian of minor student
 - a. Address of minor student if different from the above
 - b. Annual verification of parent/guardian's name and address and student's residence
5. Entrance and departure dates of each school year and for any summer session or other extra session
6. Subjects taken during each year, half-year, summer session, or quarter, and marks or credits given towards graduation
7. Verification of or exemption from required immunizations
8. Date of high school graduation or equivalent

Mandatory interim student records, unless forwarded to another district, shall be maintained subject to destruction during the third school year after the school year in which they originated.²²

following a determination that their usefulness has ceased or the student has left the district. (Education Code 48918, 51747; 5 CCR 432, 437, 16027)

These records include:

1. Expulsion orders and the causes therefore
2. A log identifying persons or organizations who request or receive information from the student record
3. Health information, including verification or waiver of the health screening for school entry
4. Information on participation in special education programs, including required tests, case studies, authorizations, and actions necessary to establish eligibility for admission or discharge
5. Language training records
6. Progress slips/notices required by Education Code 49066 and 49067
7. Parent/guardian restrictions/stipulations regarding access to directory information
8. Parent/guardian or adult student rejoinders to challenged records and to disciplinary action
9. Parent/guardian authorization or prohibition of student participation in specific programs
10. Results of standardized tests administered within the past three years
11. Written findings resulting from an evaluation conducted after a specified number of missed assignments to determine whether it is in a student's best interest to remain in independent study

Permitted student records may be destroyed six months after the student completes or withdraws from the educational program and their usefulness ceases, including: (5 CCR 432, 437)

1. Objective counselor and/or teacher ratings
2. Standardized test results older than three years
3. Routine discipline data
4. Verified reports of relevant behavioral patterns
5. All disciplinary notices
6. Supplementary attendance records

Records shall be destroyed in a way that assures they will not be available to possible public inspection in the process of destruction. (5 CCR 437)

Transfer of Student Records

When a student transfers into the district from any other district, a private school, or school system, the Superintendent or designee shall inform the student's parent/guardian of rights regarding student records, including a parent/guardian's right to review, challenge, and receive a copy of student records. (Education Code 49068; 5 CCR 438)

When a student transfers into this district from another district, the Superintendent or designee²³

shall request that the student's previous district provide any records, either maintained by that district in the ordinary course of business or received from a law enforcement agency, regarding acts committed by the transferring student that resulted in the student's suspension or expulsion. (Education Code 48201)

When a student transfers from this district to another school district or to a private school, the Superintendent or designee shall forward a copy of the student's mandatory permanent record within 10 school days of the district's receipt of the request for the student's records. The original record or a copy shall be retained permanently by this district. If the transfer is to another California public school, the student's entire mandatory interim record shall also be forwarded. If the transfer is out of state or to a private school, the mandatory interim record may be forwarded. Permitted student records may be forwarded to any other district or private school. (Education Code 48918, 49068; 5 CCR 438)

Upon receiving a request from a county placing agency to transfer a student in foster care out of a district school, the Superintendent or designee shall transfer the student's records to the next educational placement within two business days. (Education Code 49069.5)

Additionally, when a student in foster care is enrolling in a district school, the district's liaison for foster youth shall contact, within two business days of the student's request for enrollment, the school last attended by the student to obtain all academic and other records. (Education Code 48853.5)

All student records shall be updated before they are transferred. (5 CCR 438)

Student records shall not be withheld from the requesting district because of any charges or fees owed by the student or parent/guardian. (5 CCR 438)

If the district is withholding grades, diploma, or transcripts from the student because of damage or loss of district property, this information shall be sent to the requesting district along with the student's records.

Notification of Parents/Guardians

Upon any student's initial enrollment, and at the beginning of each school year thereafter, the Superintendent or designee shall notify parents/guardians and eligible students, in writing, of their rights related to student records. If 15 percent or more of the students enrolled in the district speak a single primary language other than English, then the district shall provide these notices in that language. Otherwise, the district shall provide these notices in the student's home language insofar as practicable. The district shall effectively notify parents/guardians or eligible students with exceptional needs. (Education Code 48985, 49063; 5 CCR 431; 34 CFR 99.7)

The notice shall include: (Education Code 49063; 60900.5; 34 CFR 99.7, 99.34)

1. The types of student records kept by the district and the information contained therein
2. The title(s) of the official(s) responsible for maintaining each type of record
3. The location of the log identifying those who request information from the records
4. District criteria for defining district officials and employees and for determining legitimate educational interest
5. District policies for reviewing and expunging student records
6. The right to inspect and review student records and the procedures for doing so

7. The right to challenge and the procedures for challenging the content of a student record that the parent/guardian or student believes to be inaccurate, misleading, or otherwise in violation of the student's privacy rights
8. The cost, if any, charged for duplicating copies of records
9. The categories of information defined as directory information pursuant to Education Code 49073
10. The right to consent to disclosures of personally identifiable information contained in the student's records except when disclosure without consent is authorized by law
11. Availability of the curriculum prospectus developed pursuant to Education Code 49091.14 containing the titles, descriptions, and instructional aims of every course offered by the school
12. The sharing with CCGI of specified district data and data collected by the California Department of Education for the purposes of college admissions, academic placement, and eligibility for student financial aid (Education Code 60900)
13. Any other rights and requirements set forth in Education Code 49060-49085, and the right of parents/guardians to file a complaint with the U.S. Department of Education concerning an alleged failure by the district to comply with 20 USC 1232g
14. A statement that the district forwards education records to other agencies or institutions that request the records and in which the student seeks or intends to enroll or is already enrolled as long as the disclosure is for purposes related to the student's enrollment

Additionally, the annual parent/guardian notification shall include a statement that a student's citizenship status, immigration status, place of birth, or any other information indicating national origin will only be released in accordance with Board Policy/Administrative Regulation 1445 – Response to Immigration Enforcement.

Student Records from Social Media

For the purpose of gathering and maintaining records of students' social media activity, the Superintendent or designee shall: (Education Code 49073.6)

1. Gather or maintain only information that pertains directly to school safety or student safety
2. Provide a student with access to any information that the district obtained from the student's social media activity and an opportunity to correct or delete such information
3. Destroy information gathered from social media and maintained in student records within one year after a student turns 18 years of age or within one year after the student is no longer enrolled in the district, whichever occurs first
4. Notify each parent/guardian that the student's information is being gathered from social media and that any information maintained in the student's records shall be destroyed as provided in Item #3 above.

Additionally, the notification shall include, but is not limited to, an explanation of the process by which a student or the student's parent/guardian may access the student's records for examination of the information gathered or maintained and the process by which removal of the information may be requested or corrections to the information may be made. The notification may be provided as part of the annual parent/guardian notification required pursuant to Education Code 48980.²⁵

5. If the district contracts with a third party to gather information on a student from social media, ensure that the contract:
 - a. Prohibits the third party from using the information for purposes other than those specified in the contract or from selling or sharing the information with any person or entity other than the district, the student, or the student's parent/guardian
 - b. Requires the third party to destroy the information immediately upon satisfying the terms of the contract, or when the district notifies the third party that the student has turned 18 years of age or is no longer enrolled in the district, whichever occurs first

Updating Name and/or Gender of Former Students

When a former student submits a state-issued driver's license, birth certificate, passport, social security card, court order, or other government-issued documentation demonstrating that the former student's legal name and/or gender has changed, the district shall update the former student's records to include the updated legal name and/or gender. Upon request by the former student, the district shall reissue any documents conferred upon the former student, including, but not limited to, a transcript, a high school diploma, a high school equivalency certificate, or other similar documents. (Education Code 49062.5)

If the former student's name or gender is changed and the requested records are reissued, a new document shall be added to the former student's file that includes all of the following information: (Education Code 49062.5)

1. The date of the request
2. The date the requested records were reissued to the former student
3. A list of the records that were requested by and reissued to the former student
4. The type of documentation, if any, provided by the former student to demonstrate a legal change to the student's name and/or gender
5. The name of the employee who completed the request
6. The current and former names and/or genders of the student

Any former student who submits a request to change the legal name and/or gender on the student's records but is unable to provide any government-issued documentation demonstrating the legal name or gender change, may request a name or gender change through the process described in Education Code 49070 and Administrative Regulation 5125.3 - Challenging Student Records. (Education Code 49062.5)

Policy Reference Disclaimer:

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the Governing Board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject matter of the policy.

Policy 5125.1: Release Of Directory Information

Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: ~~08/25/2009~~11/01/2001 | Last Revised Date: 01/01/2026 | Last Reviewed Date: 01/01/2026

The Governing ~~Board of Education~~ recognizes the importance of maintaining the confidentiality of directory information and therefore authorizes the release of such information ~~only, including to news media or nonprofit organizations,~~ in accordance with law, Board policy, and administrative regulation.

~~The Superintendent or designee may release student directory information to representatives of the news media or nonprofit organizations in accordance with Board policy and administrative regulation.~~

The Superintendent or designee may limit or deny the release of specific categories of directory information to any public or private nonprofit organization based on ~~his/her determination of the best interests of district students. (Education Code 49073)~~a determination of the best interests of district students. (Education Code 49073)

A student's directory information shall only be included in the minutes of the Board's meeting in accordance with Board Bylaw 9324 - Minutes and Recordings.

Colleges and prospective employers, including military recruiters, shall have access to a student's name, address, email address, and telephone number, unless the student's parent/guardian, or the student, if the student is 18 years of age or older, has requested that such information not be released. (10 USC 503, 20 USC 7908)

Under no circumstances shall directory information be disclosed to a private profit-making entity, except for representatives of the news media and employers, including prospective employers, in accordance with law, Board policy, and administrative regulation. Private schools and colleges may be given the names and addresses of 12th-grade students and students who are no longer enrolled, provided that they use this information only for purposes directly related to the institution's academic or professional goals. (Education Code 49073)

~~Colleges and prospective employers, including military recruiters, shall have access to directory information. Military recruiters shall have access to a student's name, address, and telephone number, unless the parent/guardian has specified that the information not be released in~~

-

Policy Reference Disclaimer:

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the Governing Board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject matter of the policy.

State

Ed. Code 234.7

Description

[Student protections relating to immigration and citizenship status](#)

Ed. Code 48985

[Notices to parents/guardians in language other than English](#)

Ed. Code 49061

[Definitions; directory information](#)

Ed. Code 49063

[Notification of parents/guardians of their rights](#)

Ed. Code 49073

[Release of directory information](#)

Ed. Code 49073.2

[Privacy of student and parent/guardian personal information; minutes of board meeting](#)

Ed. Code 49073.5

[Directory information; military representatives; telephone numbers](#)

Ed. Code 49603

[On campus access to employers and military services](#)

Federal

10 USC 503

Description

[Military recruiter access to directory information](#)

20 USC 1232g

[Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act \(FERPA\) of 1974](#)

20 USC 7908

[Armed forces recruiter access to students and student recruiting information](#)

34 CFR 99.1-99.67

[Family Educational Rights and Privacy](#)

42 USC 11434a

[McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act; definitions](#)

Management Resources

CA Office of the Attorney General
Publication

Description

[Promoting a Safe and Secure Learning Environment for All: Guidance and Model Policies to Assist California's TK-12 Schools in Responding to Requests for Access and Information for Immigration Enforcement Purposes, December 2025](#)

Policy 5125.1: Release Of Directory Information

Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: 08/25/2009 | **Last Revised Date:** | **Last Reviewed Date:**

The Governing Board recognizes the importance of maintaining the confidentiality of directory information and therefore authorizes the release of such information, including to news media or nonprofit organizations, in accordance with law, Board policy, and administrative regulation.

The Superintendent or designee may limit or deny the release of specific categories of directory information to any public or private nonprofit organization based on a determination of the best interests of district students. (Education Code 49073)

A student's directory information shall only be included in the minutes of the Board's meeting in accordance with Board Bylaw 9324 - Minutes and Recordings.

Colleges and prospective employers, including military recruiters, shall have access to a student's name, address, email address, and telephone number, unless the student's parent/guardian, or the student, if the student is 18 years of age or older, has requested that such information not be released. (10 USC 503, 20 USC 7908)

Under no circumstances shall directory information be disclosed to a private profit-making entity, except for representatives of the news media and employers, including prospective employers, in accordance with law, Board policy, and administrative regulation. Private schools and colleges may be given the names and addresses of 12th-grade students and students who are no longer enrolled, provided that they use this information only for purposes directly related to the institution's academic or professional goals. (Education Code 49073)

Policy Reference Disclaimer:

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the Governing Board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject matter of the policy.

State

Description

Ed. Code 234.7

[Student protections relating to immigration and citizenship status](#)

Ed. Code 48985

[Notices to parents/guardians in language other than English](#)

Ed. Code 49061

[Definitions; directory information](#)

Ed. Code 49063

[Notification of parents/guardians of their rights](#)

Ed. Code 49073

[Release of directory information](#)

Regulation 5125.1: Release Of Directory Information

Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: ~~08/25/2009~~11/01/2011 | Last Revised Date: ~~10/09/2018~~01/01/2026 |
Last Reviewed Date: ~~10/09/2018~~01/01/2026

Definition

Directory information means information contained in a student record that would not generally be considered harmful or an invasion of privacy if disclosed. Such student information includes: (Education Code 49061; 20 USC 1232g; 34 CFR 99.3)

1. Name
2. Address
3. Telephone number
4. Email address
5. Date of birth
6. Major field of study
7. Participation record in officially recognized activities and sports
8. Weight and height of athletic team members
9. Dates of attendance
10. Degrees and awards received
11. Most recent previous school attended

Directory information does not include a student's social security number or student identification number. However, for purposes of accessing or communicating in electronic systems, directory information may include a student identification number, user identification, or other personal identifier used by the student provided that the identifier cannot be used to gain access to education records except when used in conjunction with a personal identification number, password, or other factor known or possessed only by the authorized user. (34 CFR 99.3)

Directory information ~~also~~ does not include ~~a student's~~the citizenship status, immigration status, place of birth, or any other information indicating national origin:

of a student or the student's family member.

Notification to Parents/Guardians

At the beginning of each school year, all parents/guardians shall be notified as to the categories of directory information the district plans to release and the recipients of the information.

~~The~~Additionally, the notification shall ~~also~~ inform parents/guardians of their right to refuse to let the district designate any or all types of information about their student as directory information, how to refuse release of directory information about their student, and the period of time within which a parent/guardian must notify the district in writing that ~~he/she~~the parent/guardian does not want a certain category of information about their student designated as directory information. (Education Code 49063, 49073; 20 USC 1232g; 34 CFR 99.37)

In addition, the annual ~~parental~~parent/guardian notification shall include a statement that directory information does not include citizenship status, immigration status, place of birth, or any other information indicating national origin and that the district will not release such information without ~~parental~~parent/guardian consent or a court order.

The Superintendent or designee shall notify parents/guardians that they may request that the district not release the name, address, email address, and telephone number of their child to military recruiters, employers, or institutions of higher education without prior written consent. ~~(10 USC 503,~~ 20 USC 7908)

Parent/Guardian Consent

~~No~~

A student's directory information shall not be released if the student's parent/guardian has notified the district in writing that such information shall not be disclosed. (Education Code 49073; 20 USC 1232g, 7908)

The directory information of a student identified as a ~~homeless child or youth as defined in 42 USC 11434~~a student experiencing homelessness shall not be released, unless the student's parent/guardian, or the student if ~~he/she is~~ 18 years of age or older, has provided written consent that directory information may be released. ~~For any other student, However, the~~ directory information ~~shall not be released if his/her~~of a student experiencing homelessness may be disclosed for the purpose of facilitating an eye examination by a nonprofit eye examination provider or a free oral health assessment hosted by a district school, unless the student's parent/guardian notifies the district in writing, or student accorded parental rights, has provided

written notice to the school that ~~such information not be disclosed without the parent/guardian's prior consent: to such exam(s) is not given.~~ (Education Code 49073; 20 USC 1232g, 7908)

; 42 USC 11434a)

For a former student, the district shall continue to honor any valid request to opt out of the disclosure of directory information made while the student was in attendance at the district, unless the opt-out request has been rescinded. (34 CFR 99.37)

-

Policy Reference Disclaimer:

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the Governing Board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject matter of the policy.

State

Ed. Code 234.7

Description

[Student protections relating to immigration and citizenship status](#)

Ed. Code 48985

[Notices to parents/guardians in language other than English](#)

Ed. Code 49061

[Definitions; directory information](#)

Ed. Code 49063

[Notification of parents/guardians of their rights](#)

Ed. Code 49073

[Release of directory information](#)

Ed. Code 49073.2

[Privacy of student and parent/guardian personal information; minutes of board meeting](#)

Ed. Code 49073.5

[Directory information; military representatives; telephone numbers](#)

Ed. Code 49603

[On campus access to employers and military services](#)

Federal

10 USC 503

Description

[Military recruiter access to directory information](#)

20 USC 1232g

[Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act \(FERPA\) of 1974](#)

20 USC 7908

[Armed forces recruiter access to students and student recruiting information](#)

34 CFR 99.1-99.67

[Family Educational Rights and Privacy](#)

42 USC 11434a

[McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act; definitions](#)

Management Resources

CA Office of the Attorney General
Publication

Description

[Promoting a Safe and Secure Learning Environment for All: Guidance and Model Policies to Assist California's](#)

Regulation 5125.1: Release Of Directory Information

Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: 08/25/2009 | **Last Revised Date:** | **Last Reviewed Date:**

Definition

Directory information means information contained in a student record that would not generally be considered harmful or an invasion of privacy if disclosed. Such student information includes: (Education Code 49061; 20 USC 1232g; 34 CFR 99.3)

1. Name
2. Address
3. Telephone number
4. Email address
5. Date of birth
6. Major field of study
7. Participation record in officially recognized activities and sports
8. Weight and height of athletic team members
9. Dates of attendance
10. Degrees and awards received
11. Most recent previous school attended

Directory information does not include a student's social security number or student identification number. However, for purposes of accessing or communicating in electronic systems, directory information may include a student identification number, user identification, or other personal identifier used by the student provided that the identifier cannot be used to gain access to education records except when used in conjunction with a personal identification number, password, or other factor known or possessed only by the authorized user. (34 CFR 99.3)

Directory information does not include the citizenship status, immigration status, place of birth, or any other information indicating national origin of a student or the student's family member.

Notification to Parents/Guardians

At the beginning of each school year, all parents/guardians shall be notified as to the categories of directory information the district plans to release and the recipients of the information. Additionally, the notification shall inform parents/guardians of their right to refuse to let the district designate any or all types of information about their student as directory information, how to refuse release of directory information about their student, and the period of time within which a parent/guardian must notify the district in writing that the parent/guardian does not want a certain category of

information about their student designated as directory information. (Education Code 49063, 49073; 20 USC 1232g; 34 CFR 99.37)

In addition, the annual parent/guardian notification shall include a statement that directory information does not include citizenship status, immigration status, place of birth, or any other information indicating national origin and that the district will not release such information without parent/guardian consent or a court order.

The Superintendent or designee shall notify parents/guardians that they may request that the district not release the name, address, email address, and telephone number of their child to military recruiters, employers, or institutions of higher education without prior written consent. (10 USC 503, 20 USC 7908)

Parent/Guardian Consent

A student's directory information shall not be released if the student's parent/guardian has notified the district in writing that such information shall not be disclosed. (Education Code 49073; 20 USC 1232g, 7908)

The directory information of a student identified as a student experiencing homelessness shall not be released, unless the student's parent/guardian, or the student if 18 years of age or older, has provided written consent that directory information may be released. However, the directory information of a student experiencing homelessness may be disclosed for the purpose of facilitating an eye examination by a nonprofit eye examination provider or a free oral health assessment hosted by a district school, unless the student's parent/guardian, or student accorded parental rights, has provided written notice to the school that consent to such exam(s) is not given. (Education Code 49073; 20 USC 1232g, 7908; 42 USC 11434a)

For a former student, the district shall continue to honor any valid request to opt out of the disclosure of directory information made while the student was in attendance at the district, unless the opt-out request has been rescinded. (34 CFR 99.37)

Policy Reference Disclaimer:

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the Governing Board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject matter of the policy.

State	Description
Ed. Code 234.7	<u>Student protections relating to immigration and citizenship status</u>
Ed. Code 48985	<u>Notices to parents/guardians in language other than English</u>
Ed. Code 49061	<u>Definitions; directory information</u>
Ed. Code 49063	<u>Notification of parents/guardians of their rights</u>
Ed. Code 49073	<u>Release of directory information</u>
Ed. Code 49073.2	<u>Privacy of student and parent/guardian personal information; minutes of board meeting</u>

~~Exhibit (PDF) 5125.1 E PDF(1): Release Of Directory Information~~

Status: ~~ADOPTED~~

~~Original Adopted Date: 08/25/2009~~

~~See PDF on the next page.~~

Exhibit 5125.1-E(1): Release Of Directory Information**Status: ADOPTED**

Original Adopted Date: 07/01/2005 | **Last Revised Date:** 01/01/2026 | **Last Reviewed Date:** 01/01/2026

PARENT/GUARDIAN NOTICE**RELEASE OF DIRECTORY INFORMATION**

The Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA), a federal law, requires that ~~ALAMEDA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT,~~ (district name) with certain exceptions, obtain your written consent prior to the disclosure of personally identifiable information from your child's education records. However, the district may disclose appropriately designated "directory information" without written consent, unless you have advised the district to the contrary in accordance with district procedures. The primary purpose of directory information is to allow the district to include ~~this type of~~ information from your child's education records in certain school and/or district publications. Examples include:

- * ~~A~~ A playbill, showing your child's role in a drama production
- * ~~The~~ the annual yearbook
- * ~~Honor~~ honor roll or other recognition lists
- * ~~Graduation~~ graduation programs
- * ~~Sports~~ sports activity sheets, such as for wrestling, showing weight and height of team members

Directory information, which is information that is generally not considered harmful or an invasion of privacy if released, can also be disclosed to outside organizations without a parent/guardian's prior written consent. Outside organizations include, but are not limited to, companies that manufacture class rings or publish yearbooks. ~~In addition~~ Additionally, two federal laws require districts receiving assistance under the Elementary and Secondary Education Act of 1965 (ESEA), as amended, to provide military recruiters, upon request, with students' names, addresses, and telephone listings, unless parents/guardians have advised the district that they do not want their child's information disclosed without their prior written consent.

If you do not want the district to disclose any or all of the information designated below as directory information from your child's education records without your prior written consent, you must notify the district in writing by _____ (insert date). Notifying the district by this date is the only way to prevent the release of directory information. The district has designated the following information as directory information:

~~1. Name~~

1. Student's name

2. - Address

3. - Telephone number

4. - Email address

5. - Date of birth

6. - Major field of study

7. - Participation in officially recognized activities and sports

8. - Weight and height of athletic team members

-

9. Dates of attendance
10. Degrees and awards received
11. Most recent previous school attended

~~The~~ Additionally, the district ~~also~~ may disclose your child's student identification number, user identification, or other unique personal identifier used to communicate in electronic systems, provided it but only if the identifier cannot be used to gain access to education records without except when used in conjunction with one or more factors that authenticate the user's identity, such as a personal identification number (PIN), password, or other factor that known or possessed only by the authorized user knows. Your child's social security.

In addition, the district may disclose a student identification number will not or other unique personal identifier that is displayed on a student identification badge, but only if the identifier cannot be used for this purpose. to gain access to education records except when used in conjunction with one or more factors that authenticate the user's identity, such as a PIN, password, or other factor known or possessed only by the authorized user.

The district may not disclose a student's Social Security number. Directory information does not include your child's citizenship status, immigration status, place of birth, or any other information indicating national origin. ~~The district will not disclose such information without your consent or a court order.~~

Policy Reference Disclaimer:

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the Governing Board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject matter of the policy.

<u>State</u>	<u>Description</u>
<u>Ed. Code 234.7</u>	<u>Student protections relating to immigration and citizenship status</u>
<u>Ed. Code 48985</u>	<u>Notices to parents/guardians in language other than English</u>
<u>Ed. Code 49061</u>	<u>Definitions; directory information</u>
<u>Ed. Code 49063</u>	<u>Notification of parents/guardians of their rights</u>
<u>Ed. Code 49073</u>	<u>Release of directory information</u>
<u>Ed. Code 49073.2</u>	<u>Privacy of student and parent/guardian personal information; minutes of board meeting</u>
<u>Ed. Code 49073.5</u>	<u>Directory information; military representatives; telephone numbers</u>
<u>Ed. Code 49603</u>	<u>On campus access to employers and military services</u>

**PARENT/GUARDIAN NOTICE
RELEASE OF DIRECTORY INFORMATION**

The Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA), a federal law, requires that **ALAMEDA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT** with certain exceptions, obtain your written consent prior to the disclosure of personally identifiable information from your child's education records. However, the district may disclose appropriately designated "directory information" without written consent, unless you have advised the district to the contrary in accordance with district procedures. The primary purpose of directory information is to allow the district to include information from your child's education records in certain school and/or district publications. Examples include:

- a playbill, showing your child's role in a drama production
- the annual yearbook
- honor roll or other recognition lists
- graduation programs
- sports activity sheets, such as for wrestling, showing weight and height of team members

Directory information, which is information that is generally not considered harmful or an invasion of privacy if released, can also be disclosed to outside organizations without a parent/guardian's prior written consent. Outside organizations include, but are not limited to, companies that manufacture class rings or publish yearbooks. Additionally, two federal laws require districts receiving assistance under the Elementary and Secondary Education Act of 1965 (ESEA), as amended, to provide military recruiters, upon request, with students' names, addresses, and telephone listings, unless parents/guardians have advised the district that they do not want their child's information disclosed without their prior written consent.

If you do not want the district to disclose any or all of the information designated below as directory information from your child's education records without your prior written consent, you must notify the district in writing by _____ (insert date). Notifying the district by this date is the only way to prevent the release of directory information. The district has designated the following information as directory information:

1. Student's name
2. Address
3. Telephone number
4. Email address
5. Date of birth
6. Major field of study

7. Participation in officially recognized activities and sports
8. Weight and height of athletic team members
9. Dates of attendance
10. Degrees and awards received
11. Most recent previous school attended

Additionally, the district may disclose your child's student identification number, user identification, or other unique personal identifier used to communicate in electronic systems, but only if the identifier cannot be used to gain access to education records except when used in conjunction with one or more factors that authenticate the user's identity, such as a personal identification number (PIN), password, or other factor known or possessed only by the authorized user.

In addition, the district may disclose a student identification number or other unique personal identifier that is displayed on a student identification badge, but only if the identifier cannot be used to gain access to education records except when used in conjunction with one or more factors that authenticate the user's identity, such as a PIN, password, or other factor known or possessed only by the authorized user.

The district may not disclose a student's Social Security number. Directory information does not include your child's citizenship status, immigration status, place of birth, or any other information indicating national origin.

Policy Reference Disclaimer:

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the Governing Board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject matter of the policy.

State	Description
Ed. Code 234.7	<u>Student protections relating to immigration and citizenship status</u>
Ed. Code 48985	<u>Notices to parents/guardians in language other than English</u>
Ed. Code 49061	<u>Definitions; directory information</u>
Ed. Code 49063	<u>Notification of parents/guardians of their rights</u>
Ed. Code 49073	<u>Release of directory information</u>
Ed. Code 49073.2	<u>Privacy of student and parent/guardian personal information; minutes of board meeting</u>
Ed. Code 49073.5	<u>Directory information; military representatives; telephone numbers</u>
Ed. Code 49603	<u>On campus access to employers and military services</u>

Policy 5138: Conflict Resolution/Peer Mediation

Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: ~~09/28~~07/01/1999 | Last Revised Date: ~~08/25/2009~~11/01/2025 | Last Reviewed Date: ~~08/25/2009~~11/01/2025

To promote student safety and contribute to the maintenance of a positive school climate, the Governing Board ~~of Education~~ encourages the development of school-based conflict resolution and peer mediation programs designed to help students learn constructive ways of handling conflict. The Board believes that such programs can reduce violence and promote communication, personal responsibility, and problem-solving skills among students.

Conflict resolution ~~strategies shall~~ and peer mediation programs may be considered as part of each school's comprehensive safety plan and incorporated into other district discipline procedures as appropriate. ~~Conflict resolution~~ Such programs shall not supplant the authority of district staff to take appropriate action as necessary to prevent violence, ensure student safety, maintain order in the school, and institute disciplinary measures.

~~Schoolwide programs may include curriculum in conflict resolution, including, but not limited to, instruction in~~

Such programs may incorporate peer mediation strategies in which selected student volunteers are specifically trained to work with their peers in resolving conflicts. This training may involve effective communication and listening, critical thinking, problem-solving processes, and the use of negotiation to find mutually acceptable solutions. ~~In addition~~ Additionally, the ~~curriculum~~ training may address ~~students'~~ the ethical and social development of students, respect for diversity, and interpersonal and behavioral skills.

~~Conflict resolution programs may incorporate peer mediation strategies in which selected students are specially trained to work with their peers in resolving conflicts.~~

~~Students' participation in any~~

Participation in a peer mediation program by a student engaged in a conflict shall be voluntary and kept confidential by all parties involved.

In developing a conflict resolution and/or peer mediation program, school-site teams shall address, as appropriate:

1. The grade levels and courses in which the conflict resolution curriculum shall be delivered

2. Staff development related to the implementation of the curriculum and modeling of appropriate behaviors and communication skills
3. The selection of peer mediators involving, to the extent possible, a cross-section of students in terms of grade, gender, race, ethnicity, and socioeconomic status, and including some students who exhibit negative leadership among peers
4. Training and support for peer mediators, including training in mediation processes and in the skills related to understanding conflict, communicating effectively and listening
5. The process for identifying and referring students to the peer mediation program
6. The types of conflicts suitable for peer mediation
7. Expectation for confidentiality regarding who participated, what was discussed, and how any conflict was resolved
- 7.8. Scheduling and location of peer mediation sessions
- 8.9. Methods of obtaining and recording agreement from all disputants
- 9.10. The appropriate involvement of parents/guardians, the community, and staff, including counseling/guidance and security staff
- 10.11. Communications to students, parents/guardians, and staff regarding the availability of the program
- 11.12. Methods of following up with students to determine the effectiveness of the process
- 12.13. Development of assessment tools to periodically evaluate the success of the program including, but not limited to, measurements of whether there has been a reduction in violence at the school and whether the school's suspension rates have fallen since the program has been introduced
-

14. Selection of and requirements to train as peer mediators

Policy Reference Disclaimer:

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the Governing Board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject matter of the policy.

State	Description
CA Constitution Article 1, Section 28	<u>Right to safe schools</u>
Ed. Code 32280-32289.5	<u>School safety plans</u>
Ed. Code 32295.5	<u>Teen court programs</u>
Ed. Code 35291-35291.5	<u>Rules</u>

Policy 5138: Conflict Resolution/Peer Mediation

Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: 09/28/1999 | **Last Revised Date:** | **Last Reviewed Date:**

To promote student safety and contribute to the maintenance of a positive school climate, the Governing Board encourages the development of school-based conflict resolution and peer mediation programs designed to help students learn constructive ways of handling conflict. The Board believes that such programs can reduce violence and promote communication, personal responsibility, and problem-solving skills among students.

Conflict resolution and peer mediation programs may be considered as part of each school's comprehensive safety plan and incorporated into other district discipline procedures as appropriate. Such programs shall not supplant the authority of district staff to take appropriate action as necessary to prevent violence, ensure student safety, maintain order in the school, and institute disciplinary measures.

Such programs may incorporate peer mediation strategies in which selected student volunteers are specifically trained to work with their peers in resolving conflicts. This training may involve effective communication and listening, critical thinking, problem-solving processes, and the use of negotiation to find mutually acceptable solutions. Additionally, the training may address the ethical and social development of students, respect for diversity, and interpersonal and behavioral skills.

Participation in a peer mediation program by a student engaged in a conflict shall be voluntary and kept confidential by all parties involved.

In developing a conflict resolution and/or peer mediation program, school-site teams shall address, as appropriate:

1. The grade levels and courses in which the conflict resolution curriculum shall be delivered
2. Staff development related to the implementation of the curriculum and modeling of appropriate behaviors and communication skills
3. The selection of peer mediators involving, to the extent possible, a cross-section of students in terms of grade, gender, race, ethnicity, and socioeconomic status, and including some students who exhibit negative leadership among peers
4. Training and support for peer mediators, including training in mediation processes and in the skills related to understanding conflict, communicating effectively and listening
5. The process for identifying and referring students to the peer mediation program
6. The types of conflicts suitable for peer mediation

7. Expectation for confidentiality regarding who participated, what was discussed, and how any conflict was resolved
8. Scheduling and location of peer mediation sessions
9. Methods of obtaining and recording agreement from all disputants
10. The appropriate involvement of parents/guardians, the community, and staff, including counseling/guidance and security staff
11. Communications to students, parents/guardians, and staff regarding the availability of the program
12. Methods of following up with students to determine the effectiveness of the process
13. Development of assessment tools to periodically evaluate the success of the program including, but not limited to, measurements of whether there has been a reduction in violence at the school and whether the school's suspension rates have fallen since the program has been introduced
14. Selection of and requirements to train as peer mediators

Policy Reference Disclaimer:

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the Governing Board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject matter of the policy.

State	Description
CA Constitution Article 1, Section 28	Right to safe schools
Ed. Code 32280-32289.5	School safety plans
Ed. Code 32295.5	Teen court programs
Ed. Code 35291-35291.5	Rules
Ed. Code 44807	Teachers' duty concerning conduct of students
Ed. Code 51240	Excuse from instruction due to religious beliefs
Management Resources	Description
Court Decision	S.E. v Grey 782 F.Supp.3d 939 (S.D. Cal 2025)
Court Decision	Mahmoud v. Taylor (2025) 606 U.S. ____ (2025 WL 1773627)
Website	CSBA District and County Office of Education Legal Services
Website	California Department of Education, Safe Schools

Cross References

Policy 5141: Health Care And Emergencies

Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: ~~08/25/2009~~03/01/2005 | Last Revised Date: ~~05/14/2019~~09/01/2025 |
Last Reviewed Date: ~~05/14/2019~~09/01/2025

The Governing Board recognizes the importance of taking appropriate action whenever an emergency threatens the safety, health, or welfare of a student at school or during ~~school~~district-sponsored activities.

The Superintendent or designee shall develop procedures to ensure that first aid and/or medical attention is provided as quickly as possible when accidents and injuries to students occur and that parents/guardians are notified as appropriate.

The Superintendent or designee shall ask parents/guardians to provide emergency contact information in order to facilitate communication in the event of an accident or illness.

District staff shall appropriately report and document student accidents.

"Do Not Resuscitate" Orders

The Board believes that staff members should not be placed in the position of determining whether ~~or not~~ to follow any ~~parental~~parent/guardian or medical "do not resuscitate" ~~orders~~order. Staff shall not accept or follow any such ~~orders~~order except under the specific written direction of the Superintendent or designee. The Superintendent or designee may only direct a staff member to follow a "do not resuscitate" order if ~~he/she~~the Superintendent or designee has received a written authorization from the student's parent/guardian ~~authorization~~, with an authorized health care provider statement, and an order of an appropriate court.

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that parents/guardians who have submitted a "do not resuscitate" order are informed of this policy.

The Board authorizes the Superintendent or designee to place automated external defibrillators (AEDs) at designated school sites for use by school employees in an emergency.

, in accordance with the accompanying administrative regulation.

The Superintendent or designee shall develop guidelines for employees regarding ~~these devices~~the use of AEDs and shall ensure that employees receive information that describes sudden cardiac arrest, the school's emergency response plan, and the proper use of an AED. ~~The~~Additionally, the guidelines shall ~~also~~ specify the placement, security, and maintenance of the AED.

The authorization of AEDs in district schools shall not be deemed to create a guarantee that an AED will be present or will be used in the case of an emergency, or that a trained employee will be present and/or able to use an AED in an emergency, or that the AED will operate properly.

Trauma Kits

Any district school with an occupancy of 200 or more that was constructed on or after January 1, 2023, or was constructed prior to January 1, 2023, and modified or renovated as specified in Health and Safety Code 19310, shall acquire, place, and maintain trauma kits in accordance with the accompanying administrative regulation.

School employees shall be notified annually of the location of the trauma kits and be provided with information regarding training in the use of the trauma kit. (Health and Safety Code 19310)

-

Policy Reference Disclaimer:

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the Governing Board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject matter of the policy.

State	Description
8 CCR 5193	<u>Bloodborne pathogens</u>
Civ. Code 1714.21	<u>Defibrillators; CPR; immunity from civil liability</u>
Ed. Code 32040-32044	<u>First aid equipment: field trips</u>
Ed. Code 49300-49307	<u>School safety patrols</u>
Ed. Code 49407	<u>Liability for treatment</u>
Ed. Code 49408	<u>Student emergency information</u>

Policy 5141: Health Care And Emergencies

Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: 08/25/2009 | **Last Revised Date:** | **Last Reviewed Date:**

The Governing Board recognizes the importance of taking appropriate action whenever an emergency threatens the safety, health, or welfare of a student at school or during district-sponsored activities.

The Superintendent or designee shall develop procedures to ensure that first aid and/or medical attention is provided as quickly as possible when accidents and injuries to students occur and that parents/guardians are notified as appropriate.

The Superintendent or designee shall ask parents/guardians to provide emergency contact information in order to facilitate communication in the event of an accident or illness.

District staff shall appropriately report and document student accidents.

"Do Not Resuscitate" Orders

The Board believes that staff members should not be placed in the position of determining whether to follow any parent/guardian or medical "do not resuscitate" order. Staff shall not accept or follow any such order except under the specific written direction of the Superintendent or designee. The Superintendent or designee may only direct a staff member to follow a "do not resuscitate" order if the Superintendent or designee has received a written authorization from the student's parent/guardian, with an authorized health care provider statement, and an order of an appropriate court.

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that parents/guardians who have submitted a "do not resuscitate" order are informed of this policy.

Automated External Defibrillators

The Board authorizes the Superintendent or designee to place automated external defibrillators (AEDs) at designated school sites for use by school employees in an emergency, in accordance with the accompanying administrative regulation.

The Superintendent or designee shall develop guidelines for employees regarding the use of AEDs and shall ensure that employees receive information that describes sudden cardiac arrest, the school's emergency response plan, and the proper use of an AED. Additionally, the guidelines shall specify the placement, security, and maintenance of the AED.

The authorization of AEDs in district schools shall not be deemed to create a guarantee that an AED will be present or will be used in the case of an emergency, or that a trained employee will be present and/or able to use an AED in an emergency, or that the AED will operate properly.

Trauma Kits

Any district school with an occupancy of 200 or more that was constructed on or after January 1, 2023, or was constructed prior to January 1, 2023, and modified or renovated as specified in Health and Safety Code 19310, shall acquire, place, and maintain trauma kits in accordance with the accompanying administrative regulation.

School employees shall be notified annually of the location of the trauma kits and be provided with information regarding training in the use of the trauma kit. (Health and Safety Code 19310)

Policy Reference Disclaimer:

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the Governing Board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject matter of the policy.

State	Description
8 CCR 5193	Bloodborne pathogens
Civ. Code 1714.21	Defibrillators; CPR; immunity from civil liability
Ed. Code 32040-32044	First aid equipment: field trips
Ed. Code 49300-49307	School safety patrols
Ed. Code 49407	Liability for treatment
Ed. Code 49408	Student emergency information
Ed. Code 49409	Athletic events; physicians and surgeons; emergency medical care; immunity
Ed. Code 49417	Automated external defibrillators
Ed. Code 49429.5	County office of education coordination of agreements between districts and charter schools; rapid deployment of qualified mental health professionals and other key school personnel
Ed. Code 49470	Medical and hospital services for athletic program
Ed. Code 49471	Medical and hospital services not provided or available
Ed. Code 49472	Medical and hospital services for students
Ed. Code 49474	Ambulance services
Ed. Code 51202	Instruction in personal and public health and safety
Fam. Code 6550-6552	Caregivers

Policy 5142: Safety

Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: ~~08/25/2009~~11/01/2002 | Last Revised Date: ~~02/14/2023~~09/01/2025 |
Last Reviewed Date: ~~02/14/2023~~09/01/2025

The Governing Board recognizes the importance of providing a safe school environment that is conducive to learning and promotes student safety and well-being. Appropriate measures shall be implemented to minimize the risk of harm to students, including, but not limited to, protocols for maintaining safe conditions on school grounds, promoting safe use of school facilities and equipment, and guiding student participation in educational programs and school-sponsored activities.

Additionally, the Superintendent or designee shall regularly review current guidance regarding cybersecurity and digital media awareness and incorporate recommended practices into the district's processes and procedures related to the protection of the district's network infrastructure, and the monitoring and response to suspicious and/or threatening digital media content.

~~School~~District staff shall be responsible for the proper supervision of students at all times when students are subject to district rules, including, but not limited to, during school hours, ~~school~~district-sponsored activities, before and after-school programs, morning drop-off and afternoon pick-up, and while students are using district provided transportation.

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that students receive appropriate instruction on topics related to safety and emergency procedures, as well as injury and disease prevention.

Crossing Guards/Student Safety Patrol

To assist students in safely crossing streets adjacent to or near school sites, the Board may employ crossing guards and/or establish a student safety patrol at any district school. The Superintendent or designee shall periodically examine traffic patterns within school attendance areas in order to identify locations where crossing assistance may be needed.

~~Student Identification Cards and Safety Information~~

~~Student identification cards of students in grades 7-12 shall have printed on them safety information, including the following: (Education Code 215.5)~~

~~1. The National Suicide Prevention Lifeline telephone number and, at the district's discretion, the Crisis Text Line and/or a local suicide prevention hotline telephone number~~

~~2. The National Domestic Violence Hotline~~

Policy Reference Disclaimer:

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the Governing Board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject matter of the policy.

State	Description
5 CCR 14030	<u>Preliminary procedure, planning and approval of school facilities</u>
5 CCR 14103	<u>Authority of the driver</u>
5 CCR 202	<u>Exclusion of students with a contagious disease</u>
5 CCR 350	<u>Fees not permitted</u>
5 CCR 5552	<u>Playground supervision</u>
5 CCR 5570	<u>When school shall be open and teachers present</u>
5 CCR 570-576	<u>School safety patrols</u>
Ed. Code 17280-17317	<u>Field Act; approval of plans and supervision of construction</u>
Ed. Code 17365-17374	<u>Field Act; fitness for occupancy; liability of board members</u>
Ed. Code 17670	Shade structures
Ed. Code 215.5	<u>Student identification cards; safety information</u>
Ed. Code 32001	<u>Fire alarms and drills</u>
Ed. Code 32020	<u>School gates; entrances for emergency vehicles</u>
Ed. Code 32030-32034	<u>Eye safety</u>
Ed. Code 32040	<u>Duty to equip school with first aid kit</u>
Ed. Code 32225-32226	<u>Communications devices in classrooms</u>
Ed. Code 32240-32245	<u>Lead-Safe Schools Protection Act</u>
Ed. Code 32250-32254	<u>CDE School Safety and Security Resource Unit</u>
Ed. Code 32280-32289.5	<u>School safety plans</u>
Ed. Code 35179.6	<u>School-sponsored on-campus event in or around swimming pool</u>
Ed. Code 38134	<u>Use of school property</u>
Ed. Code 44807	<u>Teachers' duty concerning conduct of students</u>

Policy 5142: Safety

Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: 08/25/2009 | **Last Revised Date:** | **Last Reviewed Date:**

The Governing Board recognizes the importance of providing a safe school environment that is conducive to learning and promotes student safety and well-being. Appropriate measures shall be implemented to minimize the risk of harm to students, including, but not limited to, protocols for maintaining safe conditions on school grounds, promoting safe use of school facilities and equipment, and guiding student participation in educational programs and school-sponsored activities.

Additionally, the Superintendent or designee shall regularly review current guidance regarding cybersecurity and digital media awareness and incorporate recommended practices into the district's processes and procedures related to the protection of the district's network infrastructure, and the monitoring and response to suspicious and/or threatening digital media content.

District staff shall be responsible for the proper supervision of students at all times when students are subject to district rules, including, but not limited to, during school hours, district-sponsored activities, before and after-school programs, morning drop-off and afternoon pick-up, and while students are using district provided transportation.

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that students receive appropriate instruction on topics related to safety and emergency procedures, as well as injury and disease prevention.

Crossing Guards/Student Safety Patrol

To assist students in safely crossing streets adjacent to or near school sites, the Board may employ crossing guards and/or establish a student safety patrol at any district school. The Superintendent or designee shall periodically examine traffic patterns within school attendance areas in order to identify locations where crossing assistance may be needed.

Policy Reference Disclaimer:

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the Governing Board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject matter of the policy.

State

5 CCR 14030

Description

[Preliminary procedure, planning and approval of school facilities](#)

5 CCR 14103

[Authority of the driver](#)

5 CCR 202

[Exclusion of students with a contagious disease](#)

Policy 5145.13: Response To Immigration Enforcement

Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: 07/06/2018 | Last Revised Date: 09/09/2025 | Last Reviewed Date: 09/09/2025

The Governing Board is committed to the success of all students and believes that every school site should be a safe and welcoming place for all students and their families irrespective of their citizenship or immigration status. Indeed, on 1/24/17, the Board of Education passed Resolution No. 2016-2017.48, a Resolution Declaring AUSD a Safe Haven School District, ensuring that AUSD is committed to ensuring a safe educational environment for all, and is committed to being a safe haven school district for students and families threatened by immigration enforcement to the fullest extent of the law. On DATE, the Board reaffirmed this Resolution and remains committed to ensuring that all students and families attending AUSD schools have access to a safe and welcoming education.

District staff shall not solicit or collect information or documents, and shall not seek or require information or documents to the exclusion of other permissible information or documents, regarding the citizenship or immigration status of a student or the student's family members. (Education Code 234.7)

In accordance with law, Board Policy 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities, and Board Policy 5145.3 - Nondiscrimination/Harassment, no student shall be denied equal rights and opportunities, nor be subjected to unlawful discrimination, harassment, intimidation, or bullying in the district's programs and activities on the basis of the student's or family's immigration status or for the refusal to provide information related to the student's or family's immigration status. (Education Code 200, 220, 234.1)

Resources and data collected by the district shall not be used, directly or by others, to compile a list, registry, or database of individuals based on national origin, immigration status, religion, or other category of individual characteristics protected against unlawful discrimination. (Government Code 8310.3)

The Superintendent or designee shall notify parents/guardians regarding their children's right to a free public education regardless of immigration status or religious beliefs and their rights related to immigration enforcement. (Education Code 234.7)

The Superintendent or designee shall develop procedures for addressing any immigration-related requests by a law enforcement officer for access to district records, school sites, or students.

The Superintendent or designee may provide training to staff regarding immigration issues, including information on responding to a request from a law enforcement officer to visit a school site or to have access to a student.

The Superintendent or designee shall report to the Board in a timely manner any requests for information or access to a school site by a law enforcement officer for the purpose of enforcing the immigration laws. Such notification shall be provided in a manner that ensures the confidentiality and privacy of any potentially identifying information. (Education Code 234.7)

Regulation 5145.13: Response To Immigration Enforcement

Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: 07/06/2018 | Last Revised Date: 09/09/2025 | Last Reviewed Date: 09/09/2025

Responding to Requests for Immigration-Related Information or Documents

Unless authorized by the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act pursuant to 20 USC 1232g, student information shall not be disclosed to immigration law enforcement authorities without parental consent, a court order, or judicial subpoena. The Superintendent or designee shall annually notify parents/guardians that the district will not release student information to third parties for immigration enforcement purposes, unless the parent/guardian consents or as required to do so by a court order or judicial subpoena.

Upon receiving any verbal or written request for information or documents related to a student's or family's immigration or citizenship status, district staff shall:

1. Record or otherwise document the request and immediately notify the Superintendent or designee about the request. No information shall be provided to any law enforcement agency without the express authorization to do by the Superintendent or designee. After the Superintendent or designee has reviewed the request for information and determined how to respond to the request, and in consultation with the Superintendent or designee, district staff shall:

- a. Provide students and families with appropriate notice and a description of the immigration officer's request;
- b. Document any request for information by immigration authorities; and
- c. Provide students and parents/guardians with any documents provided by the immigration enforcement officer, unless such disclosure is prohibited by a subpoena served on the district or in cases involving investigations of child abuse, neglect, or dependency.

Resources and data collected by the district shall not be used, directly or by others, to compile a list, registry, or database of individuals based on national origin, immigration status, religion, or other category of individual characteristics protected against unlawful discrimination. (Government Code 8310.3)

Responding to Requests for Access to Students or School Grounds

All visitors and outsiders, including immigration enforcement officers, shall register with the principal or designee upon entering school grounds during school hours. Each visitor or outsider shall provide the principal or designee with his/her name, address, occupation, age if less than 21, purpose in entering school grounds, proof of identity, and any other information required by law. (Penal Code 627.2, 627.3)

District staff shall immediately report the presence of any immigration enforcement officers to on-site district administrators and the Superintendent or designee.

In addition, district staff shall take the following actions in response to an officer present on the school campus specifically for immigration enforcement purposes:

1. Advise the officer that before school personnel can respond to the officer's request, they must first receive notification and direction from the Superintendent or designee, except under exigent circumstances that necessitate immediate action.
2. Pending direction from the Superintendent or designee, staff shall request to see the officer's credentials, including his/her name and badge number, and the phone number of the officer's supervisor, and note or make a copy of all such information.
3. Ask the officer for his/her reason for being on school grounds and document the response.
4. Request that the officer produce any documentation that authorizes his/her school access.
5. Make a copy of all documents produced by the officer and retain one copy for school records.
6. If the officer declares that exigent circumstances exist and demands immediate access to the campus, comply with the officer's orders.

7. If the officer does not declare that exigent circumstances exist, staff shall not authorize the officer to access school grounds without express approval from the Superintendent or designee. Upon review of a lawfully executed warrant or court order, the Superintendent or designee may proceed as follows:

- a. If the officer has an Immigrations and Customs Enforcement (ICE) administrative warrant, the Superintendent or designee shall inform the agent that they cannot consent to any request without first consulting with the district's legal counsel.
- b. If the officer has a federal judicial warrant, such as a search and seizure warrant or an arrest warrant signed by a federal judge or magistrate, the Superintendent or designee shall consult with the district's legal counsel before providing the officer with access to the person or materials specified in the warrant and await further instructions as to how to proceed.
- c. If the officer has a subpoena for production of documents or other evidence, the Superintendent or designee shall inform the district's legal counsel and await further instructions as to how to proceed.

8. Do not attempt to physically impede the officer, even if the officer appears to be exceeding the authorization given under a warrant or other document. If an officer enters the premises without consent, district staff shall document the officer's actions while on campus.

9. After the encounter with the officer, promptly make written notes of all interactions with the officer, including:

- a. A list or copy of the officer's credentials and contact information
- b. The identity of all school personnel who communicated with the officer
- c. Details of the officer's request
- d. Whether the officer presented a warrant or subpoena to accompany his/her request, what was requested in the warrant or subpoena, and whether the warrant or subpoena was signed by a judge
- e. District staff's response to the officer's request
- f. Any further action taken by the officer
- g. A photo or copy of any documents presented by the officer

10. Provide a copy of these notes and associated documents collected from the officer to the district's legal counsel or other designated district official

The Superintendent, the district's legal counsel, or any other designated official shall submit a timely report to the Governing Board regarding the officer's requests and actions and the district's responses. (Education Code 234.7)

The Superintendent or designee shall also email the Bureau of Children's Justice in the California Department of Justice (BCJ@doj.ca.gov) regarding any attempt by a law enforcement officer to access a school site or a student for immigration enforcement purposes.

Responding to the Detention or Deportation of Student's Family Member

The Superintendent or designee shall encourage students and their families to update their emergency contact information as needed throughout the school year and to provide alternative contacts, including an identified trusted adult guardian, in case a student's parent/guardian is detained or is otherwise unavailable. The Superintendent or designee shall notify students' families that information provided on the emergency cards will only be used in response to specific emergency situations and not for any other purpose.

The Superintendent or designee shall also encourage all students and families to learn their emergency phone numbers and be aware of the location of important documentation, including birth certificates, passports, social security cards, physicians' contact information, medication lists, lists of allergies, and other such information that would allow the students and families to be prepared in the event that a family member is detained or deported.

In the event that a student's parent/guardian is detained or deported by federal immigration authorities, the Superintendent or designee shall release the student to the person(s) designated in the student's emergency contact

information or to any individual who presents a caregiver's authorization affidavit on behalf of the student. The Superintendent or designee shall make every effort to release the student to a person authorized to take custody of the child and shall only contact child protective services if district personnel are unable to arrange for the timely care of the student by the person(s) designated in the emergency contact information maintained by the school or identified on a caregiver's authorization affidavit.

The Superintendent or designee shall notify a student whose parent/guardian was detained or deported that the student continues to meet the residency requirements for attendance in a district school, provided that the parent/guardian was a resident of California and the student lived in California immediately before he/she moved out of state as a result of the parent/guardian's departure. (Education Code 48204.4)

The Superintendent or designee may refer a student or his/her family members to other resources for assistance, including, but not limited to, an ICE detainee locator, legal assistance, or the consulate or embassy of the parent/guardian's country of origin.

The Superintendent, the district's legal counsel or the Superintendent or designee shall submit a timely report to the Governing Board regarding the officer's requests and actions and the district's response. (Education Code 234.7)

The Superintendent or designee shall also email the Bureau of Children's Justice in the California Department of Justice (BCJ@doj.ca.gov) regarding any attempt by a law enforcement officer to access a school site or a student for immigration enforcement purposes.

Policy 6020: Parent Involvement

Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: 06/~~12/2007~~01/1996 | Last Revised Date: ~~10/27/2020~~11/01/2025 |
Last Reviewed Date: ~~10/27/2020~~11/01/2025

The Governing Board recognizes that parents/guardians are their children's first and most influential teachers and that sustained parent/guardian involvement in the education of their children contributes greatly to student achievement and a positive school environment.

The Superintendent or designee shall work with parents/guardians and family members to jointly develop and ~~agree upon policy and strategies to implement this policy, and the programs established by this policy, and to propose revisions to this policy, as needed. Additionally, the Superintendent or designee shall~~ meaningfully involve parents/guardians and family members in district and school activities at all grade levels; advisory, decision-making, and advocacy roles; and activities to support learning at home. (Education Code 11500-11504, 51101; 20 USC 6318)

Parents/guardians shall be notified of their rights to be informed about and to participate in their children's education and of the opportunities available ~~to them to do so~~ for them to do so, in accordance with Board Policy/Administrative Regulation 5020 - Parents Rights and Responsibilities.

The district's local control and accountability plan (LCAP) shall include goals and strategies for parent/guardian involvement and family engagement, including district efforts to seek parent/guardian input in district and school site decision making and to promote parent/guardian participation in programs for English learners, foster youth, students eligible for free and reduced-price meals, and students with disabilities. ~~(Education Code 42238.02, 52060)~~(Education Code 42238.02, 52060)

The Board shall establish and convene a parent advisory committee (PAC), and, as applicable, an English learner parent advisory committee (ELPAC) to review and comment on the LCAP, in accordance Board Policy 0460 - Local Control and Accountability Plan, including the use of federal funds and how funds will be allocated for parent/guardian involvement activities as well as activities related to increasing student achievement.

The Superintendent or designee shall regularly evaluate and report to the Board on the effectiveness of the district's parent/guardian and family engagement efforts, including, but not limited to, input from parents/guardians, family members, and school staff on the adequacy of parent/guardian involvement opportunities and on barriers that may inhibit participation.

Title I Schools

The Superintendent or designee shall involve parents/guardians and family members in establishing

district expectations and objectives for meaningful parent/guardian and family engagement in schools supported by Title I funding;~~;~~ developing strategies that describe how the district will carry out each activity listed in 20 USC 6318,~~as contained in the accompanying administrative regulation;~~ and implementing and evaluating such programs, activities, and procedures. The Superintendent or designee shall implement these obligations in accordance with the accompanying administrative regulation. As appropriate, the Superintendent or designee shall conduct outreach to all parents/guardians and family members. (Education Code 11503; 20 USC 6318)

When the district's Title I, Part A allocation exceeds the amount specified in 20 USC 6318, the Board shall reserve at least one percent of the funding to implement parent/guardian and family engagement activities and ~~shall~~ distribute at least 90 percent of those reserved funds to eligible schools, with priority given to high-need schools as defined in 20 USC 6631. The Superintendent or designee shall involve parents/guardians and family members of participating students in decisions regarding how the district's Title I funds will be allotted for parent/guardian and family engagement activities. (20 USC 6318)

Expenditures of such funds shall be consistent with the activities specified in this Board policy and shall include at least one of the following: (20 USC 6318)

1. Support for schools and nonprofit organizations in providing professional development for district and school staff regarding parent/guardian and family engagement strategies, which may be provided jointly to teachers, principals, other school leaders, specialized instructional support personnel, paraprofessionals, early childhood educators, and parents/guardians and family members
2. Support for programs that reach parents/guardians and family members at home, in the community, and at school
3. Dissemination of information on best practices focused on parent/guardian and family engagement, especially best practices for increasing the engagement of economically disadvantaged parents/guardians and family members
4. Collaboration, or the provision of subgrants to schools to enable collaboration, with community-based or other organizations or employers with a record of success in improving and increasing parent/guardian and family engagement
5. Any other activities and strategies that the district determines are appropriate and consistent with this policy

~~If the district also receives funds under federal Title IV, Part E, to~~
To coordinate and enhance family engagement programs, the Superintendent or designee shall inform parents/guardians and organizations of the existence of Title IV. (20 USC 6318)

The district's Board policy and administrative regulation containing parent/guardian and family engagement strategies shall be incorporated into the district's LCAP in accordance with 20 USC 6312. (20 USC 6318)

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that each school receiving Title I funds develops a 2

school-level parent/guardian and family engagement policy in accordance with 20 USC 6318.

District and school-level parent/guardian and family engagement policies and administrative regulations shall be distributed to parents/guardians of students participating in Title I programs and shall be available to the local community. Parents/guardians shall be notified of the policy in an understandable and uniform format and, to the extent practicable, provided in a language the parents/guardians can understand. ~~(20 USC 6318)~~

Non-Title I Schools(20 USC 6318)

As required by law, the Superintendent or designee shall annually attend a regular meeting of the PAC or ELPAC, if applicable, to receive input and feedback on topics that support student achievement and programs that reach parents/guardians and family members at home, in the community, and at school. (20 USC 6318)

Non-Title I Schools

The Superintendent or designee shall develop and implement strategies applicable to each school that does not receive federal Title I funds to encourage the involvement and support of parents/guardians in the education of their children, including, but not limited to, strategies describing how the district and schools will address the purposes and goals described in Education Code 11502. (Education Code 11504)

-

Policy Reference Disclaimer:

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the Governing Board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject matter of the policy.

State

5 CCR 18275

Description

[Child care and development programs; parent involvement and education](#)

Ed. Code 11500-11505

[Programs to encourage parent/guardian involvement](#)

Ed. Code 48985

[Notices to parents/guardian in language other than English](#)

Ed. Code 51101

[Parents Rights Act of 2002](#)

Ed. Code 52060-52077

[Local control and accountability plan](#)

Ed. Code 54444.1-54444.2

[Parent advisory councils; services to migrant children](#)

Ed. Code 56190-56194

[Community advisory committee; special education](#)

Ed. Code 64001

[School plan for student achievement; consolidated application programs](#)

Policy 6020: Parent Involvement

Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: 06/12/2007 | **Last Revised Date:** | **Last Reviewed Date:**

The Governing Board recognizes that parents/guardians are their children's first and most influential teachers and that sustained parent/guardian involvement in the education of their children contributes greatly to student achievement and a positive school environment.

The Superintendent or designee shall work with parents/guardians and family members to jointly develop and implement this policy, and the programs established by this policy, and to propose revisions to this policy, as needed. Additionally, the Superintendent or designee shall meaningfully involve parents/guardians and family members in district and school activities at all grade levels; advisory, decision-making, and advocacy roles; and activities to support learning at home. (Education Code 11500-11504, 51101; 20 USC 6318)

Parents/guardians shall be notified of their rights to be informed about and to participate in their children's education and of the opportunities available for them to do so, in accordance with Board Policy/Administrative Regulation 5020 - Parents Rights and Responsibilities.

The district's local control and accountability plan (LCAP) shall include goals and strategies for parent/guardian involvement and family engagement, including district efforts to seek parent/guardian input in district and school site decision making and to promote parent/guardian participation in programs for English learners, foster youth, students eligible for free and reduced-price meals, and students with disabilities. (Education Code 42238.02, 52060)

The Board shall establish and convene a parent advisory committee (PAC), and, as applicable, an English learner parent advisory committee (ELPAC) to review and comment on the LCAP, in accordance Board Policy 0460 - Local Control and Accountability Plan, including the use of federal funds and how funds will be allocated for parent/guardian involvement activities as well as activities related to increasing student achievement.

The Superintendent or designee shall regularly evaluate and report to the Board on the effectiveness of the district's parent/guardian and family engagement efforts, including, but not limited to, input from parents/guardians, family members, and school staff on the adequacy of parent/guardian involvement opportunities and on barriers that may inhibit participation.

Title I Schools

The Superintendent or designee shall involve parents/guardians and family members in establishing district expectations and objectives for meaningful parent/guardian and family engagement in schools supported by Title I funding; developing strategies that describe how the district will carry out each activity listed in 20 USC 6318; and implementing and evaluating such programs, activities, and procedures. The Superintendent or designee shall implement these obligations in accordance with the accompanying administrative regulation. As appropriate, the Superintendent or designee⁴

shall conduct outreach to all parents/guardians and family members. (Education Code 11503; 20 USC 6318)

When the district's Title I, Part A allocation exceeds the amount specified in 20 USC 6318, the Board shall reserve at least one percent of the funding to implement parent/guardian and family engagement activities and distribute at least 90 percent of those reserved funds to eligible schools, with priority given to high-need schools as defined in 20 USC 6631. The Superintendent or designee shall involve parents/guardians and family members of participating students in decisions regarding how the district's Title I funds will be allotted for parent/guardian and family engagement activities. (20 USC 6318)

Expenditures of such funds shall be consistent with the activities specified in this Board policy and shall include at least one of the following: (20 USC 6318)

1. Support for schools and nonprofit organizations in providing professional development for district and school staff regarding parent/guardian and family engagement strategies, which may be provided jointly to teachers, principals, other school leaders, specialized instructional support personnel, paraprofessionals, early childhood educators, and parents/guardians and family members
2. Support for programs that reach parents/guardians and family members at home, in the community, and at school
3. Dissemination of information on best practices focused on parent/guardian and family engagement, especially best practices for increasing the engagement of economically disadvantaged parents/guardians and family members
4. Collaboration, or the provision of subgrants to schools to enable collaboration, with community-based or other organizations or employers with a record of success in improving and increasing parent/guardian and family engagement
5. Any other activities and strategies that the district determines are appropriate and consistent with this policy

To coordinate and enhance family engagement programs, the Superintendent or designee shall inform parents/guardians and organizations of the existence of Title IV. (20 USC 6318)

The district's Board policy and administrative regulation containing parent/guardian and family engagement strategies shall be incorporated into the district's LCAP in accordance with 20 USC 6312. (20 USC 6318)

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that each school receiving Title I funds develops a school-level parent/guardian and family engagement policy in accordance with 20 USC 6318.

District and school-level parent/guardian and family engagement policies and administrative regulations shall be distributed to parents/guardians of students participating in Title I programs and shall be available to the local community. Parents/guardians shall be notified of the policy in an understandable and uniform format and, to the extent practicable, provided in a language the parents/guardians can understand. (20 USC 6318)

As required by law, the Superintendent or designee shall annually attend a regular meeting of the

PAC or ELPAC, if applicable, to receive input and feedback on topics that support student achievement and programs that reach parents/guardians and family members at home, in the community, and at school. (20 USC 6318)

Non-Title I Schools

The Superintendent or designee shall develop and implement strategies applicable to each school that does not receive federal Title I funds to encourage the involvement and support of parents/guardians in the education of their children, including, but not limited to, strategies describing how the district and schools will address the purposes and goals described in Education Code 11502. (Education Code 11504)

Policy Reference Disclaimer:

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the Governing Board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject matter of the policy.

State	Description
5 CCR 18275	Child care and development programs; parent involvement and education
Ed. Code 11500-11505	Programs to encourage parent/guardian involvement
Ed. Code 48985	Notices to parents/guardian in language other than English
Ed. Code 51101	Parents Rights Act of 2002
Ed. Code 52060-52077	Local control and accountability plan
Ed. Code 54444.1-54444.2	Parent advisory councils; services to migrant children
Ed. Code 56190-56194	Community advisory committee; special education
Ed. Code 64001	School plan for student achievement; consolidated application programs
Lab. Code 230.8	Time off to visit child's school
Federal	Description
20 USC 6311	State plan
20 USC 6312	Local educational agency plan
20 USC 6314	Schoolwide programs
20 USC 6318	Parent/guardian and family engagement
20 USC 6631	Teacher and school leader incentive program; purposes and definitions
28 CFR 35.104	Definitions, auxiliary aids and services

ALAMEDA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT
SPECIAL AGENDA ITEM

Item Title: Staff Recommended Update to Exhibit 9150: Student Board Members (10 Mins/Action)

Item Type: Action

Background: *Exhibit 9150 Student Board Members* was amended at the September 9, 2025 BOE Meeting to enable the Board, or the Board's designee, to appoint a Student Board Member if the position becomes vacant.

Today, the committee will review and discuss staff recommendations to Exhibit 9150 Student Board Members to include Student Board Member Conduct.

- Exhibit 9150 Student Board Members

After discussion, one of the following action steps will be taken:

1. The policy and administrative regulation will be added to the next Board Policy Subcommittee meeting for further discussion and possible revision by Subcommittee members.
2. The policy and administrative regulation will be added to the agenda for a regularly scheduled Board meeting so the full Board can weigh in on any further changes in public.
3. The policy and administrative regulation will be approved as is by the full Board at a regularly scheduled public Board meeting.

AUSD LCAP Goals:

Fiscal Analysis

Amount (Savings) (Cost):

Recommendation: Other

Submitted for review and discussion by staff.

AUSD Guiding Principle:

Submitted By: Kirsten Zazo, Assistant Superintendent of Educational Services

ATTACHMENTS:

	Description	Upload Date	Type
□	E 9150_Student Board Members_Redline 9.9.25	10/6/2025	Backup Material
□	E9150_Student Board Members_Redline 10.8.25	10/14/2025	Backup Material

Exhibit (PDF) 9150-E PDF(1): Student Board Members

Status:
ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: 08/25/2009 | **Last Revised Date:** 05/14/2019 | **Last Reviewed Date:** 05/14/2019

See PDF on the next page.

Student Board Members

STUDENT BOARD MEMBER GUIDELINES

Duties of Student Board Member

The duties of the student Board member include the following:

1. To provide continuing input for Board deliberations.
2. To strengthen communications between the Board and district students.
3. To represent all students and facilitate the discussion of all sides of issues. This duty does not preclude the student Board member from stating his/her individual opinion.

Selection and Term

The student Board members shall be elected by the students of each school ~~listed in the Board policy~~. The following election procedures shall be used:

- All student Board members should be elected directly by the students of the school site they serve.
- Candidates for the election may be nominated by staff or students. Students shall be able to self nominate or nominate any other student.
- Nominees must be in the 9th, 10th, or 11th grades at the time of nomination.
- The nomination period shall remain open for a minimum of 10 school days.
- All potential candidates are to be clearly informed of the responsibilities of the office following their nomination and prior to declaration of candidacy.
- Once informed of the responsibilities of the office, a student can accept the nomination by providing a candidate statement outlining their policy goals and qualifications for serving as a student Board member. Candidate statements shall be included on the ballots.
- Before any election, voting procedures and the duties of student board representatives shall be clearly explained and publicized.
- Elections should be conducted through a system of ranked choice voting and held either online or via paper ballots.
- Elections should be publicized widely and conducted over the course of no less than three days to ensure that all students have time to vote and submit their ballot.
- Voting shall be confidential, but overall results shall be made public at the school site and available to the general public.

The term of office shall be one year, commencing July 1.

Vacancy

If the position of student Board member becomes vacant, another student Board member shall be ~~elected following the steps listed above~~. appointed by the Board, or by the Board's designee.

Board Materials/Information

The Superintendent or designee's office shall provide the student Board member with full and complete agendas and copies of any materials received by the Board except for those materials covered in closed session and any other confidential materials. The Superintendent's office shall serve as the "home office" for the student Board member, where he/she may make use of secretarial facilities and receive advice and/or information upon request.

Exhibit ALAMEDA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT

version: August 25, 2009 Alameda, California

revised: May 8, 2012 revised: March 26, 2019

revised: May 14, 2019

Exhibit (PDF) 9150-E PDF(1): Student Board Members

Status:
ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: 08/25/2009 | **Last Revised Date:** 05/14/2019 | **Last Reviewed Date:** 05/14/2019

See PDF on the next page.

Student Board Members

STUDENT BOARD MEMBER GUIDELINES

Duties of Student Board Member

The duties of the student Board member include the following:

1. To provide continuing input for Board deliberations.
2. To strengthen communications between the Board and district students.
3. To represent all students and facilitate the discussion of all sides of issues. This duty does not preclude the student Board member from stating his/her individual opinion.

Selection and Term

The student Board members shall be elected by the students of each high school. The following election procedures shall be used:

- All student Board members should be elected directly by the students of the school site they serve.
- Candidates for the election may be nominated by staff or students. Students shall be able to self nominate or nominate any other student.
- Nominees must be in the 9th, 10th, or 11th grades at the time of nomination.
- The nomination period shall remain open for a minimum of 10 school days.
- All potential candidates are to be clearly informed of the responsibilities of the office following their nomination and prior to declaration of candidacy.
- Once informed of the responsibilities of the office, a student can accept the nomination by providing a candidate statement outlining their policy goals and qualifications for serving as a student Board member. Candidate statements shall be included on the ballots.
- Before any election, voting procedures and the duties of student board representatives shall be clearly explained and publicized.
- Elections should be conducted through a system of ranked choice voting and held either online or via paper ballots.
- Elections should be publicized widely and conducted over the course of no less than three days to ensure that all students have time to vote and submit their ballot.
- Voting shall be confidential, but overall results shall be made public at the school site and available to the general public.

The term of office shall be one year, commencing July 1.

Student Board Member Conduct

1. Professionalism and Representation

- Conduct myself with integrity, respect, and professionalism in all school board-related activities.
- Represent the district and student body in a manner that reflects positively on AUSD.

2. Attendance and Participation

- Attend all scheduled board meetings, trainings, and committee assignments unless excused in advance.
- Prepare for meetings by reviewing all relevant materials and contributing meaningfully to discussions.

3. Academic Standing

- Maintain a minimum GPA of 2.5 and remain in good academic standing.
- Understand that academic probation or disciplinary action may affect eligibility to serve.

4. Confidentiality

- Respect the confidentiality of closed session discussions and sensitive district matters.

5. Communication and Collaboration

- Communicate respectfully and professionally with board members, staff, students, and the community.
- Notify the Board President or designee promptly if unable to fulfill responsibilities.

6. Behavior In and Out of School

- Refrain from any behavior—on or off campus, in person or online—that could bring disrepute to the district or undermine public trust in the school board. This includes, but is not limited to:
 - Involvement in illegal activities.
 - Use of discriminatory, harassing, or offensive language or behavior.
 - Inappropriate or harmful social media activity.
 - Public criticism of the district, board, or staff in a manner that is disrespectful or damaging to the district's reputation.

7. Substance-Free Commitment

- Abstain from the use, possession, or influence of alcohol, tobacco, or controlled substances at any school or district event.

8. Digital Citizenship

- Use social media and digital platforms responsibly, ensuring that my online presence aligns with the values of AUSD and my role as a student leader.

9. Equity and Inclusion

- Actively promote equity, inclusion, and the representation of all student voices in board discussions and decisions.

10. Accountability

- Understand that failure to meet these expectations may result in a review of my position and potential removal by the Board or Superintendent.

Vacancy

If the position of student Board member becomes vacant, another student Board member shall be appointed by the Board, or by the Board's designee.

Board Materials/Information

The Superintendent or designee's office shall provide the student Board member with full and complete agendas and copies of any materials received by the Board except for those materials covered in closed session and any other confidential materials. The Superintendent's office shall serve as the "home office" for the student Board member, where he/she may make use of secretarial facilities and receive advice and/or information upon request.

Exhibit ALAMEDA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT

version: August 25, 2009 Alameda,

California revised: May 8, 2012 revised:

March 26, 2019 revised: May 14, 2019

ALAMEDA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT
SPECIAL AGENDA ITEM

Item Title: Review Existing Board Policy and Administrative Regulation 6144:
Controversial Issues (30 Mins/Action)

Item Type: Action

Background: *Board Policy and Administrative Regulation 6144: Controversial Issues* are being brought to the Committee by Board Member referral.

After discussion, one of the following action steps will be taken:

1. The policy and administrative regulation will be added to the next Board Policy Subcommittee meeting for further discussion and possible revision by Subcommittee members.
2. The policy and administrative regulation will be added to the agenda for a regularly scheduled Board meeting so the full Board can weigh in on any further changes in public.
3. The policy and administrative regulation will be approved as is by the full Board at a regularly scheduled public Board meeting.

AUSD LCAP Goals:

Fiscal Analysis

Amount (Savings) (Cost):

Recommendation: Other

Brought by Board Member referral for review and discussion.

AUSD Guiding Principle:

Submitted By: Board Member Referral

ATTACHMENTS:

Description	Upload Date	Type
□ BP 6144 Controversial Issues	1/22/2026	Backup Material
□ AR 6144 Controversial Issues	1/22/2026	Backup Material
□ DRAFT Exhibit for BP 6144	2/4/2026	Backup Material

Policy 6144: Controversial Issues**Status:** ADOPTED**Original Adopted Date:** 11/26/1996 | **Last Revised Date:** 02/26/2019 | **Last Reviewed Date:** 02/26/2019

The Governing Board recognizes that the district's educational program may sometimes include instruction related to controversial issues that may arouse strong reactions based on personal values and beliefs, political philosophy, culture, religion, or other influences. Instruction concerning such topics shall be relevant to the adopted course of study and curricular goals and should be designed to develop students' critical thinking skills, ability to discriminate between fact and opinion, respect for others, and understanding and tolerance of diverse points of view.

The Board expects administrators and teachers to exercise professional judgment when deciding whether or not a particular issue is suitable for study or discussion. They shall consult with the Superintendent or designee as necessary to determine the appropriateness of the subject matter, guest speakers, and/or related instructional materials or resources.

When providing instruction related to a controversial issue, the following guidelines shall apply:

1. The topic shall be suitable to the age and maturity of the students.
2. Instruction shall be presented in a balanced manner, addressing all sides of the issue without bias or prejudice and without promoting any particular point of view.
3. In the classroom, teachers act on behalf of the district and are expected to follow the adopted curriculum. In leading or guiding class discussions about issues that may be controversial, a teacher may not advocate his/her personal opinion or viewpoint. When necessary, the Superintendent or designee may instruct teachers to refrain from sharing personal views in the classroom on controversial topics.
4. Students shall be assured of their right to form and express an opinion without jeopardizing their grades or being subject to discrimination, retaliation, or discipline, provided the viewpoint does not constitute harassment, threats, intimidation, or bullying or is otherwise unlawful.
5. Students shall be informed of conduct expected during such instruction and the importance of being courteous and respectful of the opinions of others.
6. Adequate factual information shall be provided to help students objectively analyze and evaluate the issue and draw their own conclusions.
7. The instruction shall not reflect adversely upon persons because of their race, ethnicity, national origin, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, disability, religion, or any other basis prohibited by law.
8. The subject matter of the instruction shall not otherwise be prohibited by state or federal law.

When a guest speaker is invited to make a presentation related to a controversial issue, the Superintendent or designee shall notify him/her of this policy and the expectations and goals regarding the instruction. If the guest speaker is presenting only one point of view on an issue, the teacher shall be responsible for ensuring that students also receive information on opposing viewpoints.

When required by law, such as in regards to comprehensive sexual health and HIV prevention education, parents/guardians shall be notified prior to instruction that they may request in writing that their child be excused from the instruction. Students whose parents/guardians decline such instruction may be offered an alternative activity of similar educational value.

A student or parent/guardian with concerns regarding instruction about controversial issues may communicate directly with the teacher or principal and/or use appropriate district complaint procedures.

Any bias-related incident that occurs as a result of instruction related to controversial issues shall be responded to in a manner consistent with district discipline/restorative practices and shall be reported using the district's established bias-related incident tracking system.

Regulation 6144: Controversial Issues

Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: 08/25/2009 | **Last Reviewed Date:** 08/25/2009

Controversial issues may be discussed in the classroom, provided that:

1. The issue is related to the course of study and provides opportunities for critical thinking, for developing tolerance, and for understanding conflicting points of view.
2. The issue has a meaningful relationship to matters of concern to the students.
3. Available information about the issue is sufficient to allow alternative points of view to be discussed and evaluated on a factual basis.
4. All sides of the issue are given a proper hearing, using established facts as primary evidence.
5. The issue has points of view which can be understood and defined by the students.
6. The teacher does not use his/her position to forward his/her own religious, political, economic or social bias. The teacher may express a personal opinion if he/she identifies it as such and does not express the opinion for the purpose of persuading students to his/her point of view.
7. Discussion or study of the issue is instigated by the students or by the established curriculum, but not by a source outside of the schools.
8. The discussion does not reflect adversely upon persons because of their race, sex, color, creed, national origin, ancestry, handicap or occupation.
9. The oral or written presentation does not violate state or federal law.

The Superintendent or designee shall have the authority to judge whether the above conditions are being met.

GUEST SPEAKERS

The Board of Education believes that guest speakers can provide students with a valuable supplement to their classroom experience. The Board expects teachers to exercise caution and discretion when deciding whether or not to invite a guest speaker to class. Guest speakers should address topics that reasonably relate to the subject matter content taught in the class, and a particular lesson plan or assignment, and that are aligned with California State Standards. Teachers shall obtain consent for a guest speaker to address his/her class by submitting a written request to the site administrator.

The Board also expects teachers to ensure that the role of guest speakers is not to promote any particular partisan point of view, attempt to inculcate students to reach particular opinions on any political or religious issue, or to promote any service or product for commercial gain. Guest speakers shall promote pupils' greater understanding of societal issues, good citizenship and civic engagement, and the overall well-being of students.

Guest speakers shall adhere to BP/AR 6144 in addressing matters that may include controversial issues. Guest speakers shall ensure that all sides of a controversial issue are impartially presented, with adequate and appropriate factual information, and the teacher shall, without promoting any partisan point of view, help students understand all sides of an issue without promoting any individual partisan point of view.

Teachers sponsoring guest speakers shall be responsible for ensuring that guest speakers are provided a copy of BP/AR 6144 and AR 6144.1, and shall take corrective steps to neutralize the impact of a violation of this Administrative Regulation by the guest speaker.

Teachers shall take steps to ensure that guest speakers provide content that is age-appropriate and in compliance with all Education Code provisions regarding permissible courses of study, including those governing instruction in religious matters and sex education, and those provisions prohibiting discrimination on the basis of race or ethnicity, gender, gender identity, gender expression, religion, disability, nationality, sexual orientation, or any other characteristic listed in Education Code section 220.

Teachers are obligated to discontinue the presentation of a guest speaker should the guest speaker violate any provision of this Administrative Regulation.

(cf. 1312.1 - Complaints Concerning District Employees) (cf. 1312.2 - Complaints Concerning Instructional Materials) (cf. 5145.2 - Freedom of Speech/Expression)

Teachers shall obtain consent for a guest speaker to address his/her class by submitting a written request to his/her site administrator no later than ten (10) school days prior to the date of the guest speaker's appearance, on the form attached below. The site administrator will provide a response no later than five (5) business days prior to the date of the guest speaker's appearance. The site administrator's decision will be final.

REQUEST FOR GUEST SPEAKER

Teacher: _____

School: _____

Grade Level and/or Subject Matter: _____

Date of Request: _____

Date of Proposed Appearance by Guest Speaker: _____

Name of Proposed Guest Speaker: _____

Please describe the subject matter to be addressed by the guest speaker:

List the California and/or Common Core Standards being addressed by this speaker:

Please describe how the subject matter to be addressed by the guest speaker is related to the subject matter content or a particular assignment or lesson plan in your class:

Please describe the steps you have taken to determine that the content of the guest speaker's presentation is age-appropriate and in compliance with all Education Code requirements and Administrative Regulation 6161.1 regarding permissible areas of instruction:

I agree that I am responsible for the information being presented. Further, I agree that I am obligated to intervene and discontinue the presentation of a guest speaker should the guest speaker violate any provision of this Administrative Regulation.

Signature of Teacher: _____

Date: _____

Approval by Site Administrator: _____

Date: _____